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Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

The Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 provides a safe harbor for forward-looking statements made by or on behalf of the Company. We may
from time to time make written or oral statements that are “forward-looking,” including statements contained in this report and other filings with the SEC,
in our press releases, and in other reports to our shareholders. All statements, other than statements of historical fact, which address activities, events or
developments that we expect or anticipate will or may occur in the future are forward-looking statements. The words “plan," “estimate,” “project,”
“forecast,” “anticipate,” “expect,” “intend,” “seek," “believe,” “may,” “should” and similar expressions, and discussions of strategy or intentions, are
intended to identify forward-looking statements.

Forward-looking statements are neither historical facts nor assurances of future performance. Instead, they are based on our current expectations and are
necessarily dependent upon assumptions, estimates and data that we believe are reasonable and accurate but may be incorrect, incomplete or imprecise.
Forward-looking statements are subject to a number of business risks and inherent uncertainties, any of which could cause actual results to differ materially
from those set forth in or implied by the forward-looking statements. Therefore, you should not rely on any of these forward-looking statements. Important
factors that could cause our actual results and financial condition to differ materially from those indicated in forward-looking statements include, among
others, the following:

 

• the volatility and uncertainty of cotton and other raw material prices;
• the general U.S. and international economic conditions;
• the competitive conditions in the apparel industry;
• restrictions on our ability to borrow capital or service our indebtedness;
• deterioration in the financial condition of our customers and suppliers and changes in the operations and strategies of our customers and suppliers;
• our ability to predict or react to changing consumer preferences or trends;
• our ability to successfully open and operate new retail stores in a timely and cost-effective manner;
• changes in economic, political or social stability at our offshore locations;
• significant interruptions or disruptions within our manufacturing or distribution facilities or other operations;
• our ability to attract and retain key management;
• significant changes in our effective tax rate;
• interest rate fluctuations increasing our obligations under our variable rate indebtedness;
• the ability to raise additional capital;
• the ability to grow, achieve synergies and realize the expected profitability of acquisitions;
• the volatility and uncertainty of energy, fuel and related costs;
• material disruptions in our information systems related to our business operations;
• compromises of our data security;
• significant litigation in either domestic or international jurisdictions;
• recalls, claims and negative publicity associated with product liability issues;
• the ability to protect our trademarks and other intellectual property;
• the impairment of acquired intangible assets;
• changes in international trade regulations;
• our ability to comply with trade regulations;
• changes in employment laws or regulations or our relationship with employees;
• foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations;
• violations of manufacturing standards or labor laws or unethical business practices by our suppliers and independent contractors;
• the illiquidity of our shares; and
• price volatility in our shares and the general volatility of the stock market.

 

A detailed discussion of significant risk factors that have the potential to cause actual results to differ materially from our expectations is set forth in Part 1
under the subheading "Risk Factors". Any forward-looking statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K do not purport to be predictions of future events
or circumstances and may not be realized. Further, any forward-looking statements are made only as of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and
we do not undertake to publicly update or revise the forward-looking statements, except as required by the federal securities laws.
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PART I
 

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

“Delta Apparel”, the “Company”, “we”, “us” and “our” are used interchangeably to refer to Delta Apparel, Inc. together with our domestic wholly-owned
subsidiaries, including M.J. Soffe, LLC (“Soffe”), DTG2Go, LLC, f/k/a Art Gun, LLC (“DTG2Go”), Salt Life, LLC (“Salt Life”), Culver City Clothing
Company (f/k/a Junkfood Clothing Company) (“Junkfood”), and our other domestic and international subsidiaries, as appropriate to the context. On March
31, 2017, we sold our Junkfood business to JMJD Ventures, LLC. See Note 4—Divestitures for further information on this transaction.

We were incorporated in Georgia in 1999 and our headquarters is located at 322 South Main Street, Greenville, South Carolina 29601 (telephone number:
864-232-5200). Our common stock trades on the NYSE American under the symbol “DLA”.

We operate on a 52-53 week fiscal year ending on the Saturday closest to September 30. The 2018 and 2017 fiscal years were 52-week years that ended on
September 29, 2018, and September 30, 2017, respectively. We are filing as a smaller reporting company for our 2018 fiscal year end as our public float
was less than the $250 million threshold on the last day of our second quarter.

OVERVIEW

Delta Apparel, Inc. is an international apparel design, marketing, manufacturing and sourcing company that features a diverse portfolio of lifestyle
activewear apparel, and related accessory products. We specialize in selling casual and athletic products through a variety of distribution channels and
distribution tiers, including department stores, mid and mass channels, e-retailers, sporting goods and outdoor retailers, independent and specialty stores,
and the U.S. military. Our products are also made available direct-to-consumer on our websites and in our branded retail stores. We believe this diversified
distribution allows us to capitalize on our strengths to provide casual activewear to a broad and evolving customer base whose shopping preferences may
span multiple retail channels.

As a vertically-integrated manufacturer, we design and internally manufacture the majority of our products, which allows us to offer a high degree of
consistency and quality, leverage scale efficiencies, and react quickly to changes in trends within the marketplace. We have manufacturing operations
located in the United States, El Salvador, Honduras and Mexico, and use domestic and foreign contractors as additional sources of production. Our
distribution facilities are strategically located throughout the United States to better serve our customers with same-day shipping on our catalog products
and weekly replenishments to retailers.

We became a diversified branded apparel company through acquisitions that added well-recognized brands to our portfolio, expanded our product offerings,
broadened our distribution channels and customer reach, and benefited from our vertical manufacturing platform. We continue to monitor and evaluate our
portfolio, making strategic acquisitions or exiting markets to support our long-term growth and profitability goals.

BUSINESS SEGMENTS

During fiscal year 2018, we made a strategic decision to re-align our business into segments that better reflect our operating model and allow us to better
leverage and more efficiently manage our cost structure as we plan future growth. With this realignment, we changed and renamed our reportable segments
to reflect how our Chief Operating Decision maker and management currently make financial decisions and allocate resources. We are now reporting our
results under the Delta Group, comprising our Delta Activewear, DTG2Go and Soffe business units, and the Salt Life Group, comprising our Salt Life and
Coast business units. Junkfood was included in the Salt Life Group segment until its divestiture in March, 2017. We have recast the segment information for
the fiscal year ended September 30, 2017, to conform to the current presentation.

See Note 14 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for financial information regarding segment reporting, which information is incorporated
herein by reference.

PRODUCTS

We specialize in the design, manufacturing, merchandising, and sale of a variety of casual and athletic products for men, women, juniors, youth and
children at a wide range of price points through most distribution channels. We market apparel garments and accessories under our primary brands of Salt
Life®, and COAST®, and we market our core activewear apparel garments under our Delta and Soffe® brands.

Delta has built upon its strength in the market as a core basic tee company to become a "go to" fashion provider for the masses. After decades of being the
source for casual and sports basics, we have continued to expand our brand. Our Delta Platinum collection is a cut above the rest providing a fresh,
fashionable edge to Delta's historic quality. Our tri-blend garments add a touch of rayon for an even silkier hand plus a deep heathering effect. Our CVC
garments offer the soft, breathable benefit of a mostly cotton blend along with refreshing affordability. In the upcoming year we will be introducing an
amazing new cotton slub fabric to our Delta Platinum offering.

Our Delta Pro Weight® line and Magnum Weight® products are a huge part of our heritage. These lines offer a diverse selection of mid-weight and
heavier-weight, 100% cotton fabrications. We also continue to provide innovative products like our Delta Soft, Ringspun garments, Fleece and Delta Dri
performance lines.
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FunTees is a leading private label apparel manufacturer. FunTees' long-standing, trusted relationships with top-tier global sportswear and lifestyle brands
are supported by a commitment to innovation and service and its diverse capabilities in design, textiles, cut & sew, embellishment, and retail packaging
have made it a go-to source for worldwide and regional brands.

DTG2Go is a market leader in the direct-to-garment digital print and fulfillment marketplace that leverages one of the most highly-automated factory
processes for delivering on-demand, digitally printed apparel. With four production facilities throughout the United States, DTG2Go utilizes Kornit printing
technology to provide quick delivery and superior print quality to its customers through a robust back-end digital supply chain. DTG2Go services
traditional and web retailers, screen printers, and the ad specialty and promotional products markets, reducing our customer’s risk levels while
simultaneously increasing the span of customization opportunities and overall breadths of their assortments. Orders ship from DTG2Go within 24 to 48
hours to consumers in the United States and to over 100 countries worldwide.

Soffe, founded in 1946, is a heritage brand that designs and produces high quality activewear at a great value. Widely known for the "cheer short", with its
signature roll down waist band, Soffe also offers team and spirit wear to its core demographic of cheerleaders, gymnasts and dancers around the world.
Layered within Soffe’s female presentation are styles that seamlessly transition from studio to street-wear for all day comfort along with graphics anchored
in today’s trends. Soffe’s early beginnings were in the military and it continues to be a proud supplier to United States military personnel, both active duty
and veterans, worldwide. The men’s assortment features the tagline “anchored in the military, grounded in training” and offers everything from physical
training gear certified by the respective branches of the military, classic base layers that include the favored 3-pack tees, and the iconic “ranger panty.”
Lastly, Intensity by Soffe leads the way in female fit, fashion-forward, team uniforms and features the first female fit fast pitch pant, and now includes
practice gear and accessories. Soffe has broad distribution channels which include all military branches, big box sporting goods retailers, department stores,
team dealers, school uniforms, screen printers, and a direct-to-consumer platform inclusive of a branded web store and brick and mortar retail locations.

Salt Life is an authentic, aspirational lifestyle brand that embraces those who love the ocean and everything associated with living the “Salt Life.” The Salt
Life brand has widespread appeal with ocean enthusiasts worldwide. From fishing, diving and surfing, to beach fun and sun-soaked relaxation, the Salt Life
brand says, “I live the Salt Life.” From its first merchandise offerings in 2006, Salt Life has grown distribution to include surf shops, specialty stores,
department stores and sporting goods retailers and expanded its product assortment outside of apparel to include swimwear, sunglasses, bags and
accessories, and most recently, craft beer with the launch of Salt Life Lager. Salt Life products are available direct-to-consumers at www.saltlife.com and at
Salt Life’s various branded retail stores. The Salt Life brand is committed to supporting conservation efforts by contributing to various organizations
through Salt Life Gives Back. Learn more at https://www.saltlife.com/salt-life-gives-back.

Coast is a full line of premium casual apparel that is as much a testament to good times and carefree afternoons as it is to superior quality, custom fit and
maximum comfort. It has inspired us to create an apparel line for others who understand and celebrate the relaxed, yet sophisticated coastal lifestyle and
wish to stay connected with it, and COAST, each and every day. Coast Apparel primarily markets direct-to-consumer through two retail stores located in
Greenville, South Carolina, and via its ecommerce site at www.coastapparel.com. Coast Apparel products can also be found at select independent retailers.

TRADEMARKS AND LICENSE AGREEMENTS

We own several well-recognized trademarks that are important to our business. Salt Life® is an authentic, aspirational lifestyle brand that embraces those
who love the ocean and everything associated with living the "Salt Life". Soffe® has stood for quality and value in the athletic and activewear market for
more than sixty years. Our other registered trademarks include COAST®, Intensity Athletics®, Kudzu®, Pro Weight®, Magnum Weight®, and the Delta
Design. Our trademarks are valuable assets that differentiate the marketing of our products. We vigorously protect our trademarks and other intellectual
property rights against infringement.

We have distribution rights to other trademarks through license agreements. The Soffe business unit is an official licensee for branches of the United States
military. We also have license agreements for motorsports properties, including NASCAR. Our license agreements are typically non-exclusive in nature and
have terms that range from one to three years. We are not dependent on any single license and our license agreements collectively are of value to our Delta
Group segment.

SALES & MARKETING

Our sales and marketing functions consist of both employed and independent sales representatives and agencies located throughout the country. Our sales
teams service specialty and boutique shops, upscale and traditional department stores, mid-tier retailers, sporting goods stores, e-retailers and the U.S.
military. Our brands leverage both in-house and outsourced marketing communications professionals to amplify their lifestyle statements.

The majority of our apparel products are produced based on forecasts to permit quick shipments to our customers; however, our private label programs are
generally made only to order. During fiscal year 2018, we shipped our products to approximately 9,000 customers, many of whom have numerous retail
"doors". No single customer accounted for more than 10% of our sales in fiscal years 2018 or 2017, and our strategy is to not become dependent on any
single customer. Revenues attributable to sales of our products in foreign countries, as a percentage of our consolidated net sales, represented approximately
1% in both fiscal years 2018 and 2017.
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We have distribution facilities strategically located throughout the United States that carry in-stock inventory for shipment to customers, with most
shipments made via third party carriers. To better serve customers, we allow products to be ordered by the piece, dozen, or full case quantity and we
aggressively explore new ways to leverage our strengths and efficiencies to meet the quick-turn needs of our customers. Because a significant portion of our
business consists of at-once replenishment, we believe that backlog order levels do not provide a general indication of future sales.

COMPETITION

As a vertically-integrated apparel company, we have numerous competitors with respect to the manufacturing and sale of apparel products in both domestic
and international markets, many of which are larger and have more brand recognition and greater marketing budgets than we do. Some of these competitors
may benefit from lower production costs that can result from greater operational scale, a differing supply chain footprint, or trade-related agreements and
other macroeconomic factors that may enable them to compete more effectively.

We believe that competition within our Salt Life Group segment is based primarily upon brand recognition, design, and consumer preference. We focus on
sustaining the strong reputation of our lifestyle brands by adapting our product offerings to changes in fashion trends and consumer preferences. We aim to
keep our merchandise offerings fresh with unique artwork and new designs, and support the integrated lifestyle statement of our products through effective
consumer marketing. We believe that our favorable competitive position stems from strong consumer recognition and brand loyalty, the high quality of our
products, and our flexibility and process control, which drive product consistency. We believe that our ability to remain competitive in the areas of quality,
price, design, marketing, product development, manufacturing, technology and distribution will, in large part, determine our future success.

Competition in our Delta Group segment is generally based upon price, service, delivery time and quality, with the relative importance of each factor
depending upon the needs of the particular customer and the specific product offering. These businesses are highly price competitive and competitor actions
can greatly influence pricing and demand for our products. While price is still important in the private label market, quality and service are generally more
important factors for customer choice. Our ability to consistently service the needs of our private label customers greatly impacts future business with these
customers. We believe our Western Hemisphere-centered manufacturing platform enables us to compete with our competitors by providing an outlet for
customers to diversify their sourcing footprints and reduce time to market. Furthermore, as an integrated entity with design, manufacturing, sourcing, and
marketing capabilities, we believe the interdependencies within our portfolio provide cost, quality, and speed to market advantages that enable us to be
more competitive.

SEASONALITY

Although our various product lines are sold on a year-round basis, the demand for specific products or styles reflects some seasonality, with sales in our
June fiscal quarter typically being the highest and sales in our December fiscal quarter typically being the lowest. As we continue to expand our product
offerings, the seasonality in our business has become less pronounced. The percentage of net sales by quarter for the year ended September 29, 2018, was
23%, 25%, 29% and 23% for the first, second, third, and fourth fiscal quarters, respectively. Consumer demand for apparel is cyclical and dependent upon
the overall level of demand for soft goods, which may or may not coincide with the overall level of discretionary consumer spending. These levels of
demand change as regional, domestic and international economic conditions change. Therefore, the distribution of sales by quarter in fiscal year 2018 may
not be indicative of the distribution in future years.

MANUFACTURING

We have a vertically integrated manufacturing platform that supports both the Delta Group and Salt Life Group. Our manufacturing operations begin with
the purchase of yarn and other raw materials from third-party suppliers. We manufacture fabrics in our leased textile facility located near San Pedro Sula,
Honduras, and purchase fabric domestically and internationally to supplement our internal production. The manufacturing process continues at one of our
six apparel manufacturing facilities where products are ultimately sewn into finished garments. We either own these facilities or lease and operate them.
These facilities are located domestically (two in North Carolina) and internationally (two in Honduras, one in El Salvador and one in Mexico). Our
garments may also be embellished and prepared for retail sale (with any combination of services, including ticketing, hang tags, and hangers) in our facility
in North Carolina or our international plants (one in El Salvador and one in Mexico). In addition, we offer digital print and fulfillment services through our
four domestic facilities (two in Florida, one in North Carolina and one in Nevada). In fiscal years 2018 and 2017, approximately 90%, and 91%,
respectively, of our manufactured products were sewn in company-operated locations. The remaining products were sewn by outside contractors located
primarily in the Caribbean Basin.

At our 2018 and 2017 fiscal year-ends, our long-lived assets in Honduras, El Salvador and Mexico collectively comprised approximately 41%, and 54%,
respectively, of our total net property, plant and equipment, with our long-lived assets in Honduras comprising 32% and 43% of the total, respectively. See
Item 1A. Risk Factors for a description of risks associated with our operations located outside of the United States.
 

4



Table of Contents
 

To supplement our internal manufacturing platform, we purchase fabric, undecorated products and full-package products from independent sources
throughout the world. In fiscal years 2018 and 2017, we sourced approximately 10% and 8%, respectively, of our products from third parties.

RAW MATERIALS

We have a supply agreement with Parkdale Mills, Inc. and Parkdale America, LLC (collectively "Parkdale") to supply our yarn requirements until
December 31, 2018. Under the supply agreement, we purchase all of our yarn requirements for use in our manufacturing operations from Parkdale,
excluding yarns that Parkdale does not manufacture or cannot manufacture due to temporary capacity constraints. The purchase price of yarn is based upon
the cost of cotton plus a fixed conversion cost. If Parkdale’s operations are disrupted and it is not able to provide us with our yarn requirements, we may
need to obtain yarn from alternative sources. Although alternative sources are presently available, we may not be able to enter into short-term arrangements
with substitute suppliers on terms as favorable as our current terms with Parkdale. In addition, the cotton futures we have fixed with Parkdale may not be
transferable to alternative yarn suppliers. Because there can be no assurance that we would be able to pass along the higher cost of yarn to our customers,
this could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations. Moreover, while we expect to negotiate an extension to the agreement with Parkdale,
the terms of the new agreement may not be as favorable as the current agreement.

We also purchase specialized fabrics that we currently do not have the capacity or capability to produce and may purchase other fabrics when it is cost-
effective to do so. While these fabrics typically are available from various suppliers, there are times when certain yarns become limited in quantity, causing
some fabrics to be difficult to source. This can result in higher prices or the inability to provide products to customers, which could negatively impact our
results of operations. Dyes and chemicals are also purchased from several third party suppliers. While historically we have not had difficulty obtaining
sufficient quantities of dyes and chemicals for manufacturing, the availability of products can change, which could require us to adjust dye and chemical
formulations. In certain instances, these adjustments can increase manufacturing costs, negatively impacting our results of operations.

EMPLOYEES AND SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

As of September 29, 2018, we employed approximately 7,700 full time employees, of whom approximately 1,100 were employed in the United States. A
total of approximately 3,000 employees at two of our facilities in San Pedro Sula, Honduras, are party to multi-year collective bargaining agreements. We
have historically conducted our operations without significant labor disruptions and believe that our relations with our employees are good.  We have
invested significant time and resources to have the working conditions in all of our facilities meet or exceed the standards imposed by governing laws and
regulations.  All of our manufacturing facilities in Honduras, El Salvador and Mexico are Worldwide Responsible Accredited Production (WRAP)
certified. Delta Apparel, Inc. is a Category C affiliate with the Fair Labor Association (FLA), which further enhances human rights compliance monitoring
for our plants and our third party contractors.  In addition, we have proactive programs to promote workplace safety, personal health and employee
wellness.  We also support educational institutions and/or charitable organizations in communities where we operate.

ENVIRONMENTAL AND REGULATORY MATTERS

We are subject to various federal, state and local environmental laws and regulations concerning, among other things, wastewater discharges, storm water
flows, air emissions and solid waste disposal. Our plants generate small quantities of hazardous waste, which are either recycled or disposed of off-site.

The environmental regulations applicable to our business are becoming increasingly stringent and we incur capital and other expenditures annually to
achieve compliance with environmental standards. We currently do not expect that the amount of expenditures required to comply with these environmental
standards will have a material adverse effect on our operations, financial condition or liquidity. There can be no assurance, however, that future changes in
federal, state, or local regulations, interpretations of existing regulations or the discovery of currently unknown problems or conditions will not require
substantial additional expenditures. Similarly, while we believe that we are currently in compliance with all applicable environmental requirements, the
extent of our liability, if any, for past failures to comply with laws, regulations and permits applicable to our operations cannot be determined and could
have a material adverse effect on our operations, financial condition and liquidity.

RESEARCH & DEVELOPMENT

Although we continually seek new products and brands to take to market via our diverse distribution network and customer base, there were no material
amounts spent on research and development in the fiscal years ended September 29, 2018, and September 30, 2017.

 

AVAILABLE INFORMATION

Our corporate internet address is www.deltaapparelinc.com. We make available free of charge on our website our SEC reports, including our Annual
Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, Section 16 filings and any amendments
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to those reports, as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such material with, or furnish it to, the SEC. The information found on our
website is not part of this, or any other, report that we file with or furnish to the SEC.

In addition, we will provide upon request, at no cost, paper or electronic copies of our reports and other filings made with the SEC. Requests should be
directed to: Investor Relations Department, Delta Apparel, Inc., 322 South Main Street, Greenville, South Carolina 29601. Requests can also be made by
telephone to 864-232-5200 extension 6621, or via email at investor.relations@deltaapparel.com.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

We operate in a rapidly changing, highly competitive business environment that involves substantial risks and uncertainties, including, but not limited to,
the risks identified below. The following risks, as well as risks described elsewhere in this report or in our other filings with the SEC, could materially affect
our business, financial condition or operating results and the value of Company securities held by investors and should be carefully considered in evaluating
our Company and the forward-looking statements contained in this report or future reports. The risks described below are not the only risks facing Delta
Apparel. Additional risks not presently known to us or that we currently do not view as material may become material and may impair our business
operations. Any of these risks could cause, or contribute to causing, our actual results to differ materially from expectations.

The price and availability of purchased yarn and other raw materials is prone to significant fluctuations and volatility. Cotton is the primary raw
material used in the manufacture of our apparel products. As is the case with other commodities, the price of cotton fluctuates and is affected by weather,
consumer demand, speculation on the commodities market, and other factors that are generally unpredictable and beyond our control. As described under
the heading “Business–Raw Materials”, the price of yarn purchased from Parkdale, our key supplier, is based upon the cost of cotton plus a fixed
conversion cost. We set future cotton prices with purchase commitments as a component of the purchase price of yarn in advance of the shipment of
finished yarn from Parkdale. Prices are set according to prevailing prices, as reported by the New York Cotton Exchange, at the time we enter into the
commitments. Thus, we are subject to the commodity risk of cotton prices and cotton price movements, which could result in unfavorable yarn pricing for
us. In the past, the Company, and the apparel industry as a whole, has experienced increases in cotton prices and price volatility that we were unable to pass
through to our customers, with the higher cost of cotton negatively impacting the gross margins in our Activewear and other businesses by significant
amounts.

In addition, if Parkdale’s operations are disrupted and Parkdale is not able to provide us with our yarn requirements, we may need to obtain yarn from
alternative sources. We may not be able to enter into short-term arrangements with substitute suppliers on terms as favorable as our current terms with
Parkdale, which could negatively affect our business.

Economic conditions may adversely impact demand for our products. The apparel industry is cyclical and dependent upon the overall level of demand
for soft goods, which may or may not coincide with the overall level of discretionary consumer spending. These levels of demand change as regional,
domestic and international economic conditions change. These economic conditions include, but are not limited to, employment levels, energy costs,
interest rates, tax rates, inflation, personal debt levels, and uncertainty about the future, with many of these factors outside of our control. Overall, consumer
purchases of discretionary items tend to decline during recessionary periods when disposable income is lower. As such, deterioration in general economic
conditions that creates uncertainty or alters discretionary consumer spending habits could reduce our sales. Sometimes, however, the timing of increases or
decreases in consumer purchases of soft goods can differ from the timing of increases or decreases in the overall level of economic activity. Weakening
sales may require us to reduce manufacturing operations to match our output to demand or expected demand. Reductions in our manufacturing operations
may increase unit costs and lower our gross margins, causing a material adverse effect on our results of operations.

The apparel industry is highly competitive, and we face significant competitive threats to our business. The market for athletic and activewear apparel
and the related accessory and other items we provide is highly competitive and includes many new competitors as well as increased competition from
established companies, some of which are larger or more diversified and may have greater financial resources than we do. Many of our competitors have
larger sales forces, stronger brand recognition among consumers, bigger advertising budgets, and greater economies of scale. We compete with these
companies primarily on the basis of price, quality, service and brand recognition, all of which are important competitive factors in the apparel industry. Our
ability to maintain our competitive edge depends upon these factors, as well as our ability to deliver new products at the best value for the customer,
maintain positive brand recognition, and obtain sufficient retail floor space and effective product presentation at retail. If we are unable to compete
successfully with our competitors, our business and results of operations will be adversely affected.

We may be restricted in our ability to borrow under our revolving credit facility or service our indebtedness. Significant operating losses or
significant uses of cash in our operations could cause us to default on our asset-based revolving credit facility. We rely on our credit facility, as well as on
cash generated by our operations, to fund our working capital and capital expenditure needs, to make acquisitions, to fund repurchases under our share
repurchase program and to pay dividends should we choose to do so in the future. Our working capital needs are generally greater in advance of the spring
and summer selling seasons. Availability under our credit facility is primarily a function of the levels of our accounts receivable and inventory, as well as
the uses of cash in our operations. A significant
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deterioration in our accounts receivable or inventory levels could restrict our ability to borrow additional funds or service our indebtedness. Moreover, our
credit facility includes a financial covenant that if the availability under our credit facility falls below the amounts specified in our credit agreement, our
Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio (“FCCR”) (as defined in our credit agreement) for the preceding 12-month period must not be less than 1.1 to 1.0. Although
our availability at September 29, 2018, was above the minimum thresholds specified in our credit agreement, a significant deterioration in our business
could cause our availability to fall below such thresholds, thereby requiring us to maintain the minimum FCCR specified in our credit agreement. Our credit
facility also includes customary conditions to funding, representations and warranties, covenants, and events of default. The covenants include, among other
things, limitations on asset sales, consolidations, mergers, liens, indebtedness, loans, investments, guaranties, acquisitions, dividends, stock repurchases,
and transactions with affiliates. If an event of default under our credit facility occurred or became imminent, we may request our credit agreement lenders to
provide a waiver. If we were unsuccessful in that endeavor, we could explore alternative sources of capital, whether debt or equity, which would likely be
more expensive than the costs we incur under our credit facility. If we were unable to cure an un-waived event of default under our credit facility, we would
be unable to borrow additional amounts under the facility, we could be unable to make acquisitions as well as fund share repurchases and pay dividends,
and our lenders thereunder could accelerate our obligations under the agreement and foreclose on our assets subject to the liens in their favor. This
circumstance would have a material adverse effect on our financial position and results of operations.

Deterioration in the financial condition of our customers or suppliers and changes in the operations and strategies of our customers or suppliers
could adversely affect our financial position and results of operations. We extend credit to our customers, generally without requiring collateral. The
extension of credit involves considerable judgment and is based on an evaluation of each customer’s financial condition and payment history. We monitor
credit risk exposure by periodically obtaining credit reports and updated financial statements on our customers. Deterioration in the economy, declines in
consumer purchases of apparel, disruption in the apparel retail environment, or the inability of our customers to access liquidity could have an adverse
effect on the financial condition of our customers. During the past several years, various retailers and other customers have experienced significant
difficulties, including consolidations, restructurings, bankruptcies and liquidations. The inability of retailers and other customers to overcome these
difficulties may continue or even increase due to the current economic and retail market conditions. We maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts for
potential credit losses based upon current conditions, historical trends, estimates and other available information, which involves judgments and
uncertainties, and, in retrospect, the allowance may turn out to have been insufficient. The inability to collect on sales to significant customers or a group of
customers could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations. Significant changes in the financial condition of any of
our suppliers or other parties with which we do business could result in disruption to our business and have a material adverse effect on our financial
condition and results of operations.

In addition, significant changes in the retail, merchandising and/or operational strategies employed by our customers may result in decreased sales of our
products to such customers and could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations. Likewise, significant changes in
the operations of any of our suppliers or other parties with which we do business could result in disruption to our business and have a material adverse
effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

Our success depends, in part, on our ability to predict or effectively react to changing consumer preferences and trends. The success of our
businesses depends on our ability to anticipate and respond quickly to changing consumer demand and preferences in apparel and the related accessory and
other items we provide. We believe that our brands are recognized by consumers across many demographics and geographies. The popularity, supply and
demand for particular products can change significantly from year-to-year based on prevailing fashion trends (particularly in our branded businesses) and
on other factors and, accordingly, our ability to adapt to fashion trends in designing products is important to the success of our brands. If we are unable to
quickly adapt to changes in consumer preferences in the design of products, our results of operations could be adversely affected. Moreover, because we
and our customers project demand for our products based on estimated sales and fashion trends, the actual demand for our products sometimes falls short of
what was projected. This can lead to higher inventory levels than desired. Excess inventory levels increase our working capital needs, and sometimes excess
inventory must be sold at discounted prices, all of which could have an adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our strategy to grow our direct-to-consumer business depends upon our ability to successfully open and operate new stores in a timely and cost-
effective manner. Our strategy to grow our “brick and mortar” retail footprint depends on many factors including, among others, our ability to: identify
desirable store locations; negotiate acceptable lease terms; hire, train and retain a growing workforce of store managers, sales associates and other
personnel; successfully integrate new stores into our existing control structure and operations, including our information technology systems; and
coordinate well with our ecommerce platforms and retail customers to minimize the competition within our sales channels.

If we expand into new geographic areas, we will need to successfully identify and satisfy the consumer preferences in these areas. In addition, we will need
to address competitive, merchandising, marketing, distribution and other challenges encountered in connection with any expansion. Finally, we cannot
ensure that any newly-opened stores will be received as well as, or achieve net sales or profitability levels comparable to those of, our existing stores in our
estimated time periods, or at all. If our stores fail to achieve, or are unable to sustain, acceptable net sales and profitability levels, our business overall may
be materially harmed and we may incur significant costs associated with closing or relocating stores.
 

7



Table of Contents
 

Our operations are subject to political, social, economic, and climate risks in Honduras, El Salvador and Mexico. The majority of our products are
manufactured in Honduras, El Salvador and Mexico, with concentrations in Honduras and El Salvador. These countries from time to time experience
political, social and economic instability, and we cannot be certain of their future stability. Instability in a country can lead to protests, riots and labor unrest.
Governments have changed, and may continue to change, and employment, wage and other laws and regulations may change, thereby increasing our costs
to operate in those countries. In addition, fire or natural disasters such as hurricanes, earthquakes, or floods can occur in these countries. Any of these
political, social, economic or climatic events or conditions could disrupt our supply chain or increase our costs, adversely affecting our financial position
and results of operations. In fiscal year 2018, our operations in and around San Pedro Sula, Honduras, were partially disrupted by the protests, unrest and
government action associated with the November 2017 presidential elections in Honduras. The disruptions temporarily restricted the ability of our
employees and suppliers to access our manufacturing facilities as well as our ability to ship products from our facilities, and negatively impacted our
operations from a cost standpoint.

If we experience disruptions or interruptions within any of our facilities, operations, or distribution networks, we may be unable to deliver our
products to the market and may lose sales and customers. We own or lease manufacturing facilities in the United States, Honduras, Mexico and El
Salvador. We also own or lease distribution facilities located throughout the United States and maintain inventory at third-party distribution facilities in the
United States. Any casualty or other circumstance that damages or destroys any of these material facilities or significantly limits their ability to function
could have a material adverse effect on our business. Similarly, any significant interruption in the operation of any of these facilities or our related sourcing
and transportation logistics functions, whether within or outside of our control, may delay shipment of merchandise to our customers, potentially damaging
our reputation and customer relationships and causing a loss of revenue. Moreover, in the event of a regional disruption where we manufacture our
products, we may not be able to shift our operations to a different geographic region, and we may have to cease or curtail our operations in a selected area.
This may cause us to lose sales and customers. The types of disruptions that may occur include foreign trade disruptions, import restrictions, labor
disruptions, embargoes, government intervention, natural disasters, regional pandemics and political disruptions such as those referenced in the
immediately-preceding risk section. In addition, if we are unable to successfully coordinate the planning of inventory across these facilities and the related
distribution activities, it could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

The talents and continued contributions of our key management are important to our success. We believe our future success depends on our ability to
retain and motivate our key management, our ability to attract and integrate new members of management into our operations, and the ability of all
personnel to work together effectively as a team and to execute our business strategy. Our inability to accomplish any of these goals could have a material
adverse effect on our results of operations.

Changes in U.S. or other tax laws or regulations may cause us to incur additional tax liability. We are subject to income tax in the United States and in
foreign jurisdictions where we generate net operating profits. We benefit from a lower overall effective income tax rate due to the majority of our
manufacturing operations being located in foreign tax-free jurisdictions or foreign jurisdictions with tax rates that are lower than those in the United States.
Our U.S. legal entity contracts with our foreign subsidiaries to manufacture products on its behalf, with the intercompany prices paid for the manufacturing
services and manufactured products based on an arms-length standard and supported by an economic study. We have concluded that the profits earned in
the tax-free locations are considered permanently reinvested. Our effective tax rate could be adversely affected by changes in the mix of earnings between
the U.S. and tax-free or lower-tax foreign jurisdictions.

In addition, further changes to U.S. tax laws impacting how U.S. multinational corporations are taxed on foreign earnings could also have a material
adverse effect on our tax expense and cash flow. The December 22, 2017, Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 (the “New Tax Legislation”) significantly revised
the U.S. corporate income tax code by, among other things, lowering federal corporate income tax rates, implementing a modified territorial tax system and
imposing a repatriation tax on deemed repatriated cumulative earnings of foreign subsidiaries and also created a new requirement that certain income
earned by controlled foreign corporations (“CFCs”) must be included currently in the gross income of the CFCs’ U.S. shareholder. During fiscal year 2018,
we recognized provisional tax expense of $10.7 million in connection with the New Tax Legislation. The impacts of the New Tax Legislation may differ
from our provisional or other estimates, possibly materially, due to, among other things, changes in interpretations and assumptions, guidance that may be
issued and actions we may take as a result of the New Tax Legislation and may adversely affect our tax rate.

Our variable rate debt subjects us to interest rate risk that could cause our debt service obligations to increase significantly. The debt we incur
under our asset-based revolving credit facility is at variable rates of interest, which exposes us to interest rate risk. If interest rates increase, our obligations
on this variable rate indebtedness would increase even though the amount borrowed remained the same, and there would be a corresponding decrease in our
net income and cash flows, including cash available for servicing our debt.

We may need to raise additional capital to grow our business. The rate of our growth, especially through acquisitions, depends, in part, on the
availability of debt and equity capital. We may not be able to raise capital on terms acceptable to us or at all. If new sources of financing are required, but
are insufficient or unavailable, we may be required to modify our growth and operating plans based on available funding, which could adversely affect our
ability to grow the business.

We have expanded our business through acquisitions that could result in diversion of resources, an inability to integrate acquired operations and
extra expenses. A part of our growth strategy has involved acquiring businesses that complement our existing business.
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The negotiation of potential acquisitions and integration of acquired businesses could divert our management’s attention from our existing businesses,
which could negatively impact our results of operations. In addition, if the integration of an acquired business is not successful or takes significantly longer
than expected, or if we are unable to realize the expected benefits from an acquired business, it could adversely affect our financial condition and results of
operations.

Energy, fuel and related costs are prone to significant fluctuations and volatility, which could adversely affect our results of operations. Our
manufacturing operations require high inputs of energy, and therefore changes in energy prices directly impact our gross profits. In addition, we incur
significant freight costs to transport goods between our offshore facilities and the United States, along with transportation expenses to ship products to our
customers. The cost of energy and fuel fluctuates due to a number of factors outside of our control, including government policy and regulation and weather
conditions. We continue to focus on methods that will reduce the amount of energy used in the manufacture of products to mitigate risks of fluctuations in
the cost of energy. However, significant increases in energy and fuel prices may make us less competitive compared to others in the industry, which may
have a material adverse effect on our financial position and results of operations.

Our business operations rely on our information systems and any material disruption or slowdown of our systems could cause operational delays,
reputational harm, or loss of revenue. We depend on information systems to, among other things, manage our inventory, process transactions, operate our
websites, respond to customer inquiries, purchase, sell and ship goods on a timely basis, and maintain cost-effective operations. Management uses
information systems to support decision-making and to monitor business performance. If we experience any disruptions or slowdowns with our information
systems, we may fail to generate accurate and complete financial and operational reports essential for making decisions at various levels of management,
which could lead to decisions being made that have adverse results. We have invested significant capital and expect future capital expenditures associated
with the integration of our information technology systems across our businesses. This process involves the replacement and consolidation of technology
platforms so that our businesses are served by fewer platforms, resulting in operational efficiencies and reduced costs. Our inability to effectively convert
our operations to the new systems could cause delays in product fulfillment and reduced efficiency in our operations. Further, if changes in technology
cause our information systems to become obsolete, or if our information systems are inadequate to handle our growth, we could lose customers. We are also
subject to risks and uncertainties associated with the internet, including changes in required technology interfaces, website downtime and other technical
failures. Our failure to successfully respond to these risks and uncertainties could reduce sales, increase costs and damage the reputation of our brands. In
addition, we interact with many of our customers through our websites. Customers increasingly utilize our online platforms to purchase our merchandise. If
we are unable to continue to provide consumers a user-friendly experience and evolve our platforms to satisfy consumer preferences, the growth of our
ecommerce business and our sales may be negatively impacted. If our websites contain errors or other vulnerabilities which impede or halt service, it could
result in damage to our brands’ images and a loss of revenue. In addition, we may experience operational problems with our information systems as a result
of system failures, "cyber-attacks," computer viruses, security breaches, disasters or other causes. Any material disruption or slowdown of our information
systems could cause operational delays and increased costs that could have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations. 

Compromises of our data security could lead to liability and reputational damage. In the ordinary course of our business, we often collect, retain,
transmit, and use sensitive and confidential information regarding customers and employees and we process customer payment card and check information.
There can be no assurance that we will not suffer a data compromise, that unauthorized parties will not gain access to personal information, or that any such
data compromise or access will be discovered in a timely manner. Further, the systems currently used for transmission and approval of payment card
transactions, and the technology utilized in payment cards themselves, all of which can put payment card data at risk, are determined and controlled by the
payment card industry, not by us. Computer hackers may attempt to penetrate our computer system and, if successful, misappropriate personal information,
payment card or check information or confidential business information of our company. In addition, there may be non-technical issues, such as our
employees, contractors or third parties with whom we do business or to whom we outsource business operations may attempt to circumvent our security
measures in order to misappropriate such information, and may purposefully or inadvertently cause a breach involving such information. The methods used
by third parties to obtain unauthorized access change frequently and may not be anticipated or immediately detected. Thus, despite the security measures
we may have in place, an actual or perceived information security breach, whether due to "cyber-attack," computer viruses or other malicious software
code, or human error or malfeasance, could occur. Actual or anticipated attacks may cause us to incur significant costs, including costs to deploy additional
personnel and protection technologies, train employees and engage third-party experts and consultants. The collection, retention, transmission, and use of
personal information is subject to contractual requirements and is highly regulated by a multitude of state, federal, and foreign laws. Privacy and
information security laws are complex and constantly changing. Compliance with these laws and regulations may result in additional costs due to new
systems and processes, and our non-compliance could lead to legal liability. Any compromise of our customer, employee or company data, failure to
prevent or mitigate the loss of personal or business information, or delay in detecting or providing prompt notice of any such compromise could attract
media attention, damage our customer or other business relationships and reputation, result in lost sales, fines, significant litigation or other costs and
involve the loss of confidential company information, any or all of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
results of operations.

We are subject to periodic litigation in both domestic and international jurisdictions that may adversely affect our financial position and results of
operations. From time to time we may be involved in legal or regulatory actions regarding product liability, employment practices, intellectual property
infringement, bankruptcies and other litigation or enforcement matters. Due to the inherent
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uncertainties of litigation in both domestic and foreign jurisdictions, we cannot accurately predict the ultimate outcome of any such proceedings. These
proceedings could cause us to incur costs and may require us to devote resources to defend against these claims and could ultimately result in a loss or other
remedies such as product recalls, which could adversely affect our financial position and results of operations. For a description of current material legal
proceedings, see Part I, Item 3, Legal Proceedings.

Product liability issues could lead to recalls, claims and negative publicity, and adversely affect our results of operations. Our operations are subject
to certain product liability risks common to most brands and manufacturers and our ability to maintain consumer confidence in the safety and quality of our
products is vital to our success. We have implemented product safety and quality programs and standards that we follow and we expect our supplier
partners to strictly adhere to applicable requirements and best practices. In addition to selling apparel and accessory products, we recently entered into a
joint venture involving the sale of a branded alcoholic beverage and we also license one of our brands for use in connection with restaurant, food and
beverage services. Selling products intended for human consumption carries inherent risks and uncertainties. If we or our supplier or license partners fail to
comply with applicable product safety and quality standards and our products or those otherwise associated with our brands are, or become, unsafe, non-
compliant, contaminated or adulterated, we may be required to recall our products and encounter product liability claims and negative publicity. Any of
these events could adversely affect our reputation, business or results of operations.

We rely on the strength of our trademarks and could incur significant costs to protect these trademarks and our other intellectual property. Our
trademarks, including Salt Life®, Soffe®, Coast®, Intensity Athletics®, Kudzu®, Pro Weight®, Magnum Weight®, and the Delta Design, among others,
are important to our marketing efforts and have substantial value. We aggressively protect these trademarks and have incurred legal costs in the past to
establish and protect these trademarks. We may in the future be required to expend significant additional resources to protect these trademarks and our other
intellectual property. Intellectual property litigation may be costly and may divert management's attention from the operation of our business. Adverse
determinations in any litigation may result in the loss of our proprietary rights, subject us to significant liabilities or require us to seek licenses from third
parties, which may not be available on commercially reasonable terms, if at all. Any of these outcomes may have a material adverse effect on our financial
condition, results of operations or cash flows.

We may be subject to the impairment of acquired intangible assets. When we acquire a business, a portion of the purchase price of the acquisition may
be allocated to goodwill and other identifiable intangible assets. The amount of the purchase price that is allocated to goodwill is determined by the excess
of the purchase price over the net identifiable assets acquired. At September 29, 2018, and September 30, 2017, our goodwill and other intangible assets
were approximately $53.7 million and $36.1 million, respectively. We conduct an annual review, and more frequent reviews if events or circumstances
dictate, to determine whether goodwill is impaired. We also determine whether impairment indicators are present related to our identifiable intangible
assets. If we determine that goodwill or intangible assets are impaired, we would be required to write down the value of these assets. We completed our
annual impairment test of goodwill on the first day of our 2018 third fiscal quarter. Based on the valuation, we concluded there was no impairment on the
goodwill recorded on our financial statements. We also concluded that there are no additional indicators of impairment related to our intangible assets.
There can, however, be no assurance that we will not be required to take an impairment charge in the future, which could have a material adverse effect on
our results of operations.

Significant changes to international trade regulations could adversely affect our results of operations. The majority of our products are manufactured
in Honduras, El Salvador and Mexico. We therefore benefit from current free trade agreements and other duty preference programs, including the North
American Free Trade Agreement (“NAFTA”) and its anticipated successor agreement, the U.S.-Mexico-Canada Agreement (“USMCA”), as well as the
Central America Free Trade Agreement (“CAFTA”). Our claims for duty free or reduced duty treatment under CAFTA, NAFTA/USMCA and other
available programs are largely conditioned on our ability to produce or obtain accurate records (some of which are provided to us by third parties) about
production processes and sources of raw materials. Fairly recent changes in the United States federal government have caused uncertainty about the future
of trade partnerships and treaties, as the current administration has expressed its desire to specifically modify existing trade agreements and has imposed
increased tariffs on goods imported into the United States and raised the possibility of imposing further increases to such tariffs. These tariffs have
increased our costs to source certain products imported from other countries. Subsequent repeal or further modification of NAFTA/USMCA or CAFTA,
further increases to tariffs on goods imported into the United States, or the inadequacy or unavailability of supporting records, could have a material adverse
effect on our results of operations.

In addition, our products are subject to foreign competition, which in the past has been faced with significant U.S. government import restrictions. The
extent of import protection afforded to domestic apparel producers has been, and is likely to remain, subject to political considerations. The elimination of
import protections for domestic apparel producers could significantly increase global competition, which could adversely affect our business and results of
operations.

Our failure to comply with trade and other regulations could lead to investigations or actions by government regulators and negative publicity. The
labeling, distribution, importation, marketing, and sale of our products are subject to extensive regulation by various federal agencies, including the Federal
Trade Commission, Consumer Product Safety Commission and state attorneys general in the United States. Any failure to comply with such regulations
could cause us to become subject to investigation and enforcement actions resulting in significant penalties or claims or in our inability to conduct business,
adversely affecting our results of operations.
 

10



Table of Contents
 

Our international operations are also subject to compliance with the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (the “FCPA”) and other anti-bribery laws applicable
to our operations. In many foreign countries, particularly in those with developing economies, it may be a local custom that businesses operating in such
countries engage in business practices that are prohibited by the FCPA or other U.S. and foreign laws and regulations applicable to us. Although we have
implemented procedures designed to ensure compliance with the FCPA and similar laws, some of our agents or other channel partners, as well as those
companies to which we outsource certain of our business operations, could take actions in violation of our policies. Any such violation could have a
material and adverse effect on our business.

Changes in domestic or foreign employment regulations or changes in our relationship with our employees could adversely affect our results of
operations. As of September 29, 2018, we employed approximately 7,700 employees worldwide, with approximately 6,600 of these employees located in
Honduras, El Salvador and Mexico. Changes in domestic and foreign laws governing our relationships with our employees, including wage and human
resources laws and regulations, labor standards, overtime pay, unemployment tax rates, workers' compensation rates and payroll taxes, would likely have a
direct impact on our operating costs. Increases in wage rates in the countries in which we operate have occurred, and any further significant increases in
wage rates in those countries could have a material adverse impact on our operating results. A total of approximately 3,000 employees at two of our
facilities in San Pedro Sula, Honduras, are party to multi-year collective bargaining agreements. We have historically conducted our operations without
significant labor disruptions and believe that our relations with our employees are generally good. However, a change in labor relations could adversely
affect the productivity and ultimate cost of our manufacturing operations.

We are subject to foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations. We manufacture the majority of our products outside of the United States, exposing us to
currency exchange rate fluctuations. In addition, movements in foreign exchange rates can affect transaction costs because we source products from various
countries. We may seek to mitigate our exposure to currency exchange rate fluctuations but our efforts may not be successful. Accordingly, changes in the
relative strength of the United States dollar against other currencies could adversely affect our business.

The value of our brands, sales of our products and our licensing relationships could be impacted by negative publicity resulting from violations of
manufacturing or employee safety standards or labor laws, or unethical business practices, by our suppliers and independent contractors. We are
committed to ensuring that all of our manufacturing facilities comply with our strict internal code of conduct, applicable laws and regulations, and the codes
and principles to which we subscribe. In addition, we require our suppliers and independent contractors to operate their businesses in compliance with the
laws and regulations that apply to them. However, we do not control these suppliers and independent contractors. A violation of our policies, applicable
manufacturing or employee safety standards and codes of conduct, labor laws or other laws or regulations by our suppliers or independent contractors could
interrupt or otherwise disrupt our operations. Negative publicity regarding the production or operating methods of any of our suppliers or independent
contractors or their failure to comply with our policies, applicable manufacturing or employee safety standards and codes of conduct, labor laws or other
laws or regulations could adversely affect our reputation, brands, sales and licensing relationships, which could adversely affect our business and results of
operations.

The market price of our shares is affected by the illiquidity of our shares, which could lead to our shares trading at prices that are significantly
lower than expected. Various investment banking firms have informed us that public companies with relatively small market capitalizations have difficulty
generating institutional interest, research coverage or trading volume. This illiquidity can translate into price discounts as compared to industry peers or to
the shares’ inherent value. We believe that the market perceives us to have a relatively small market capitalization. This has led and could continue to lead
to our shares trading at prices that are significantly lower than our estimate of their inherent value.

As of November 6, 2018, we had 6,858,697 shares of common stock outstanding. We believe that approximately 57% of our stock is beneficially owned by
entities and individuals who each own more than 5% of the outstanding shares of our common stock. Included in the 57% are institutional investors that
beneficially own more than 5% of the outstanding shares. These institutional investors own approximately 41% of the outstanding shares of our common
stock. Sales of substantial amounts of our common stock in the public market by any of these large holders could adversely affect the market price of our
common stock.

The market price of our shares may be highly volatile, and the stock market in general can be highly volatile. Fluctuations in our stock price may be
influenced by, among other things, general economic and market conditions, conditions or trends in our industry, changes in the market valuations of other
apparel companies, announcements by us or our competitors of significant acquisitions, strategic partnerships or other strategic initiatives, and trading
volumes. Many of these factors are beyond our control, but may cause the market price of our common stock to decline, regardless of our operating
performance.     

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our principal executive office is located in a leased facility in Greenville, South Carolina. We own and lease properties supporting our administrative,
manufacturing, distribution and direct retail activities. The majority of our products are manufactured through a combination of facilities that we either
own, or lease and operate. As of September 29, 2018, we owned or leased eleven manufacturing
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facilities (located in the United States, Honduras, El Salvador and Mexico) and owned, leased or operated through third parties twelve distribution facilities
(all within the United States). In addition, as of September 29, 2018, we operated 13 branded retail stores and a leased showroom.

Our primary manufacturing and distribution facilities are as follows:

Location  Utilization  Segment
Ceiba Textiles, Honduras*  Knit/dye/finish/cut  Delta Group/Salt Life Group
Honduras Plant, San Pedro Sula, Honduras*  Sew  Delta Group/Salt Life Group
Cortes Plant, San Pedro Sula, Honduras*  Sew  Delta Group/Salt Life Group
Mexico Plant, Campeche, Mexico*  Cut/sew  Delta Group/Salt Life Group
Textiles LaPaz, La Paz, El Salvador*  Cut/sew/decoration  Delta Group/Salt Life Group
Campeche Sportswear, Campeche, Mexico*  Decoration  Delta Group/Salt Life Group
Fayetteville Plant, Fayetteville, NC  Cut/sew/decoration  Delta Group/Salt Life Group
Rowland Plant, Rowland, NC  Sew  Delta Group
DTG2Go, Clearwater, FL*  Decoration/distribution  Delta Group
DTG2Go, Sparks, NV*  Decoration/distribution  Delta Group
Soffe Distribution Center, Fayetteville, NC  Distribution  Delta Group
Salt Life Distribution Center, Fayetteville, NC  Distribution  Salt Life Group
Distribution Center, Clinton, TN  Distribution  Delta Group
Distribution Center, Santa Fe Springs, CA*  Distribution  Delta Group
Distribution Center, Miami, FL*  Decoration/distribution  Delta Group
Distribution Center, Cranbury, NJ*  Distribution  Delta Group
Distribution Center, Dallas, TX**  Distribution  Delta Group
Distribution Center, Chicago, IL**  Distribution  Delta Group
DC Annex, Fayetteville, NC*  Distribution  Delta Group
Distribution Center, Opelika, AL**  Distribution  Delta Group

* Denotes leased location
** Denotes third party-operated distribution facility

We believe that all of our facilities are suitable for the purposes for which they are designed and are generally adequate to allow us to remain competitive.
We continue to maintain a sharp focus on improving our supply chain, lowering our product costs and reducing the operating capital required in our
business. We will continue to take the necessary actions to balance capacities with demand as needed. Substantially all of our assets are subject to liens in
favor of our lenders under our U.S. asset-based secured credit facility and our Honduran credit facility.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The Sports Authority Bankruptcy Litigation

Soffe is involved in several related litigation matters stemming from The Sports Authority's ("TSA") March 2, 2016, filing of a voluntary petition(s) for
relief under Chapter 11 of the United States Bankruptcy Code (the "TSA Bankruptcy"). Prior to such filing, Soffe provided TSA with products to be sold on
a consignment basis pursuant to a "pay by scan" agreement and the litigation matters relate to Soffe's interest in the products it provided TSA on a
consignment basis (the "Products") and the proceeds derived from the sale of such products (the "Proceeds").

TSA Stores, Inc. and related entities TSA Ponce, Inc. and TSA Caribe, Inc. filed an action against Soffe on March 16, 2016, in the United States
Bankruptcy Court for the District of Delaware (the "TSA Action") essentially seeking a declaratory judgment that: (i) Soffe does not own the Products but
rather has a security interest that is not perfected or senior and is avoidable; (ii) Soffe only has an unsecured claim against TSA; (iii) TSA and TSA's
secured creditors have valid, unavoidable and senior rights in the Products and the Products are the property of TSA’s estate; (iv) Soffe does not have a
perfected purchase money security interest in the Products; (v) Soffe is not entitled to a return of the Products; and (vi) TSA can continue to sell the
Products and Soffe is not entitled to any proceeds from such sales other than as an unsecured creditor. The TSA Action also contains claims seeking to
avoid Soffe's filing of a financing statement related to the Products as a preference and recover the value of that transfer as well as to disallow Soffe's claims
until it has returned preferential transfers or their associated value. TSA also brings a claim for a permanent injunction barring Soffe from taking certain
actions. We
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believe that many of the claims in the TSA Action, including TSA’s claim for injunction, are now moot as a result of Soffe’s agreement to permit TSA to
continue selling the Products in TSA’s going-out-of-business sale.

On May 16, 2016, TSA lender Wilmington Savings Fund Society, FSB, as Successor Administrative and Collateral Agent ("WSFS"), intervened in the TSA
Action seeking a declaratory judgment that: (i) WSFS has a perfected interest in the Products and Proceeds that is senior to Soffe's interest; and (ii) the
Proceeds paid to Soffe must be disgorged pursuant to an order previously issued by the court. WSFS's intervening complaint also contains a separate claim
seeking the disgorgement of all Proceeds paid to Soffe along with accrued and unpaid interest.

Soffe has asserted counterclaims against WSFS in the TSA Action essentially seeking a declaratory judgment that: (i) WSFS is not perfected in the
Products; and (ii) WSFS's interest in the Products is subordinate to Soffe's interest.

On May 24, 2016, Soffe joined an appeal filed by a number of TSA consignment vendors in the United States District Court for the District of Delaware
challenging an order issued in the TSA Bankruptcy that, should WSFS or TSA succeed in the TSA Action, granted TSA and/or WSFS a lien on all
Proceeds received by Soffe and requiring the automatic disgorgement of such Proceeds. Soffe and another entity are the remaining consignment vendors
pursuing this appeal.

Although we will continue to vigorously defend against the TSA Action and pursue the above-referenced counterclaims and appeal, should TSA and/or
WSFS ultimately prevail on their claims, we could be forced to disgorge all Proceeds received and forfeit our ownership rights in any Products that remain
in TSA's possession. We believe the range of possible loss in this matter is currently $0 to $3.3 million; however, it is too early to determine the probable
outcome and, therefore, no amount has been accrued related to this matter.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.

PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF
EQUITY SECURITIES.

Market Information for Common Stock: The common stock of Delta Apparel, Inc. is listed and traded on the NYSE American under the symbol “DLA”.
As of November 6, 2018, there were approximately 812 record holders of our common stock.

The following table sets forth, for each of the periods indicated below, the high and low sales prices per share of our common stock as reported on the
NYSE American.

  High  Low
  Sale Price  Sale Price
Fiscal Year 2018:     
September Quarter  $19.49  $16.30
June Quarter  $20.30  $16.90
March Quarter  $22.10  $17.04
December Quarter  $22.00  $19.60

Fiscal Year 2017:     
September Quarter  $22.88  $18.00
June Quarter  $23.47  $16.95
March Quarter  $21.84  $15.55
December Quarter  $21.93  $14.85

Dividends: Our Board of Directors did not declare, nor were any dividends paid, during fiscal years 2018 and 2017. Subject to the provisions of any
outstanding blank check preferred stock (none of which is currently outstanding), the holders of our common stock are entitled to receive whatever
dividends, if any, that may be declared from time to time by our Board of Directors in its discretion from funds legally available for that purpose. Pursuant
to the terms of our credit facility, we are allowed to make cash dividends and stock repurchases if (i) as of the date of the payment or repurchase and after
giving effect to the payment or repurchase, we have availability on that date of not less than 15% of the lesser of the borrowing base or the commitment,
and average availability for the 30-day period immediately preceding that date of not less than 15% of the lesser of the borrowing base or the commitment;
and (ii) the aggregate amount of dividends and stock repurchases after May 10, 2016, does not exceed $10 million plus 50% of our cumulative net income
(as defined in the Amended Credit Agreement) from the first day of the third quarter of fiscal year 2016 to the date of determination. At September 29,
2018, and September 30, 2017, there was $14.7 million and $7.7 million, respectively, of retained earnings free of restrictions to make cash dividends or
stock repurchases.
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Any future cash dividend payments will depend upon our earnings, financial condition, capital requirements, compliance with loan covenants and other
relevant factors.

Purchases of our Own Shares of Common Stock: See Note 15 - Repurchase of Common Stock and Note 9 - Debt, in Item 15, which is incorporated
herein by reference.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans: The information required by Item 201(d) of Regulation S-K is set forth under
“Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters” of this Annual Report, which information
is incorporated herein by reference.
 

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
 
We are a smaller reporting company as defined by Rule 12b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and are not required to provide the information under
this item.
 
ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

BUSINESS OUTLOOK

Fiscal year 2018 was a pivotal year for Delta Apparel and we were pleased with our team’s ability to follow through on various strategic initiatives,
navigate the inflationary cost environment , and deliver sales and earnings growth for the year. The cost-reduction improvements within our manufacturing
platform and other areas continue to enhance our profitability. Moreover, the new product development, sales channel expansion, and customer
diversification efforts ongoing across our business have us well-positioned to compete and win market share as we move into our new fiscal year.

The DTG2Go and Activewear businesses within our Delta Group segment served as valuable growth drivers throughout fiscal year 2018. DTG2Go
solidified its leadership position in the on-demand, direct-to-garment market through both strategic acquisitions and organic growth, and we believe it is
poised for additional expansion moving forward. DTG2Go’s digital print and fulfillment capabilities, nationwide and international service offerings, and
direct access to our Activewear business’s low-cost, vertical manufacturing platform ideally position it to capitalize on the revolutionary virtual inventory
trends occurring at retail. We believe our DTG2Go business will maintain its high-growth sales trend and reach $100 million in sales over the next several
years.

Our Activewear business should also be positioned for more growth in fiscal year 2019. The Delta Platinum line and other pieces of the Catalog division’s
fashion basics collection are exceeding expectations and both are attracting new customers and facilitating more substantial relationships with existing
customers. We look for the significant growth of these products to continue as they become a larger part of Catalog’s overall sales mix and we transition
more of them onto our internal manufacturing platform to shorten lead times and allow for faster customer replenishments. The FunTees private label
business continues to benefit from a broadening and more diverse customer base as well as favorable market dynamics that are causing brands to gravitate
toward western hemisphere supply chain solutions such as our platform to improve speed-to-market and customer service levels. We look forward to
leveraging this momentum and FunTees’ stronger, more flexible business model as we move forward.

Our Soffe brand continues to see solid momentum with strategic sporting goods and e-retailers, as well as with the United States military. Its ecommerce
sites and branded retail stores throughout key North Carolina markets also present opportunities for significant growth moving forward. Soffe continues to
improve its cost structure and operating efficiencies, and we believe the brand is positioned for improved performance in fiscal year 2019.

The brands comprising our Salt Life Group continue to expand their lifestyle positioning and extend their consumer reach. Salt Life is strengthening brand
awareness both within and outside of its traditional markets through its flourishing partnerships with key national retailers. Growth with regional and
independent accounts and in target international markets should also continue to drive expansion at Salt Life. The recent introduction of several new
product categories, including the brand’s new craft beer, Salt Life Lager, provide additional visibility and should catalyze growth going forward. Salt Life
Lager has now expanded throughout the Florida market with plans to move into other key Southeastern markets in the next fiscal year. Salt Life’s branded
retail footprint also recently expanded with a new location in Tampa, Florida, and we have approximately 12 new stores planned over the next several years.
Our consumer website, www.saltlife.com, has maintained its double-digit sales growth trend and we expect this to continue in the upcoming year.

The strategic actions that we took in fiscal 2018 should put us in solid position to win market share and profitably grow our business in fiscal 2019 and
beyond. While the retail environment continues to have its share of challenges and the rising cost environment is expected to continue, we are off to a solid
start to fiscal 2019 and are looking forward to what lies ahead for Delta Apparel.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Our financial results have been presented on a GAAP basis and, in certain limited instances, we have presented our financial results on a GAAP and non-
GAAP (“adjusted”) basis, which is further described and reconciled in the sections entitled “Non-GAAP Financial Measures.”

Overview

Net sales for the fiscal year ended September 29, 2018, were $395.5 million compared with prior year sales of $385.1 million. Sales increased by 7% from
the prior year sales which were $369.4 million when adjusted to exclude sales in the since-divested Junkfood business. Gross margins were relatively flat
compared to the prior year despite inflationary costs.

Net income in fiscal year 2018 was $1.3 million, or $0.18 per diluted share, compared with net income in the prior year of $10.5 million, or $1.33 per
diluted share, which includes the benefit of $0.11 per diluted share from the gain on the sale of our Junkfood business. Adjusting for the $10.7 million
impact of the new tax legislation in the current year, our fiscal year 2018 net income was $11.4 million, or $1.62 per diluted share.

Salt Life Group Segment
Net sales in our Salt Life Group segment were $39.4 million in fiscal year 2018 compared to $58.5 million in the prior year, with the declines due to the
since-divested Junkfood business and other strategic shifts in the non-core business. Salt Life sales grew 2.4% from the prior year with strong direct-to-
consumer sales and growth in national retailers, being partially offset by independent store sales, which have been significantly impacted by recent
hurricanes. Gross margins in the Salt Life Group segment improved to 46.6% in fiscal year 2018. Operating income in the Salt Life Group segment was flat
in fiscal year 2018 to prior year at $4.8 million, when adjusted for the since-divested Junkfood business.

Delta Group Segment
Net sales in our Delta Group segment increased by 9.0% to $356.0 million from prior year sales of $326.6 million. Strong retail license and private label
growth drove the increase, with our FunTees business having record revenue in that business exceeding $100 million for the second consecutive year. Gross
margins in the Delta Group segment improved 10 basis points from the prior year due primarily to sales of higher margin fashion basics products offset by
inflationary costs. Operating income increased by $2.8 million to $26.1million, or 7.3% of sales, compared to $23.3 million, or 7.1% of sales in the prior
year.

Fiscal Year 2018 Versus Fiscal Year 2017

Net sales for fiscal year 2018 were $395.5 million compared with prior year sales of $385.1 million. When adjusted to exclude sales in the since-divested
Junkfood business, prior year sales were $369.4 million in fiscal year 2017, an improvement of 7.0% over fiscal year 2017. Our direct-to-consumer and
ecommerce sales represented 7.6% of total revenues for the 2018 fiscal year compared to 6.8% of revenues in the prior year.

Overall gross margins were relatively flat to prior year at 20.7% driven by improved selling prices and favorable product mix offsetting the impact of higher
raw material prices and other inflationary cost increases. Our gross margins may not be comparable to those of other companies because some companies
include costs related to their distribution network in cost of goods sold and we exclude them from gross profit and include them in selling, general and
administrative expenses.

Fiscal year 2018 selling, general and administrative expenses were $67.0 million, or 16.9% of sales, compared to $67.4 million, or 17.5% of sales, in fiscal
year 2017. The decrease in selling, general and administrative expenses is primarily due to the Junkfood divestiture partially offset by higher distribution
costs related primarily to investments made to expand facilities to improve service to our customers.

Other income includes valuation changes in our continent consideration, gains or losses on the sale of businesses and other assets, and profits related to our
Honduran equity method investment.  We realized a $1.3 million pre-tax gain from the sale of the Junkfood business, which was completed in our March
quarter of fiscal year 2017. See Note 4-Divestitures for more information on this transaction. The change in fair value of contingent consideration resulted
from the remeasurement of the contingent consideration related to Salt Life and DTG2Go.  Based upon the current operating results and future projections,
we recorded a net $0.2 million increase in contingent consideration in fiscal year 2018 compared to a $0.9 million decrease in fiscal year 2017. The
remainder of other income is principally related to profits from our Honduran equity method investment.

Operating income for fiscal year 2018 increased by $1.3 million from the prior year to $17.5 million. Operating income in fiscal year 2018 was comprised
of $26.1 million in the Delta Group segment and $4.7 million in the Salt Life Group segment offset by unallocated general corporate costs of $13.3 million.
This compares to fiscal year 2017 operating income of $23.3 million in the Delta Group segment and $4.9 million in the Salt Life Group segment offset by
unallocated general corporate costs of $12.0 million.

Interest expense for fiscal year 2018 increased $0.7 million to $5.7 million, compared to $5.0 million in fiscal year 2017. The increase is due primarily to
higher average interest rates along with higher average debt levels in fiscal year 2018 compared to the prior year.

Our fiscal year 2018 effective income tax rate, excluding the effect of the $10.7 million amount related to new tax law legislation, was a benefit of 1.7%.
This compares to 5.9% in the prior fiscal year. See Note 10—Income taxes for more information. We benefit from
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having income in foreign jurisdictions that are either exempt from income taxes or have tax rates that are lower than those in the United States.

Net income in fiscal year 2018 was $1.3 million, or $0.18 per diluted share, compared with net income in the prior year of $10.5 million, or $1.33 per
diluted share. Adjusting for the $1.44 per share impact of new tax legislation in fiscal year 2018, and the prior year benefit of $0.11 per share from the sale
of Junkfood, our diluted earnings were $1.62 per share, a 33% improvement from the prior year earnings of $1.22 per share.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

We provide all information required in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”), but we believe that evaluating our ongoing
operating results may be difficult if limited to reviewing only GAAP financial measures. In an effort to provide investors with additional information
regarding the Company's results, we also provide non-GAAP information that management believes is useful to investors. We discuss adjusted net sales,
operating income, and earning per share as performance measures because management uses these measures in evaluating the Company's underlying
performance on a consistent basis across periods. We also believe these measures are frequently used by securities analysts, investors and other interested
parties in the evaluation of the Company's ongoing performance. These non-GAAP measures have limitations as analytical tools, and securities analysts,
investors and other interested parties should not consider any of non-GAAP measure in isolation or as a substitute for analysis of the Company's results as
reported under GAAP. The non-GAAP measure may not be comparable to similarly titled measures used by other companies. The table below reconciles
net sales to adjusted net sales, (in thousands):

 Year Ended

 September 29, 2018  September 30, 2017

Net sales $ 395,450  $ 385,082 
     Adjustment for:    
     Sales from the since-divested Junkfood business —  (15,648)

Adjusted net sales $ 395,450  $ 369,434 
    

Net earnings attributable to shareholders $ 1,337  $ 10,511 
     Adjustment for tax legislation impact 10,664  — 
     Adjustment for gain on sale of Junkfood business —  (838)

Adjusted earnings attributable to shareholders $ 12,001  $ 9,673 
Weighted average number of shares assuming dilution 7,425  7,882 
Adjusted earnings per diluted share $1.62  $1.22

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Credit Facility and Other Financial Obligations

On May 10, 2016, we entered into a Fifth Amended and Restated Credit Agreement (the “Amended Credit Agreement”) with Wells Fargo Bank, National
Association (“Wells Fargo”), as Administrative Agent, the Sole Lead Arranger and the Sole Book Runner, and the financial institutions named therein as
Lenders, which are Wells Fargo, PNC Bank, National Association and Regions Bank. Our subsidiaries M.J. Soffe, LLC, Culver City Clothing Company
(f/k/a Junkfood Clothing Company), Salt Life, LLC, and DTG2Go, LLC (f/k/a Art Gun, LLC) (collectively, the "Borrowers"), are co-borrowers under the
Amended Credit Agreement.

On November 27, 2017, the Borrowers entered into a First Amendment to the Fifth Amended and Restated Credit Agreement with Wells Fargo and the
other lenders set forth therein (the “First Amendment”).

The First Amendment amends the definition of Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio within the Amended Credit Agreement to permit up to $10 million of the
proceeds received from the March 31, 2017, sale of certain assets of the Junkfood business to be used towards share repurchases for up to one year from the
date of that transaction. In addition, the definition of Permitted Purchase Money Indebtedness is amended to extend the time period within which the
Borrowers may enter into capital leases and to increase the aggregate principal amount of such leases into which the Borrowers may enter to up to $15
million. The definition of Permitted Investments is also amended to permit the Borrowers to make investments in entities that are not a party to the
Amended Credit Agreement in an aggregate amount of up to $2 million. The First Amendment also allows the change in the name of our Junkfood
Clothing Company subsidiary to Culver City Clothing Company. There were no changes to the Amended Credit Agreement related to interest rate,
borrowing capacity, or maturity.

On March 9, 2018, the Borrowers entered into a Consent and Second Amendment to the Fifth Amended and Restated Credit Agreement with Wells Fargo
and the other lenders set forth therein (the “Second Amendment”).

Pursuant to the Second Amendment, Wells Fargo and the other lenders set forth therein consented to Art Gun, LLC’s acquisition of substantially all of the
assets of TeeShirt Ink Inc. d/b/a DTG2Go. The Second Amendment also: (i) revises certain provisions in the Amended Credit Agreement relating to our
ability to pay cash dividends or distributions to shareholders or to repurchase shares of our common stock so that the effects of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of
2017 do not negatively impact our ability to make such dividends or distributions or to repurchase shares of our common stock during our 2018 fiscal year;
(ii) amends the definition of Permitted Investments in the Amended Credit Agreement to allow investments in the Honduras partnership (as defined in the
Amended Credit Agreement) in an aggregate original principal amount not to exceed $6 million; (iii) amends the definition of Permitted Purchase Money
Indebtedness in the Amended Credit Agreement to increase the aggregate principal amount of capital leases into which we may enter to up to $25 million;
(iv) permits the name change of Art Gun, LLC to DTG2Go, LLC; and (v) adds new definitions relating to the DTG2Go acquisition. There were no changes
to the Amended Credit Agreement related to interest rate, borrowing capacity, or maturity.
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The Amended Credit Agreement was subsequently amended on October 8, 2018. See Note 17—Subsequent Events to the Consolidated Financial
Statements for further information.

The Amended Credit Agreement allows us to borrow up to $145 million (subject to borrowing base limitations), including a maximum of $25 million in
letters of credit. Provided that no event of default exists, we have the option to increase the maximum credit to $200 million (subject to borrowing base
limitations), conditioned upon the Administrative Agent's ability to secure additional commitments and customary closing conditions. The credit facility
matures on May 10, 2021. At September 29, 2018, we had $85.7 million outstanding under our U.S. revolving credit facility at an average interest rate of
4.1%, and had the ability to borrow an additional $25.9 million.

For further information regarding our U.S. asset-based secured credit facility, refer to Note 9 - Long-Term Debt to the Consolidated Financial Statements,
which information is incorporated herein by reference.

In August 2013, we acquired Salt Life and issued two promissory notes in the aggregate principal amount of $22.0 million, which included a one-time
installment of $9.0 million that was paid as required on September 30, 2014, and quarterly installments commencing on March 31, 2015, with the final
installment due on June 30, 2019. The promissory notes are zero-interest notes and state that interest will be imputed as required under Section 1274 of the
Internal Revenue Code. We have imputed interest at 1.92% and 3.62% on the promissory notes that matured on June 30, 2016, and will mature on June 30,
2019, respectively. At September 29, 2018, the discounted value of the promissory note was $2.5 million. Refer to Note 9 - Long Term Debt to the
Consolidated Financial Statements for further information on these promissory notes.

We have loan agreements with Banco Ficohsa, a Honduran bank. This credit facility is secured by a first-priority lien on the assets of our Honduran
operations and the loans are not guaranteed by our U.S. entities. As of September 29, 2018, we had a total of $10.4 million outstanding on these loans. For
further information regarding our Honduran loans, refer to Note 9 - Long-Term Debt to the Consolidated Financial Statements, which information is
incorporated herein by reference.

Our primary cash needs are for working capital and capital expenditures, as well as to fund share repurchases under our Stock Repurchase Program. In
addition, we may use cash to pay dividends in the future.

We consider the earnings of our foreign subsidiaries as of September 29, 2018, to be indefinitely reinvested. We have not, nor do we anticipate the need to,
repatriate funds to the United States to satisfy domestic liquidity needs arising in the ordinary course of business, including liquidity needs associated with
our domestic debt service requirements.

Derivative Instruments

From time to time we may use derivative instruments to manage our exposure to interest rates. These financial instruments are not used for trading or
speculation purposes. When we enter into a derivative instrument, we determine whether hedge accounting can be applied. Where hedge accounting can be
applied, a hedge relationship is designated as either a fair value hedge or cash flow hedge. The hedge is documented at inception, detailing the particular
risk objective and strategy considered for undertaking the hedge. The documentation identifies the specific asset or liability being hedged, the risk being
hedged, the type of derivative used and how effectiveness of the hedge will be assessed. During fiscal years 2018 and 2017, these interest rate swap
agreements had minimal ineffectiveness and were considered highly effective hedges.

We may use derivatives, including cotton option contracts, to manage our exposure to movements in commodity prices. We do not designate our options as
hedge instruments upon inception. Accordingly, we mark to market changes in the fair market value of the options in cost of sales in the Consolidated
Statements of Operations. We did not own any significant cotton options contracts on September 29, 2018, or September 30, 2017.

Changes in the derivatives’ fair values are deferred and are recorded as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income (“AOCI”), net of income
taxes, until the underlying transaction is recorded. When the hedged item affects income, gains or losses are reclassified from AOCI to the Consolidated
Statements of Operations as interest income/expense. Any ineffectiveness in our hedging relationships is recognized immediately in the Consolidated
Statement of Operations. The changes in fair value of the interest rate swap agreements resulted in AOCI gains, net of taxes, of $0.2 million and $0.1
million for the years ended September 29, 2018, and September 30, 2017, respectively.
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Operating Cash Flows

Cash provided by operating activities in fiscal year 2018 was $21.2 million compared to $13.9 million for fiscal year 2017. The improvement in cash
provided by operating activities from the prior year resulted from stronger operating income and leveraging our terms with our suppliers.

Investing Cash Flows

Cash used in investing activities in fiscal year 2018 was $14.9 million compared to cash provided by investing activities of $18.9 million in fiscal year
2017. Capital expenditures during fiscal year 2018 were $13.3 million and primarily related to digital print and other machinery and equipment, along with
investments in our direct-to-consumer initiatives and information technology systems. There was $1.5 million of unpaid capital expenditures as of
September 29, 2018. During fiscal year 2018, investing cash flows also included $1.9 million in proceeds received from the sale of our Junkfood business,
while fiscal year 2017 included $26.0 million. See Note 4—Divestitures, for further information on this transaction.

Current year investing activities included $5.8 million of proceeds from the sale of fixed assets.  Property, plant, and equipment of $5.0 million was
acquired as part of the DTG2Go acquisition. See Note 3—Acquisitions for more information on this transaction.  Subsequently, a capital lease arrangement
was entered into to finance the purchase of this equipment. Additional capital leases were entered into fiscal year 2018 related to $7.8 million of digital
print and other machinery and equipment.

We expect to spend approximately $10 million in capital expenditures in fiscal year 2019, primarily on manufacturing equipment along with information
technology and direct-to-consumer investments.

Financing Activities

Cash used in financing activities was $6.4 million in fiscal year 2018 compared to $32.7 million in fiscal year 2017. The cash used in our financing
activities during fiscal year 2018 was used to fund our operating activities and repurchase our stock. In fiscal year 2017, the cash received from the sale of
our Junkfood business was used to reduce debt as well as for stock repurchases throughout the year.

Future Liquidity and Capital Resources

Based on our current expectations, we believe that our credit facility should be sufficient to satisfy our foreseeable working capital needs, and that the cash
flow generated by our operations and funds available under our credit facility should be sufficient to service our debt payment requirements, to satisfy our
day-to-day working capital needs and to fund our planned capital expenditures. Any material deterioration in our results of operations, however, may result
in our loss of the ability to borrow under our revolving credit facility and to issue letters of credit to suppliers, or may cause the borrowing availability
under our facility to be insufficient for our needs. Availability under our credit facility is primarily a function of the levels of our accounts receivable and
inventory, as well as the uses of cash in our operations. A significant deterioration in our accounts receivable or inventory levels could restrict our ability to
borrow additional funds or service our indebtedness. Moreover, our credit facility includes a financial covenant that if the availability under our credit
facility falls below the amounts specified in our credit agreement, our Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio (“FCCR”) (as defined in our credit agreement) for the
preceding 12-month period must not be less than 1.1 to 1.0. Although our availability at September 29, 2018, was above the minimum thresholds specified
in our credit agreement, a significant deterioration in our business could cause our availability to fall below such thresholds, thereby requiring us to
maintain the minimum FCCR specified in our credit agreement. As of September 29, 2018, our FCCR was above the minimum threshold specified in our
credit agreement.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of September 29, 2018, we did not have any off-balance sheet arrangements that were material to our financial condition, results of operations or cash
flows as defined by Item 303(a)(4) of Regulation S-K promulgated by the SEC other than the letters of credit, operating leases, and purchase obligations.
We have disclosed operating lease commitments in Note 11—Leases, and letters of credit and purchase obligations in Note 16—Commitments and
Contingencies.

Dividends and Purchases of our Own Shares

Pursuant to the terms of our credit facility, we are allowed to make cash dividends and stock repurchases if (i) as of the date of the payment or repurchase
and after giving effect to the payment or repurchase, we have availability on that date of not less than 15% of the lesser of the borrowing base or the
commitment, and average availability for the 30-day period immediately preceding that date of not less than 15% of the lesser of the borrowing base or the
commitment; and (ii) the aggregate amount of dividends and stock repurchases after May 10, 2016, does not exceed $10 million plus 50% of our
cumulative net income (as defined in the Amended Credit Agreement) from the first day of the third quarter of fiscal year 2016 to the date of determination.
At September 29, 2018, and September 30, 2017, there was $14.7 million and $7.7 million, respectively, of retained earnings free of restrictions to make
cash dividends or stock repurchases.
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Our Board of Directors did not declare, nor were any dividends paid, during fiscal years 2018 and 2017. Any future cash dividend payments will depend
upon our earnings, financial condition, capital requirements, compliance with loan covenants and other relevant factors.

As of September 29, 2018, our Board of Directors had authorized management to use up to $60.0 million to repurchase stock in open market transactions
under our Stock Repurchase Program. During fiscal years 2018 and 2017, we purchased 463,974 shares and 413,337 shares, respectively, of our common
stock for a total cost of $9.0 million and $7.8 million, respectively. As of September 29, 2018, we have purchased 3,357,461 shares of common stock for an
aggregate of $47.7 million since the inception of the Stock Repurchase Program. All purchases were made at the discretion of management and pursuant to
the safe harbor provisions of SEC Rule 10b-18. As of September 29, 2018, $12.3 million remained available for future purchases under our Stock
Repurchase Program, which does not have an expiration date.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based upon our Consolidated Financial Statements, which were prepared
in accordance with GAAP. The preparation of our Consolidated Financial Statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the reporting periods. We base our estimates and judgments on historical experience and various other factors that we believe to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions. We have no reason to believe
that our past estimates have not been accurate. Our most critical accounting estimates, discussed below, pertain to revenue recognition, accounts receivable
and related reserves, inventory and related reserves, the carrying value of goodwill, and the accounting for income taxes.

Note 2 to our Consolidated Financial Statements includes a summary of the significant accounting policies or methods used in the preparation of our
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Revenue Recognition

Revenues from product sales are recognized when ownership is transferred to the customer, which includes not only the passage of title, but also the
transfer of the risk of loss related to the product. At this point, the sales price is fixed and determinable, and we are reasonably assured of the collectibility
of the accounts receivable. The majority of our sales are shipped FOB or Ex Works shipping point and revenue is therefore recognized when the goods are
shipped to the customer. For sales that are shipped FOB or Ex Works destination point, we do not recognize the revenue until the goods are received by the
customer. Shipping and handling charges billed to our customers are included in net revenue and the related costs are included in cost of goods sold.
Revenues are reported on a net sales basis, which is computed by deducting product returns, discounts and estimated returns and allowances. We estimate
returns and allowances on an ongoing basis by considering historical and current trends.

Accounts Receivable and Related Reserves

In the normal course of business, we extend credit to our customers based upon defined credit criteria. Accounts receivable, as shown on our Consolidated
Balance Sheets, are net of related reserves. We estimate the net collectibility of our accounts receivable and establish an allowance for doubtful accounts
based upon this assessment. In situations where we are aware of a specific customer’s inability to meet its financial obligation, such as in the case of a
bankruptcy filing, a specific reserve for bad debts is recorded against amounts due to reduce the net recognized receivable to the amount reasonably
expected to be collected. For all other customers, reserves are determined through analysis of the aging of accounts receivable balances, historical bad
debts, customer concentrations, customer credit-worthiness, current economic trends and changes in customer payment terms. In addition, reserves are
established for other concessions that have been extended to customers, including advertising, markdowns and other accommodations, net of historical
recoveries. These reserves are determined based upon historical deduction trends and evaluation of current market conditions. Significant changes in
customer concentration or payment terms, deterioration of customer credit-worthiness or further weakening in economic trends could have a significant
impact on the collectibility of receivables and our operating results.

Inventories and Related Reserves

We state inventories at the lower of cost and net realizable value using the first-in, first-out method. Inventory cost includes materials, labor and
manufacturing overhead on manufactured inventory, and all direct and associated costs, including inbound freight, to acquire sourced products. See Note
2(y) for further information regarding yarn procurements. We regularly review inventory quantities on hand and record reserves for obsolescence, excess
quantities, irregulars and slow-moving inventory based on historical selling prices, current market conditions, and forecasted product demand to reduce
inventory to its net realizable value. If actual selling prices are less favorable than those projected, or if sell-through of the inventory is more difficult than
anticipated, additional inventory reserves may be required.

Goodwill

Goodwill and definite-lived intangibles were recorded in conjunction with our acquisitions of Salt Life, Junkfood, DTG2Go, and Coast. We did not record
any separately identifiable indefinite-lived intangibles associated with any of these acquisitions. On March 31, 2017, we sold our Junkfood business to
JMJD Ventures, LLC. See Note 4—Divestitures for further information on this transaction. Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price and related
costs over the value assigned to net tangible and identifiable intangible assets of
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businesses acquired. Goodwill must be tested for impairment at least annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may be impaired, and is required to be written down when impaired. The goodwill impairment testing process involves the use of
significant assumptions, estimates and judgments with respect to a variety of factors, including sales, gross margins, selling, general and administrative
expenses, capital expenditures, cash flows and the selection of an appropriate discount rate, all of which are subject to inherent uncertainties and
subjectivity. When we perform goodwill impairment testing, our assumptions are based on annual business plans and other forecasted results, which we
believe represent those of a market participant. We select a discount rate, which is used to reflect market-based estimates of the risks associated with the
projected cash flows, based on the best information available as of the date of the impairment assessment.

Given the current macro-economic environment and the uncertainties regarding its potential impact on our business, there can be no assurance that our
estimates and assumptions used in our impairment tests will prove to be accurate predictions of the future. If our assumptions regarding forecasted cash
flows are not achieved, it is possible that an impairment review may be triggered and goodwill may be impaired.

Income Taxes

We account for income taxes under the liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to
differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases, and operating loss and tax
credit carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those
temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. A valuation allowance is required to reduce the carrying value of deferred tax assets to the
amount that is more-likely-than-not to be realized. In making this final determination, we follow the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB")
Codification No. 740, Income Taxes ("ASC 740"), and look to taxable income in prior carryback years, reversals of existing temporary book/tax
differences, tax planning strategies and future taxable income exclusive of reversals of existing temporary differences.  By its very nature, future taxable
income requires estimates and judgments about future events that may be predictable, but are far less certain than past events that can be objectively
measured. 

We established a valuation allowance related to certain of our state operating loss carryforward amounts in accordance with the provisions of ASC 740. We
continually review the adequacy of the valuation allowance and recognize the benefits of deferred tax assets if reassessment indicates that it is more likely
than not that the deferred tax assets will be realized based on earnings forecasts in the respective state tax jurisdictions. As of September 29, 2018, we had
state NOLs of approximately $42.7 million, with deferred tax assets of $1.9 million related to these state NOLs, and related valuation allowances against
them of approximately $0.5 million. These state net loss carryforwards expire at various intervals from 2019 through 2036.

RECENT ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

For information regarding recently issued accounting standards, refer to Note 2(ad) and Note 2(ae) to our Consolidated Financial Statements.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
 
We are a smaller reporting company as defined by Rule 12b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and are not required to provide the information under
this item.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

Our Consolidated Financial Statements for each of our fiscal years ended September 29, 2018, and September 30, 2017, together with the Reports of
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firms thereon, are included in this report commencing on page F-1 and are listed under Part IV, Item 15 in this
report.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

Not applicable.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure
controls and procedures as of September 29, 2018, and, based on their evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded
that these controls and procedures were effective at the evaluation date.

Disclosure controls and procedures are controls and other procedures that are designed to reasonably assure that information required to be disclosed in the
reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the Securities
and Exchange Commission’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure
that information that we are required to disclose in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to our
management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Management of Delta Apparel, Inc. is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting as defined in
Rules 13a-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Our internal control over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the preparation and fair presentation of published financial statements. Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting
may not prevent or detect misstatements. Therefore, even those systems determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to
financial statement preparation and presentation.

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we conducted an
evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of September 29, 2018. In this evaluation, management used the criteria set



forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 Framework) ("COSO") in Internal Control – Integrated
Framework. The scope of our efforts to comply with the internal requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 with respect to fiscal year
2018 included all of our operations. Based on our evaluation, our management has concluded that, as of September 29, 2018, our internal control over
financial reporting is effective.

The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of September 29, 2018, has been audited by Ernst & Young, LLP ("EY"), our
independent registered public accounting firm, who also audited our Consolidated Financial Statements. EY’s attestation report on our internal controls over
financial reporting is included herein.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There was no change in our internal control over financial reporting during the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2018 that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of Delta Apparel, Inc. and subsidiaries
 
Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
 
We have audited Delta Apparel, Inc. and subsidiaries’ internal control over financial reporting as of September 29, 2018, based on criteria established in
Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework) (the COSO
criteria). In our opinion, Delta Apparel, Inc. and subsidiaries (the Company) maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial
reporting as of September 29, 2018, based on the COSO criteria.
 
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the consolidated
balance sheets of the Company as of September 29, 2018, and September 30, 2017, and the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive
income (loss), shareholder’s equity and cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended September 29, 2018, and the related notes and our report
dated November 19, 2018, expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.
 
Basis for Opinion
 
The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm
registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the
applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.
 
Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and
evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered
necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
 
Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
 
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control
over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are
being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial
statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
 

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
 
 
Atlanta, GA
November 19, 2018
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ITEM 9B.    OTHER INFORMATION

Not Applicable
PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference from the portions of the definitive Proxy Statement to be filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission within 120 days following the end of our 2018 fiscal year under the headings "Proposal No. 1: Election of Directors",
“Corporate Governance”, “Executive Officers” and “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance.”

All of our employees, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer (who is also our principal accounting officer), are required to abide
by our business conduct policies so that our business is conducted in a consistently legal and ethical manner. We have adopted a code of business conduct
and ethics known as our Ethics Policy Statement. The Ethics Policy Statement is available without charge on our website. In the event that we amend or
waive any of the provisions of the Ethics Policy Statement applicable to our Chief Executive Officer or Chief Financial Officer, we intend to disclose the
same on our website at www.deltaapparelinc.com.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference from the portions of the definitive Proxy Statement to be filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission within 120 days following the end of our 2018 fiscal year under the headings “Executive Compensation” and “Compensation
Tables.”

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS

The information relating to security ownership by certain beneficial owners and management is incorporated herein by reference from the portion of the
definitive Proxy Statement to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days following the end of our 2018 fiscal year under the
heading “Stock Ownership of Management and Principal Shareholders."

On February 4, 2015, our shareholders re-approved the Delta Apparel, Inc. 2010 Stock Plan ("2010 Stock Plan") that was originally approved by our
shareholders on November 11, 2010. The re-approval of the 2010 Stock Plan, including the material terms of the performance goals included in the 2010
Stock Plan, enabled us to continue to grant equity incentive compensation awards structured in a manner intended to qualify as tax deductible, performance-
based compensation under Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as applicable. Since November 2010, no additional awards have been or
will be granted under either the Delta Apparel Stock Option Plan ("Option Plan") or the Delta Apparel Incentive Stock Award Plan ("Award Plan"); instead,
all stock awards have been and will continue to be granted under the 2010 Stock Plan. The aggregate number of shares of common stock that may be
delivered under the 2010 Stock Plan is 500,000 plus any shares of common stock subject to outstanding awards under the Option Plan or Award Plan that
are subsequently forfeited or terminated for any reason before being exercised. The 2010 Stock Plan limits the number of shares that may be covered by
awards to any participant in a given calendar year and also limits the aggregate awards of restricted stock, restricted stock units and performance stock
granted in any given calendar year.

Set forth in the table below is certain information about securities issuable under our equity compensation plans as of September 29, 2018.

Plan Category  

Number of securities to
 be issued upon exercise of

outstanding options,
warrants and rights  

Weighted-average
 exercise price of

 outstanding options,
warrants and rights  

Number of securities
 remaining available for
 future issuance under

equity
 compensation plans

(excluding securities
reflected in column (a))

  (a)  (b)  (c)

Equity compensation plans approved by security holders  532,500  $ 16.12  440,664 
Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders  —  $ —  — 
Total  532,500  $ 16.12  440,664 

For additional information on our stock-based compensation plans, see Note 13 - Stock-Based Compensation to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference from the portion of the definitive Proxy Statement to be filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission within 120 days following the end of our 2018 fiscal year under the heading "Corporate Governance".

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference from the portion of the definitive Proxy Statement to be filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission within 120 days following the end of our 2018 fiscal year under the heading “Proposal No. 3: Ratification of Appointment of
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm”.

PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

Financial Statements:

Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firms.

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of September 29, 2018, and September 30, 2017.

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended September 29, 2018, and September 30, 2017.

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the years ended September 29, 2018, and September 30, 2017.

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity for the years ended September 29, 2018, and September 30, 2017.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended September 29, 2018, and September 30, 2017.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

All other schedules for which provision is made in the applicable accounting regulation of the Securities and Exchange Commission are not required under
the related instructions or are inapplicable, and therefore have been omitted. Columns omitted from schedules filed have been omitted because the
information is not applicable.

(a)(3) Listing of Exhibits*

2.1 Amended and Restated Stock Purchase Agreement dated as of October 3, 2003, among Delta Apparel, Inc., MJS Acquisition Company, M. J. Soffe Co.,
James F. Soffe, John D. Soffe, and Anthony M. Cimaglia (excluding schedules and exhibits): Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the
Company’s Form 8-K/A filed on October 17, 2003.

2.1.1 First Amendment to Amended and Restated Stock Purchase Agreement dated as of November 10, 2004, among Delta Apparel, Inc., M. J. Soffe Co.,
James F. Soffe, John D. Soffe, and Anthony M. Cimaglia: Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.2.1 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed on
February 9, 2005.

2.2 Asset Purchase Agreement dated as of August 22, 2005, among Delta Apparel, Inc., Junkfood Clothing Company, Liquid Blaino Designs, Inc. d/b/a
Junkfood Clothing, Natalie Grof, and Blaine Halvorson (excluding schedules and exhibits): Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the
Company’s Form 8-K filed on August 26, 2005.

2.3 Asset Purchase Agreement dated as of August 17, 2006, among Delta Apparel, Inc., Fun-Tees, Inc., Henry T. Howe, James C. Poag, Jr., Beverly H.
Poag, Lewis G. Reid, Jr., Kurt R. Rawald, Larry L. Martin, Jr., Julius D. Cline and Marcus F. Weibel: Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to
the Company’s Form 8-K filed on August 21, 2006.

2.4 Asset Purchase Agreement dated as of November 18, 2004, among Delta Apparel, Inc. and Parkdale America LLC: Incorporated by reference to Exhibit
2.3 to the Company's Form 10-Q filed on February 9, 2005.

2.4.1 First Amendment to Asset Purchase Agreement dated as of December 31, 2004, among Delta Apparel, Inc. and Parkdale America LLC: Incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 2.3.1 to the Company's Form 10-Q filed on February 9, 2005.

2.5 Asset Purchase Agreement dated as of August 27, 2013, among To The Game, LLC, Salt Life Holdings, LLC, Roger L. Combs, Sr., Donald R. Combs,
Richard Thompson, and Michael T. Hutto (excluding schedules and exhibits): Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K
filed on August 29, 2013.

3.1.1 Articles of Incorporation of the Company: Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Form 10-12B filed on December 30, 1999.
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3.1.2 Amendment to Articles of Incorporation of the Company dated September 18, 2003: Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1.2 to the Company’s
Form 10-Q filed on November 5, 2003.

3.1.3 Amendment to Articles of Incorporation of the Company dated April 28, 2005: Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1.3 to the Company’s Form
8-K filed on April 29, 2005.

3.1.4 Amendment to Articles of Incorporation of the Company dated November 8, 2007: Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1.4 to the Company’s
Form 10-K filed on August 28, 2009.

3.2.1 Bylaws of the Company: Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2.1 to the Company’s Form 10-K filed on August 28, 2009.

3.2.2 Amendment to Bylaws of the Company adopted January 20, 2000: Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2.2 to the Company’s Form 10-K filed
on August 28, 2009.

3.2.3 Amendment to Bylaws of the Company adopted February 17, 2000: Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2.3 to the Company’s Form 10-K filed
on August 28, 2009.

3.2.4 Amendment to Bylaws of the Company adopted June 6, 2000: Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2.4 to the Company’s Form 10-K filed on
August 28, 2009.

3.2.5 Amendment to Bylaws of the Company dated August 17, 2006: Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2.5 to the Company’s Form 10-K filed on
August 28, 2009.

3.2.6 Amendment to Bylaws of the Company dated August 12, 2009: Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2.6 to the Company’s Form 10-K filed on
August 28, 2009.

4.1 See Exhibits 3.1.1, 3.1.2, 3.1.3, 3.1.4, 3.2.1, 3.2.2, 3.2.3, 3.2.4, 3.2.5, and 3.2.6.

4.2 Specimen certificate for common stock, par value $0.01 per share, of the Company: Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Company’s
Form 10-12 B/A filed on May 3, 2000.

10.1 See Exhibits 2.1, 2.1.1, 2.2, 2.3, 2.4, 2.4.1 and 2.5.

10.2 Fourth Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement, dated May 27, 2011, among Delta Apparel, Inc., M.J. Soffe, LLC (successor by merger
to TCX, LLC), Junkfood Clothing Company, To The Game, LLC, and Art Gun, LLC, the financial institutions named therein as Lenders, Wells
Fargo Bank, National Association, as Administrative Agent, Bank of America, N.A., as Syndication Agent, Wells Fargo Capital Finance, LLC, as
Sole Lead Arranger, and Wells Fargo Capital Finance, LLC and Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated, as Joint Bookrunners:
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on June 3, 2011.

10.2.1 Consent and First Amendment to Fourth Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement, dated August 27, 2013, among Delta Apparel, Inc.,
M.J. Soffe, LLC (successor by merger to TCX, LLC), Junkfood Clothing Company, To The Game, LLC, and Art Gun, LLC, the financial
institutions named therein as Lenders, Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Administrative Agent, Bank of America, N.A., as Syndication
Agent, Wells Fargo Capital Finance, LLC, as Sole Lead Arranger, and Wells Fargo Capital Finance, LLC and Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner &
Smith Incorporated, as Joint Bookrunners: Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on August 29, 2013.

10.2.2 Third Amendment to Fourth Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement, dated September 26, 2014, among Delta Apparel, Inc., M.J.
Soffe, LLC (successor by merger to TCX, LLC), Junkfood Clothing Company, To The Game, LLC, and Art Gun, LLC, the financial institutions
named therein as Lenders, Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Administrative Agent, Bank of America, N.A., as Syndication Agent, Wells
Fargo Capital Finance, LLC, as Sole Lead Arranger, and Wells Fargo Capital Finance, LLC and Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith
Incorporated, as Joint Bookrunners: Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on October 1, 2014.

10.2.3 Fourth Amendment to Fourth Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement, dated February 27, 2015, among Delta Apparel, Inc., M.J.
Soffe, LLC (successor by merger to TCX, LLC), Junkfood Clothing Company, To The Game, LLC, and Art Gun, LLC, the financial institutions
named therein as Lenders, Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Administrative Agent, Bank of America, N.A., as Syndication Agent, Wells
Fargo Capital Finance, LLC, as Sole Lead Arranger, and Wells Fargo Capital Finance, LLC and Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith
Incorporated, as Joint Bookrunners: Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on March 4, 2015.

10.2.4 Fifth Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated May 10, 2016, among Delta Apparel, Inc., M.J. Soffe, LLC, Junkfood Clothing Company, Salt
Life, LLC (f/k/a To The Game, LLC), and Art Gun, LLC, the financial institutions named therein as
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Lenders, and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Administrative Agent, Sole Lead Arranger, and Sole Book Runner: Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on May 12, 2016.

10.2.5 First Amendment to Fifth Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated November 27, 2017, among Delta Apparel, Inc., M.J. Soffe, LLC,
Junkfood Clothing Company, Salt Life, LLC, and Art Gun, LLC, the financial institutions named therein as Lenders, and Wells Fargo Bank,
National Association, as Administrative Agent, Sole Lead Arranger, and Sole Book Runner: Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2.5 to the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on November 28, 2017.

10.2.6 Consent and Second Amendment to Fifth Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated March 9, 2018, among Delta Apparel, Inc., M.J. Soffe,
LLC, Culver City Clothing Company, Salt Life, LLC, and Art Gun, LLC, the financial institutions named therein as Lenders, and Wells Fargo
Bank, National Association, as Administrative Agent, Sole Lead Arranger, and Sole Book Runner: Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 13, 2018.

10.2.7 Consent and Third Amendment to Fifth Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated October 8, 2018, among Delta Apparel, Inc., M.J. Soffe,
LLC, Culver City Clothing Company, Salt Life, LLC, and DTG2Go, LLC, the financial institutions named therein as Lenders, and Wells Fargo
Bank, National Association, as Administrative Agent, Sole Lead Arranger, and Sole Book Runner: Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 9, 2018.

10.3 Delta Apparel, Inc. 2000 Stock Option Plan, Effective as of February 15, 2000, Amended & Restated March 15, 2000: Incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Form 10-12B/A filed on March 31, 2000.***

10.4 Delta Apparel, Inc. Incentive Stock Award Plan, Effective February 15, 2000, Amended & Restated March 15, 2000: Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s Form 10-12B/A filed on March 31, 2000.***

10.5 Delta Apparel, Inc. 2010 Stock Plan: Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.2 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on November 4, 2010, and Exhibit 1
to the Company's Proxy Statement filed on December 19, 2014.***

10.6 Yarn Supply Agreement dated as of January 5, 2005, between Delta Apparel, Inc. and Parkdale Mills, LLC and Parkdale America, LLC: Incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.29 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on February 9, 2005.**

10.6.1 First Amendment to Yarn Supply Agreement dated as of June 26, 2009 between Delta Apparel, Inc. and Parkdale Mills, LLC, and Parkdale America,
LLC: Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7.1 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on August 28, 2009.**

10.6.2 Second Amendment to Yarn Supply Agreement dated as of October 21, 2011 between Delta Apparel, Inc. and Parkdale Mills, LLC, and Parkdale
America, LLC: Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 25, 2011.**

10.6.3 Third Amendment to Yarn Supply Agreement dated as of March 11, 2013, between Delta Apparel, Inc. and Parkdale Mills, LLC, and Parkdale
America, LLC: Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 14, 2013.**

10.6.4 Fourth Amendment to Yarn Supply Agreement dated as of December 11, 2015, between Delta Apparel, Inc. and Parkdale Mills, LLC, and Parkdale
America, LLC: Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6.4 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on December 15, 2015.**

10.7 Employment Agreement between Delta Apparel, Inc. and Deborah H. Merrill dated December 31, 2015: Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to
the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on January 7, 2016.***

10.8 Employment Agreement between Delta Apparel, Inc. and Martha M. Watson dated December 31, 2015: Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to
the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on January 7, 2016.***

10.9 Employment Agreement between Delta Apparel, Inc. and Steven E. Cochran dated December 31, 2012: Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to
the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on January 3, 2013.***

10.9.1 Amendment to Employment Agreement between Delta Apparel, Inc. and Steven E. Cochran dated January 28, 2013: Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on January 29, 2013.***

10.11 Employment Agreement between Delta Apparel, Inc. and Robert W. Humphreys dated June 10, 2009: Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to
the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on August 28, 2009.***

10.11.1 First Amendment to Employment Agreement between Delta Apparel, Inc. and Robert W. Humphreys dated August 17, 2011: Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on August 19, 2011.***
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10.11.2 Second Amendment to Employment Agreement between Delta Apparel, Inc. and Robert W. Humphreys dated June 6, 2012: Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 8, 2012.***

10.11.3 Third Amendment to Employment Agreement between Delta Apparel, Inc. and Robert W. Humphreys dated December 5, 2014: Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 8, 2014.***

10.11.4 Fourth Amendment to Employment Agreement between Delta Apparel, Inc. and Robert W. Humphreys dated April 27, 2017: Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 28, 2017.***

10.12 Employment Agreement between Delta Apparel, Inc. and Andrew R. DuVall dated January 18, 2016: Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on January 19, 2016.***

10.13 Employment Agreement between Delta Apparel, Inc. and Justin M. Grow dated December 31, 2015: Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to
the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on November 29, 2016.***

10.14 Employment Agreement between Delta Apparel, Inc. and Jeffery N. Stillwell dated December 31, 2015.***

10.15 Form of Restricted Stock Unit and Performance Unit Award Agreement: Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q filed on November 3, 2011.***

10.16 Delta Apparel Short-Term Incentive Compensation Plan: Incorporated by reference to Exhibit A to the Company's Proxy Statement filed on
September 28, 2011, and Exhibit 1 to the Company's Proxy Statement filed on December 29, 2015.***

10.17 Form of Restricted Stock Unit and Performance Unit Award Agreement: Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to the Company's Annual Report
on Form 10-K filed on August 29, 2013.***

10.18 Agreement between Delta Apparel, Inc. and IMG Worldwide, Inc. dated December 6, 2013: Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 6, 2013.

10.19 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement: Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on
December 10, 2014.***

10.20 Form of Performance Unit Award Agreement: Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on
December 10, 2014.***

10.21 Form of Restricted Stock Unit and Performance Unit Award Agreement: Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q filed on February 9, 2016.***

10.22 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement: Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed
on February 9, 2016.***

10.23 Form of Performance Unit Award Agreement: Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on
May 8, 2017.***

10.24 Form of Restricted Stock Unit and Performance Unit Award Agreement: Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.23 to the Company's Annual Report
on Form 10-K filed on November 28, 2017.***

10.25 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement: Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.23 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed
on May 7, 2018.***

16.1 February 13, 2014, Correspondence from Ernst & Young LLP to SEC: Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 16.1 to the Company's Form 8-K filed on
February 13, 2014.

16.2 March 8, 2016, Correspondence from KPMG LLP to SEC: Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 16.1 to the Company's Form 8-K filed on March 9,
2016.

21 Subsidiaries of the Company.

23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.

31.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, as adopted pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, as adopted pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
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32.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.

32.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
______________________

*

 

All reports previously filed by the Company with the Commission pursuant to the Securities Exchange Act, and the rules and regulations
promulgated thereunder, exhibits of which are incorporated to this Report by reference thereto, were filed under Commission File
Number 1-15583.

**
 

Portions of this exhibit have been omitted pursuant to a request for confidential treatment and have been filed separately with the
Securities and Exchange Commission.

***  This is a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

The registrant agrees to furnish supplementally to the Securities and Exchange Commission a copy of any omitted schedule or exhibit to any of the above
filed exhibits upon request of the Commission.

(b) Exhibits

See Item 15(a)(3) above.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

  DELTA APPAREL, INC.
  (Registrant)
   
November 19, 2018  By: /s/ Deborah H. Merrill

Date  
 

Deborah H. Merrill
 

 
Chief Financial Officer and
President, Delta Group

  (principal financial and accounting officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant
and in the capacities and as of the dates indicated.

 

     
     

/s/ Anita D. Britt 11/19/2018  /s/ Robert W. Humphreys 11/19/2018
Anita D. Britt Date  Robert W. Humphreys Date
Director   Chairman and Chief Executive Officer  
     
/s/ J. Bradley Campbell 11/19/2018  /s/ Deborah H. Merrill 11/19/2018
J. Bradley Campbell Date  Deborah H. Merrill Date
Director  

 
Chief Financial Officer and
President, Delta Group  

   (principal financial and accounting officer)
     

/s/ Sam P. Cortez 11/19/2018  /s/ David G. Whalen 11/19/2018
Sam P. Cortez Date  David G. Whalen Date
Director   Director  
     

/s/ Elizabeth J. Gatewood 11/19/2018  /s/ Robert E. Staton, Sr. 11/19/2018
Elizabeth J. Gatewood Date  Robert E. Staton, Sr. Date
Director   Director  
     
/s/ G. Jay Gogue 11/19/2018  /s/ A. Alexander Taylor, II 11/19/2018
G. Jay Gogue Date  A. Alexander Taylor, II Date
Director   Director  
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of Delta Apparel, Inc. and subsidiaries
 
Opinion on the Financial Statements
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Delta Apparel, Inc. and subsidiaries (the Company) as of September 29, 2018 and
September 30, 2017, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income (loss), shareholder’s equity, and cash flows for each of the
two years in the period ended September 29, 2018, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). In our opinion,
the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of September 29, 2018 and September
30, 2017, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended September 29, 2018, in conformity with U.S.
generally accepted accounting principles.
 
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting as of September 29, 2018, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework) and our report dated November 19, 2018, expressed an
unqualified opinion thereon.
 
Basis for Opinion
 
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements
based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in
accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
 
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing
procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to
those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also
included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
 

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
 
 
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2016.
 
Atlanta, GA
November 19, 2018
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Delta Apparel, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(Amounts in thousands, except share amounts and per share data)
 

 September 29, 2018  September 30, 2017

Assets    
Cash and cash equivalents $ 460  $ 572 
Accounts receivable, less allowances of $1,475 and $1,433, respectively 45,605  47,304 
Other receivables 1,274  253 
Income tax receivable 38  352 
Inventories, net 174,983  174,551 
Note receivable 100  2,016 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 2,962  2,646 

Total current assets 225,422  227,694 

Property, plant and equipment, net 52,114  42,706 
Goodwill 33,217  19,917 
Intangible assets, net 20,498  16,151 
Deferred income taxes 1,374  5,002 
Equity method investment 8,980  4,140 
Other assets 2,004  2,192 
     Total assets $ 343,609  $ 317,802 

    
Liabilities and Equity    

Liabilities:    
Accounts payable $ 48,008  $ 46,335 
Accrued expenses 16,742  17,704 
Current portion of contingent consideration 638  — 
Current portion of capital lease financing 3,846  848 
Current portion of long-term debt 6,577  7,548 

Total current liabilities 75,811  72,435 

Long-term income taxes payable 4,259  — 
Long-term capital lease financing, less current maturities 9,302  2,519 
Long-term debt, less current maturities 92,083  85,306 
Deferred income taxes 2,132  — 
Other liabilities —  55 
Long-term contingent consideration 9,904  1,600 

Total liabilities $ 193,491  $ 161,915 
Shareholders’ equity:    

Preferred stock—$0.01 par value, 2,000,000 shares authorized, none issued and outstanding —  — 
Common stock —$0.01 par value, 15,000,000 shares authorized, 9,646,972 shares issued, and 6,909,446
and 7,300,297 shares outstanding as of September 29, 2018, and September 30, 2017, respectively 96  96 
Additional paid-in capital 61,979  61,065 
Retained earnings 128,695  127,358 
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) 136  (35)
Treasury stock —2,737,526 and 2,346,675 shares as of September 29, 2018, and September 30, 2017,
respectively (40,881)  (32,597)

Equity attributable to Delta Apparel, Inc. 150,025  155,887 
Equity attributable to non–controlling interest 93  — 

Total equity 150,118  155,887 
Total liabilities and equity $ 343,609  $ 317,802 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Delta Apparel, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Operations

(Amounts in thousands, except per share data)
 

 Fiscal Year Ended

 September 29, 2018  September 30, 2017

Net sales $ 395,450  $ 385,082 
Cost of goods sold 313,429  304,360 

Gross profit 82,021  80,722 

Selling, general and administrative expenses 66,969  67,408 
Other, net (2,351)  (2,865)

Operating income 17,403  16,179 

Interest expense 5,713  5,011 
Earnings before provision for income taxes 11,690  11,168 

Provision for income taxes 10,460  657 
Consolidated net earnings $ 1,230  $ 10,511 

Less: Net loss attributable to non-controlling interest (107)  — 
Net earnings attributable to shareholders 1,337  10,511 

    

Basic earnings per share $ 0.19  $ 1.40 
Diluted earnings per share $ 0.18  $ 1.33 
    

Weighted average number of shares outstanding 7,149  7,531 
Dilutive effect of stock options and awards 276  351 

Weighted average number of shares assuming dilution 7,425  7,882 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Delta Apparel, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
(Amounts in thousands)

 

 Fiscal Year Ended

 September 29, 2018  September 30, 2017

Net earnings attributable to shareholders $ 1,337  $ 10,511 
Other comprehensive income related to unrealized gain on derivatives, net of income tax 171  77 
Consolidated comprehensive income $ 1,508  $ 10,588 

 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Delta Apparel, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity

(Amounts in thousands, except share amounts)
 

         Accumulated       
     Additional    Other    Non-   

 Common Stock  Paid-In  Retained  Comprehensive  Treasury Stock  Controlling   

 Shares  Amount  Capital  Earnings  Income (Loss)  Shares  Amount  Interest  Total

Balance at October 1, 2016 9,646,972  $ 96  $ 60,847  $ 116,679  $ (112)  2,037,245  $ (25,495)  —  $ 152,015 

Net earnings —  —  —  10,511  —  —  —  —  10,511 
Other comprehensive income —  —  —  —  77  —  —  —  77 
Stock grant —  —  (1,476)  —  —  (72,991)  639  —  (837)

Stock options exercised —  —  (385)  —  —  (30,916)  54  —  (331)
Excess tax benefits from stock
awards —  —  (89)  168  —  —  —  —  79 
Purchase of common stock —  —  —  —  —  413,337  (7,795)  —  (7,795)

Stock based compensation —  —  2,168  —  —  —  —  —  2,168 
Balance at September 30, 2017 9,646,972  96  61,065  127,358  (35)  2,346,675  (32,597)  —  155,887 

Net earnings —  —  —  1,337  —  —  —  —  1,337 
Other comprehensive income —  —  —  —  171  —  —  —  171 
Net loss attributable to non-
controlling interest —  —  —  —  —  —  —  (107)  (107)

Stock grant —  —  (1,661)  —  —  (73,123)  716  —  (945)

Stock options exercised —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  — 
Purchase of common stock —  —  —  —  —  463,974  (9,000)  —  (9,000)

Stock based compensation —  —  2,575  —  —  —  —  —  2,575 
Capital contributions by non-
controlling interest —  —  —  —  —  —  —  200  200 

Balance at September 29, 2018 9,646,972  $ 96  $ 61,979  $ 128,695  $ 136  2,737,526  $ (40,881)  $ 93  $ 150,118 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Delta Apparel, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(Amounts in thousands)

 Fiscal Year Ended

 September 29, 2018  September 30, 2017

Operating activities:    
Consolidated net earnings $ 1,230  $ 10,511 
Adjustments to consolidated net earnings attributable to net cash provided by operating activities:    

Depreciation 8,736  8,489 
Amortization of intangibles 1,253  1,120 
Amortization of deferred financing fees 306  323 
Excess tax benefits from stock awards and option exercises —  89 
Provision for deferred income taxes 5,760  322 
Change in reserves for allowances on accounts receivable, net 42  (544)
Non-cash stock compensation 2,575  1,872 
Loss on disposal of equipment 130  65 
Other, net (2,398)  (2,195)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effect of acquisitions:    

Accounts receivable 1,424  16,596 
Inventories, net 715  (13,782)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (208)  863 
Other non-current assets 53  (894)
Accounts payable (1,904)  (4,201)
Accrued expenses (994)  (4,451)
Income taxes 4,573  (355)
Other liabilities (55)  110 

Net cash provided by operating activities 21,238  13,938 

Investing activities:    
Purchases of property and equipment (5,769)  (7,085)
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment 5,779  1 
Proceeds from sale of Junkfood assets 1,946  26,000 
Investment in capital stock (500)  — 
Investment by non-controlling member 200  — 
Cash paid for business (16,602)  — 

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (14,946)  18,916 

Financing activities:    
Proceeds from long-term debt 459,385  453,860 
Repayment of long-term debt (453,579)  (476,801)
Payment of capital financing (2,325)  (633)
Repurchase of common stock (8,940)  (7,938)
Payment of withholding taxes on stock awards and option exercises (945)  (1,167)

Net cash used in financing activities (6,404)  (32,679)
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (112)  175 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 572  397 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 460  $ 572 

Supplemental cash flow information:    
Cash paid during the period for interest $ 5,052  $ 4,372 
Cash paid during the period for income taxes, net of refunds received $ 260  $ 506 
Non-cash financing activity—capital lease agreement $ 6,840  $ 2,347 
Accrued capital expenditures $ 1,242  $ — 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Delta Apparel, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

September 29, 2018
 

NOTE 1—THE COMPANY

Delta Apparel, Inc. is an international apparel design, marketing, manufacturing and sourcing company that features a diverse portfolio of lifestyle
activewear apparel, and related accessory products. We specialize in selling casual and athletic products through a variety of distribution channels and
distribution tiers, including department stores, mid and mass channels, e-retailers, sporting goods and outdoor retailers, independent and specialty stores,
and the U.S. military. Our products are also made available direct-to-consumer on our websites and in our branded retail stores. We believe this diversified
distribution allows us to capitalize on our strengths to provide casual activewear to a broad and evolving customer base whose shopping preferences may
span multiple retail channels.

As a vertically-integrated manufacturer, we design and internally manufacture the majority of our products, which allows us to offer a high degree of
consistency and quality, leverage scale efficiencies, and react quickly to changes in trends within the marketplace. We have manufacturing operations
located in the United States, El Salvador, Honduras and Mexico, and use domestic and foreign contractors as additional sources of production. Our
distribution facilities are strategically located throughout the United States to better serve our customers with same-day shipping on our catalog products
and weekly replenishments to retailers.

NOTE 2—SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Basis of Presentation: Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America and include the accounts of Delta Apparel and its wholly-owned domestic and foreign subsidiaries, as well as its newly-formed majority-
owned subsidiary. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. In January 2018, Delta Apparel, Inc.
established Salt Life Beverage, of which Delta Apparel, through its subsidiary, holds a 60% ownership interest. Salt Life Beverage, was formed to
manufacture, market and sell Salt Life-branded alcoholic beverages and related products. We have concluded we have a controlling financial interest in Salt
Life Beverage in accordance with ASC-810, Consolidations, and ASU 2015-02, Consolidation (Topic 810); Amendments to Consolidations. The non–
controlling interest represents the 40% proportionate share of the results of Salt Life Beverage.

We operate our business in two distinct segments: Delta Group and Salt Life Group. Although the two segments are similar in their production processes
and regulatory environments, they are distinct in their economic characteristics, products, marketing, and distribution methods. We have reclassified certain
amounts in prior-period financial statements to conform to the current period’s presentation.

(b) Fiscal Year: We operate on a 52-53 week fiscal year ending on the Saturday closest to September 30. The 2018 and 2017 fiscal years were 52-week
years that ended on September 29, 2018, and September 30, 2017, respectively.

(c) Use of Estimates: The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles requires management to
make certain estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts and disclosures of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and
the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Estimates are adjusted to reflect actual experience when necessary. Significant
estimates and assumptions affect many items in our financial statements; for example: allowance for doubtful account receivables, sales returns and
allowances, inventory obsolescence, the carrying value of goodwill, income tax assets and related valuation allowance. Our actual results may differ from
our estimates.

(d) Cash and Cash Equivalents: Cash and cash equivalents consists of cash and temporary investments with original maturities of three months or less.

(e) Accounts Receivable: Accounts receivable consists primarily of receivables from our customers arising from the sale of our products, and we generally
do not require collateral from our customers. We actively monitor our exposure to credit risk through the use of credit approvals and credit limits. Accounts
receivable is presented net of reserves for allowances which include allowance for doubtful accounts, returns and allowances.

We estimate the net collectibility of our accounts receivable and establish an allowance for doubtful accounts based upon this assessment. In situations
where we are aware of a specific customer’s inability to meet its financial obligation, such as in the case of a bankruptcy filing, a specific reserve for bad
debts is recorded against amounts due to reduce the net recognized receivable to the amount reasonably expected to be collected. For all other customers,
reserves are determined through analysis of the aging of accounts receivable balances, historical bad debts, customer concentrations, customer credit-
worthiness, current economic trends and changes in customer payment terms. In addition, reserves are established for other concessions that have been
extended to customers, including advertising, markdowns and other accommodations, net of historical recoveries. These reserves are determined based
upon historical deduction trends and evaluation of current market conditions. Bad debt expense was less than 1% of net sales in each of fiscal years 2018
and 2017.

(f) Inventories: We state inventories at the lower of cost and net realizable value using the first-in, first-out method. Inventory cost includes materials, labor
and manufacturing overhead on manufactured inventory, and all direct and associated costs, including inbound freight, to acquire sourced products. See
Note 2(y) for further information regarding yarn procurements. We regularly review inventory
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quantities on hand and record reserves for obsolescence, excess quantities, irregulars and slow-moving inventory based on historical selling prices, current
market conditions, and forecasted product demand to reduce inventory to its net realizable value.

(g) Property, Plant and Equipment: Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost. We depreciate and amortize our assets on a straight-line method over
the estimated useful lives of the assets, which range from three to twenty-five years. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of the lease
term or the estimated useful life of the improvements. Assets that we acquire under non-cancelable leases that meet the criteria of capital leases are
capitalized in property, plant and equipment and amortized over the useful lives of the related assets. When we retire or dispose of assets, the costs and
accumulated depreciation or amortization are removed from the respective accounts, and we recognize any related gain or loss. Repairs and maintenance
costs are charged to expense when incurred. Major replacements that substantially extend the useful life of an asset are capitalized and depreciated.

(h) Internally Developed Software Costs. We account for internally developed software in accordance with FASB Codification No. 350-40, Intangibles-
Goodwill and Other, Internal-Use Software. After technical feasibility has been established, we capitalize the cost of our software development process,
including payroll and payroll benefits, by tracking the software development hours invested in the software projects. We amortize our software development
costs in accordance with the estimated economic life of the software, which is generally three to ten years.

(i) Impairment of Long-Lived Assets (Including Amortizable Intangible Assets): In accordance with FASB Codification No. 360, Property, Plant, and
Equipment, our long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets
may not be recoverable. When evaluating assets for potential impairment, we compare the carrying amount of the asset to the undiscounted future net cash
flows expected to be generated by the asset. If impairment is indicated, the asset is permanently written down to its estimated fair value and an impairment
loss is recognized.

(j) Goodwill and Intangible Assets: We recorded goodwill and intangible assets with definite lives, including trade names and trademarks, customer
relationships, technology, and non-compete agreements, in conjunction with the acquisitions of Salt Life, DTG2Go, and Coast. On March 31, 2017, we sold
the Junkfood business to JMJD Ventures, LLC. See Note 4 — Divestitures for further information on this transaction. Intangible assets are amortized based
on their estimated economic lives, ranging from four to twenty years. Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of net
identified tangible and intangible assets and liabilities acquired, and is not amortized. The total amount of goodwill is expected to be deductible for tax
purposes. See Note 7 — Goodwill and Intangible Assets for further details.

(k) Impairment of Goodwill: We evaluate the carrying value of goodwill annually or more frequently if events or circumstances indicate that an
impairment loss may have occurred. Such circumstances could include, but are not limited to, a significant adverse change in business climate, increased
competition or other economic conditions.

We complete our annual impairment test of goodwill on the first day of our third fiscal quarter. We estimate fair value of the applicable reporting unit or
units using a discounted cash flow methodology. This methodology represents a level 3 fair value measurement as defined under ASC 820, Fair Value
Measurements and Disclosures, since the inputs are not readily observable in the marketplace. The goodwill impairment testing process involves the use of
significant assumptions, estimates and judgments with respect to a variety of factors, including sales, gross margins, selling, general and administrative
expenses, capital expenditures, cash flows and the selection of an appropriate discount rate, all of which are subject to inherent uncertainties and
subjectivity. When we perform goodwill impairment testing, our assumptions are based on annual business plans and other forecasted results, which we
believe represent those of a market participant. We select a discount rate, which is used to reflect market-based estimates of the risks associated with the
projected cash flows, based on the best information available as of the date of the impairment assessment. Based on the annual impairment analysis, there is
not an impairment on the goodwill associated with Salt Life and DTG2Go recorded in our financial statements.

Given the current macro-economic environment and the uncertainties regarding its potential impact on our business, there can be no assurance that our
estimates and assumptions used in our impairment tests will prove to be accurate predictions of the future. If our assumptions regarding forecasted cash
flows are not achieved, it is possible that an impairment review may be triggered and goodwill may be impaired.

(l) Contingent Consideration: At the end of each reporting period, we are required to remeasure the fair value of the contingent consideration related to
the Salt Life and DTG2Go acquisitions in accordance with FASB Codification No. 805, Business Combinations (“ASC 805”). Based on the operating
results and projections, we analyzed the fair value of the contingent consideration related to the Salt Life and DTG2Go acquisitions as of September 29,
2018. The estimated fair value of the contingent consideration for Salt Life was $1.3 million and $1.6 million at September 29, 2018, and September 30,
2017, respectively. The DTG2Go contingent consideration was valued at $9.2 million at September 29, 2018.

(m) Revenue Recognition: Revenues from product sales are recognized when ownership is transferred to the customer, which includes not only the
passage of title, but also the transfer of the risk of loss related to the product. At this point, the sales price is fixed and determinable, and we are reasonably
assured of the collectibility of the accounts receivable. The majority of our sales are shipped FOB or Ex Works shipping point and revenue is therefore
recognized when the goods are shipped to the customer. For sales that are shipped FOB or Ex Works destination point, we do not recognize the revenue
until the goods are received by the customer. Shipping and handling charges billed to our customers are included in net revenue and the related costs are
included in cost of goods sold. Revenues are reported
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on a net sales basis, which is computed by deducting product returns, discounts and estimated returns and allowances. We estimate returns and allowances
on an ongoing basis by considering historical and current trends.

Royalty revenue is primarily derived from royalties paid to us by licensees of our intellectual property rights, which include, among other things,
trademarks and copyrights. We execute license agreements with our licensees detailing the terms of the licensing arrangement. Royalties are generally
recognized upon receipt of the licensee's royalty report in accordance with the terms of the executed license agreement and when all other revenue
recognition criteria have been met.

(n) Sales Tax: Sales tax collected from customers and remitted to various government agencies are presented on a net basis (excluded from revenues) in the
Consolidated Statements of Operations.

(o) Cost of Goods Sold: We include all manufacturing and sourcing costs incurred prior to the receipt of finished goods at our distribution facilities in cost
of goods sold. The cost of goods sold principally includes product cost, purchasing costs, inbound freight charges, insurance, inventory write-downs, and
depreciation and amortization expense associated with our manufacturing and sourcing operations. Our gross margins may not be comparable to other
companies, since some entities include costs related to their distribution network in cost of goods sold and we exclude them from gross margin, including
them instead in selling, general and administrative expenses.

(p) Selling, General and Administrative Expense: We include in selling, general and administrative expenses costs incurred subsequent to the receipt of
finished goods at our distribution facilities, such as the cost of stocking, warehousing, picking and packing, and shipping goods for delivery to our
customers. Distribution costs included in selling, general and administrative expenses totaled $16.9 million and $14.6 million in fiscal years 2018 and 2017,
respectively. In addition, selling, general and administrative expenses include costs related to sales associates, administrative personnel cost, advertising and
marketing expenses, royalty payments on licensed products, and other general and administrative expenses.

(q) Advertising Costs: All costs associated with advertising and promoting our products are expensed during the year in which they are incurred and are
included in selling, general and administrative expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. We participate in cooperative advertising programs
with our customers. Depending on the customer, our defined cooperative programs allow the customer to use from 2% to 5% of its net purchases from us
towards advertisements of our products. Because our products are being specifically advertised, we are receiving an identifiable benefit resulting from the
consideration for cooperative advertising. Therefore, pursuant to FASB Codification No. 605-50, Revenue Recognition, Customers Payments and
Incentives, we record cooperative advertising costs as a selling expense and the related cooperative advertising reserve as an accrued liability. Advertising
costs totaled $4.0 million and $4.6 million in fiscal years 2018 and 2017, respectively. Included in these costs were $0.7 million in each of fiscal years 2018
and 2017 related to our cooperative advertising programs.

(r) Stock-Based Compensation: Stock-based compensation cost is accounted for under the provisions of FASB Codification No. 718, Compensation –
Stock Compensation (“ASC 718”), the Securities and Exchange Commission Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 107 ("SAB 107"), and the Securities and
Exchange Commission Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 110 ("SAB 110"). ASC 718 requires all stock-based payments to employees, including grants of
employee stock options, to be recognized as expense over the vesting period using a fair value method. The fair value of our restricted stock awards is the
quoted market value of our stock on the grant date.  For performance-based stock awards, in the event we determine it is no longer probable that we will
achieve the minimum performance criteria specified in the award, we reverse all of the previously recognized compensation expense in the period such a
determination is made. We recognize the fair value, net of estimated forfeitures, as a component of selling, general and administrative expense in the
Consolidated Statements of Operations over the vesting period.

We early-adopted ASU No. 2016-09, Improvements to Employee Share-Based Payment Accounting, (ASU 2016-09). ASU 2016-09 simplifies various
aspects of accounting for share-based payment transactions. The most significant change from this update amends the presentation of excess tax benefits
and deficiencies in the financial statements by eliminating tax pools and requiring these benefits and deficiencies to be reflected in the income statement. It
also allows employer withholding on share based compensation up to the maximum statutory rate without the possibility of triggering liability accounting
and allows companies to make a policy election as it relates to forfeitures. Additionally, the ASU provides definitive guidance related to presentation of
income tax benefit/deficiencies as an operating activity and payment of taxes for employee withholding from stock compensation as a financing activity
within the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. ASU 2016-09 was adopted in our fiscal year beginning October 2, 2016, and we have elected to
continue our policy of estimating forfeitures.

(s) Income Taxes: We account for income taxes under the liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences
attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases, and operating
loss and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in
which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is
recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date.

(t) Earnings per Share: We compute basic earnings per share ("EPS") by dividing net income by the weighted average number of common shares
outstanding during the year pursuant to FASB Codification No. 260, Earnings Per Share (“ASC 260”). Basic EPS includes no dilution. Diluted EPS is
calculated, as set forth in ASC 260, by dividing net income by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding adjusted for the issuance of
potentially dilutive shares. Potential dilutive shares consist of common stock issuable
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under the assumed exercise of outstanding stock options and awards using the treasury stock method. This method, as required by ASC 718, assumes that
the potential common shares are issued and the proceeds from the exercise, along with the amount of compensation expense attributable to future services,
are used to purchase common stock at the exercise date. The difference between the number of potential shares issued and the number of shares purchased
is added as incremental shares to the actual number of shares outstanding to compute diluted EPS. Outstanding stock options and awards that result in lower
potential shares issued than shares purchased under the treasury stock method are not included in the computation of diluted EPS since their inclusion
would have an anti-dilutive effect on EPS.

(u) Foreign Currency Translation: Our functional currency for our foreign operated manufacturing facilities is the United States dollar. We remeasure
those assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies using exchange rates in effect at each balance sheet date. Property, plant and equipment and
the related accumulated depreciation or amortization are recorded at the exchange rates in effect on the date we acquired the assets. Revenues and expenses
denominated in foreign currencies are remeasured using average exchange rates during the period transacted. We recognize the resulting foreign exchange
gains and losses as a component of other income and expense in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. These gains and losses are immaterial for all
periods presented.

(v) Fair Value of Financial Instruments: We use financial instruments in the normal course of our business. The carrying values approximate fair values
for financial instruments that are short-term in nature, such as cash, accounts receivable and accounts payable. We estimate that the carrying value of our
long-term fixed rate debt approximates fair value based on the current rates offered to us for debt of the same remaining maturities.

(w) Other Comprehensive Income: Other Comprehensive Income consists of net earnings and unrealized gains from cash flow hedges, net of tax.
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) contained in the shareholders’ equity section of the Consolidated Balance Sheets was $0.1 million as of
September 29, 2018, and ($35 thousand) as of September 30, 2017, and was related to interest rate swap agreements.

(x) Yarn and Cotton Procurements: We have a supply agreement with Parkdale to supply our yarn requirements until December 31, 2018. Under the
supply agreement, we purchase from Parkdale all of our yarn requirements for use in our manufacturing operations, excluding yarns that Parkdale does not
manufacture or cannot manufacture due to temporary capacity constraints. The purchase price of yarn is based upon the cost of cotton plus a fixed
conversion cost. Thus, we are subject to the commodity risk of cotton prices and cotton price movements, which could result in unfavorable yarn pricing for
us. We fix the cotton prices as a component of the purchase price of yarn, pursuant to the supply agreement, in advance of the shipment of finished yarn
from Parkdale. Prices are set according to prevailing prices, as reported by the New York Cotton Exchange, at the time we elect to fix specific cotton prices.

(y) Derivatives: From time to time we enter into forward contracts, option agreements or other instruments to limit our exposure to fluctuations in interest
rates and raw material prices with respect to long-term debt and cotton purchases, respectively. We determine at inception whether the derivative
instruments will be accounted for as hedges.

We account for derivatives and hedging activities in accordance with FASB Codification No. 815, Derivatives and Hedging (“ASC 815”), as amended.
ASC 815 establishes accounting and reporting standards for derivative instruments, including certain derivative instruments embedded in other contracts
and hedging activities. It requires the recognition of all derivative instruments as either assets or liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets and
measurement of those instruments at fair value. The accounting treatment of changes in fair value depends upon whether or not a derivative instrument is
designated as a hedge and, if so, the type of hedge. We include all derivative instruments at fair value in our Consolidated Balance Sheets. For derivative
financial instruments related to the production of our products that are not designated as a hedge, we recognize the changes in fair value in cost of sales. For
derivatives designated as cash flow hedges, to the extent effective, we recognize the changes in fair value in accumulated other comprehensive income
(loss) until the hedged item is recognized in income. Any ineffectiveness in the hedge is recognized immediately in income in the line item that is consistent
with the nature of the hedged risk. We formally document all relationships between hedging instruments and hedged items, as well as risk management
objectives and strategies for undertaking various hedge transactions, at the inception of the transactions.

We are exposed to counterparty credit risks on all derivatives. Because these amounts are recorded at fair value, the full amount of our exposure is the
carrying value of these instruments. We only enter into derivative transactions with well-established institutions and therefore we believe the counterparty
credit risk is minimal.

From time to time, we may purchase cotton option contracts to economically hedge the risk related to market fluctuations in the cost of cotton used in our
operations. We do not receive hedge accounting treatment for these derivatives. As such, the realized gains and losses associated with them were recorded
within cost of goods sold on the Consolidated Statement of Operations. There were no significant raw material option agreements that were purchased
during fiscal years 2018 or 2017.
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The table below indicates information on our outstanding interest rate swap agreements during fiscal years 2018 and 2017:

 Effective Date  
Notational
Amount  LIBOR Rate  Maturity Date

Interest Rate Swap September 9, 2013  $15 million  1.6480%  September 11, 2017
Interest Rate Swap September 19, 2013  $15 million  1.4490%  September 19, 2017
Interest Rate Swap July 19, 2017  $10 million  1.7400%  July 19, 2019
Interest Rate Swap July 19, 2017  $10 million  1.9900%  May 10, 2021
Interest Rate Swap July 25, 2018  $20 million  3.1800%  July 25, 2023

During fiscal years 2018 and 2017, these interest rate swap agreements had minimal ineffectiveness and were considered highly effective hedges.

The changes in fair value of the interest rate swap agreements resulted in AOCI gains, net of taxes, of $0.2 million and $0.1 million for the years ended
September 29, 2018, and September 30, 2017, respectively. See Note 16(d) - Derivatives for further details.

(z) Equity Method Accounting: We apply the equity method of accounting for investments in companies where we have less than a 50% ownership
interest and over which we exert significant influence. We do not exercise control over these companies and do not have substantive participating rights. As
such, these entities are not considered variable interest entities. As of September 29, 2018, we own 31% of the outstanding capital stock in our Honduran
equity method investment.

(aa) Net Income Attributable to Non-Controlling Interest: The net income attributable to non-controlling interest represents the share of net income
allocated to members of our consolidated affiliates.

(ab) Business Combinations: Business combinations completed by Delta Apparel have been accounted for under the acquisition method of accounting.
The acquisition method requires the assets acquired and liabilities, including contingencies, to be recorded at the fair value determined at the acquisition
date and changes thereafter recorded in income. For significant acquisitions, we obtain independent third-party valuation studies for certain assets acquired
and liabilities assumed to assist us in determining the fair value. Goodwill represents the purchase price over the fair value of tangible and intangible assets
acquired and liabilities assumed. The results of acquired businesses are included in our results of operations from the date of acquisition.

(ac) Capital Leases: We classify leases as capital or operating leases in accordance with ASC 840 Leases. We account for a lease that transfers
substantially all of the benefits and risks incidental to ownership of property as a capital lease. At the inception of a capital lease, we record an asset and
payment obligation at an amount equal to the lesser of the present value of the minimum lease payments and the property's fair market value. All other
leases are accounted for as operating leases and the related lease payments are charged to expenses as incurred.

(ad) Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements:

In July 2015, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") No. 2015-11, Simplifying the
Measurement of Inventory, ("ASU 2015-11").  This guidance requires an entity to measure inventory at the lower of cost and net realizable value.
Previously, entities measured inventory at the lower of cost or market. ASU 2015-11 replaces market with net realizable value. Net realizable value is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less reasonably predictable costs of completion, disposal, and transportation.  Subsequent
measurement is unchanged for inventory measured under last-in, first-out or the retail inventory method.  ASU 2015-11 requires prospective adoption for
inventory measurements for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2016, and interim periods within those years for public business entities.  Early
application is permitted.  ASU 2015-11 was adopted in our fiscal year beginning October 1, 2017. The adoption of this standard did not have a material
impact on our Consolidated Financial Statements.

In September 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-16, Business Combinations (Topic 805): Simplifying the Accounting for Measurement-Period Adjustments.
ASU 2015-16 eliminates the requirement that an acquirer in a business combination account for measurement-period adjustments retrospectively. Instead,
an acquirer will recognize a measurement-period adjustment during the period in which it determines the amount of the adjustment. The guidance is
effective for public business entities for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2015, and interim periods within those fiscal years.  ASU 2015-16 was
adopted in the interim period beginning April 1, 2018 (the first interim period in which we would have recorded measurement-period adjustments, if
necessary, since the ASU became effective).  The adoption of this standard did not have an impact on our Consolidated Financial Statements.

In March 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-05, Income Taxes (Topic 740), Amendment to SEC Paragraphs Pursuant to SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No.
118 (SEC Update), ("ASU-2015-05"). ASU 2018-05 amends certain Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) guidance under Topic 740 related to the
Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017. It also adds guidance to the FASB Accounting Standards Codification that answers questions regarding how certain income
tax effects from the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 should be applied to companies’ financial statements. The guidance lists which financial statement
disclosures are required under a measurement period approach. ASU 2018-05 was effective immediately and we have made the disclosures required by
ASU 2018-05 in Note 10—Income Taxes.
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(ae) Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted:

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, ("ASU 2014-09"). This new guidance requires an entity to
recognize the amount of revenue to which it expects to be entitled for the transfer of promised goods or services to customers. ASU 2014-09 will replace
most existing revenue recognition guidance in U.S. GAAP when it becomes effective. ASU 2014-09 is effective for annual periods beginning after
December 15, 2017, for public business entities and permits the use of either the retrospective or cumulative effect transition method. Early application is
permitted only for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2016. ASU 2014-09 will therefore be effective in our fiscal year beginning
September 30, 2018. We have evaluated the new standard against our existing accounting policies and practices, including reviewing standard purchase
orders, invoices, shipping terms, and reviewing contracts with customers. We expect that revenue for our primary revenue streams will be recognized at the
point in time which is similar to how we it is currently. We have not identified any information that would indicate that the new guidance will have a
material impact on our Consolidated Financial Statements. While we are substantially complete with the process of evaluating the impacts that will result
from the new guidance, our assessment will be finalized during our first quarter of fiscal year 2019. We expect to have enhanced disclosures related to
disaggregation of revenue sources and accounting policies beginning fiscal year 2019. Additionally, we will have changes to our Consolidated Balance
Sheets that will include presentation of allowances for sales incentive programs, discounts, markdowns, chargebacks, and returns as accrued liabilities
rather than as a reduction to accounts receivable, and the presentation of estimated cost of inventory associated with the allowance for sales returns within
other current assets rather than as a component of inventory. We will adopt the new standard in the first quarter of 2019 using the modified retrospective
transition method.

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, Leases, ("ASU 2016-02"). ASU 2016-02 requires lessees to recognize assets and liabilities for most
leases. All leases will be required to be recorded on the balance sheet with the exception of short-term leases. Early application is permitted. The guidance
must be adopted using a modified retrospective approach for leases that exist or are entered into after the beginning of the earliest comparative period in the
financial statements. ASU 2016-02 is effective for financial statements issued for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2018, and interim periods
within those annual periods. ASU 2016-02 will therefore be effective in our fiscal year beginning September 29, 2019. We are evaluating the effect that
ASU 2016-02 will have on our Consolidated Financial Statements and related disclosures. The Company has not yet selected a transition method.

In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-04, Intangibles - Goodwill and other (Topic 350), Simplifying the Test for Goodwill Impairment, ("ASU 2017-
04"). To simplify the subsequent measurement of goodwill, ASU 2017-04 eliminates Step 2 from the goodwill impairment test. In computing the implied
fair value of goodwill under Step 2, an entity had to perform procedures to determine the fair value at the impairment testing date of its assets and liabilities
(including unrecognized assets and liabilities) following the procedure that would be required in determining the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities
assumed in a business combination. Instead, under the amendments in ASU 2017-04, an entity should perform its annual, or interim, goodwill impairment
test by comparing the fair value of a reporting unit with its carrying amount. An entity should recognize an impairment charge for the amount by which the
carrying amount exceeds the reporting unit’s fair value; however, the loss recognized should not exceed the total amount of goodwill allocated to that
reporting unit. Additionally, an entity should consider income tax effects from any tax deductible goodwill on the carrying amount of the reporting unit
when measuring the goodwill impairment loss, if applicable. ASU 2017-04 also eliminates the requirements for any reporting unit with a zero or negative
carrying amount to perform a qualitative assessment and, if it fails that qualitative test, to perform Step 2 of the goodwill impairment test. Therefore, the
same impairment assessment applies to all reporting units. An entity is required to disclose the amount of goodwill allocated to each reporting unit with a
zero or negative carrying amount of net assets. An entity still has the option to perform the qualitative assessment for a reporting unit to determine if the
quantitative impairment test is necessary. ASU 2017-04 is effective for financial statements issued for annual and interim periods beginning after December
15, 2019. ASU 2017-04 will therefore be effective in our fiscal year beginning September 29, 2019. We are evaluating the effect that ASU 2017-04 will
have on our Consolidated Financial Statements and related disclosures.

In August 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-12, Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815): Targeted Improvements to Accounting for Hedging Activities,
("ASU 2017-12"). The amendments in ASU 2017-12 apply to any entity that elects to apply hedge accounting in accordance with U.S. GAAP. ASU 2017-
12 permits more flexibility in hedging interest rate risk for both variable rate and fixed rate financial instruments, and the ability to hedge risk components
for nonfinancial hedges. In addition, this ASU requires an entity to present the earnings effect of hedging the instrument in the same income statement line
in which the earnings effect of the hedge item is reported. In addition, companies no longer need to separately measure and report hedge ineffectiveness and
can use an amortization approach or continue with mark-to-market accounting. ASU 2016-02 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2018, and interim periods within those annual periods. ASU 2016-02 will therefore be effective in our fiscal year beginning
September 30, 2018. We are evaluating the effect that ASU 2017-12 will have on our Consolidated Financial Statements and related disclosures and do not
believe it will have a material impact.

NOTE 3—ACQUISITIONS

On March 9, 2018, our Art Gun, LLC subsidiary purchased substantially all of the assets of Teeshirt Ink, Inc. d/b/a DTG2Go, a premium provider of direct-
to-garment digital printed products. In connection with the transaction, we changed the name of Art Gun, LLC to DTG2Go, LLC and now market the
consolidated digital print business under the DTG2Go name. We believe the DTG2Go acquisition
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makes us a clear leader in the direct-to-garment digital print and fulfillment marketplace and the acquisition accelerated our geographic expansion plans for
this business. Following the acquisition, the integrated business operated from two locations in Florida and a location in Nevada serving the western United
States. In addition, in May we opened a digital print facility at our Soffe campus in North Carolina to service the northeastern region. With this acquisition,
DTG2Go nearly doubled its revenue and capacity, broadened its product line into posters and stickers, and further enhanced service levels with quicker
delivery capabilities in the United States and to over 100 countries worldwide.

We have included the financial results of the acquired entity since the date of the acquisition in our Delta Group segment. It is not practicable to disclose the
revenue and income of the recent acquisition since the acquisition date, as we have integrated the DTG2Go and Art Gun businesses together during the
current period.

The DTG2Go acquisition purchase price consisted of $16.6 million in cash and additional payments valued at $8.7 million contingent on the combined
business’s achievement of certain performance targets related to sales and earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization ("EBITDA") for the
period from April 1, 2018, through September 29, 2018, as well as for our fiscal years 2019, 2020, 2021 and 2022. The cash portion of the purchase price
included: (i) a payment at closing of $11.4 million, less the amount of any indebtedness of the sellers with respect to any assets included in the transaction,
and (ii) two additional payments of $2.5 million, with the first payment subject to post-closing net working capital adjustments, paid on July 1, 2018, and
the second paid on September 9, 2018. As of September 29, 2018, all payments have been made in accordance with the acquisition agreement. The below
table represents the consideration paid:

Cash $ 11,350 
Deferred consideration 5,000 
Contingent consideration 8,700 
Working capital adjustment 252 
Total consideration $ 25,302 
 
During the fourth quarter, we completed the accounting for the acquisition. During the fiscal fourth quarter, we recorded measurement-period adjustments
of $2.8 million to contingent consideration and goodwill. The final allocation of consideration to the assets and liabilities are noted in the table below,
which includes measurement-period adjustments recorded in our third and fourth quarters of fiscal year 2018. The total amount of goodwill is expected to
be deductible for tax purposes.

 
Allocation as of
March 31, 2018  

Measurement
Period

Adjustments  

Allocation as of
September 29,

2018
Accounts receivable $ 822  $ (34)  $ 788 
Other assets —  102  102 
Inventory 1,159  (13)  1,146 
Fixed assets —  150  150 
Assets held for sale 5,000    5,000 
Goodwill 9,800  3,500  13,300 
Intangible assets 5,200  400  5,600 
Accounts payable (5,981)  5,210  (771)
Other liabilities —  (13)  (13)
Contingent consideration (4,650)  (4,050)  (8,700)

Consideration paid $ 11,350  $ 5,252  $ 16,602 

We accounted for the DTG2Go acquisition pursuant to ASC 805, Business Combinations, with the purchase price allocated based upon fair value. The
methods used to determine the fair value assigned to the fixed and intangible assets in the table above fall into Level 3 inputs as defined by FASB
Codification No. 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures. The fair value of the fixed assets acquired were determined using the market approach,
based on analysis of sales and offerings for assets that are considered similar to the acquired assets. The fair value of the acquired customer relationships
intangible assets was valued using discounted cash flows in the multi-period excess earnings method. Assets held for sale include property, plant, and
equipment of $5.0 million that were acquired as part of the DTG2Go acquisition. Subsequently, a capital lease arrangement was entered into to finance the
purchase of the equipment. The capital lease is for $5.0 million and the lease term is thirty-six months. No gain or loss was recorded in conjunction with
this lease transaction.
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NOTE 4—DIVESTITURES

Junkfood Divestiture

On March 31, 2017, we completed the sale of our Junkfood business to JMJD Ventures, LLC for $27.9 million. The business sold consisted of vintage-
inspired Junk Food branded and private label products sold in the United States and internationally. We received cash at closing of $25.0 million and
recorded a $2.9 million note receivable with payments due between June 30, 2017, and March 30, 2018. The note receivable was amended on June 29,
2017, to revise the repayment schedule for payments to be made between September 29, 2017, and March 30, 2018. As of September 29, 2018, all
payments related to the sale of our Junkfood business have been received.

We realized a $1.3 million pre-tax gain on the sale of the Junkfood business resulting from the proceeds of $27.9 million less the costs of assets sold and
other expenses, and less direct selling costs associated with the transaction. The pre-tax gain was recorded in the Condensed Consolidated Statement of
Operations and is included in Other income, net.

NOTE 5—INVENTORIES

Inventories, net of reserves of $10.5 million and $9.8 million as of September 29, 2018, and September 30, 2017, respectively, consist of the following (in
thousands):

 September 29, 2018  September 30, 2017

Raw materials $ 9,641  $ 8,973 
Work in process 18,327  18,543 
Finished goods 147,015  147,035 
 $ 174,983  $ 174,551 

Raw materials include finished yarn and direct materials for the Delta Group, undecorated garments for the DTG2Go business and direct embellishment
materials for the Salt Life Group.

NOTE 6—PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment consist of the following (in thousands, except economic life data):

 
Estimated
Useful Life  September 29, 2018  September 30, 2017

Land and land improvements 25 years  $ 569  $ 572 
Buildings 20 years  3,096  2,989 
Machinery and equipment 10 years  90,565  75,838 
Computers and software 3-10 years  20,724  20,128 
Furniture and fixtures 7 years  3,073  2,251 
Leasehold improvements 3-10 years  5,702  5,275 
Vehicles and related equipment 5 years  754  791 
Construction in progress N/A  1,649  3,035 
   126,132  110,879 
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization   (74,018)  (68,173)

   $ 52,114  $ 42,706 
 
The acquisition cost of machinery and equipment acquired under capital leases were $16.6 million and $2.5 million as of September 29, 2018, and
September 30, 2017, respectively.
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NOTE 7—GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Goodwill and components of intangible assets consist of the following (in thousands):

 September 29, 2018  September 30, 2017  

 Cost
Accumulated
Amortization Net Value  Cost

Accumulated
Amortization Net Value

Economic
Life

         

Goodwill $ 33,217 $ — $ 33,217  $ 19,917 $ — $ 19,917 N/A

         

Intangibles:         

Tradename/trademarks $ 16,090 $ (2,736) $ 13,354  $ 16,090 $ (2,193) $ 13,897 20 - 30 yrs

Customer relationships 4,500 (253) 4,247  — — — 20 yrs

Technology 1,720 (1,105) 615  1,220 (947) 273 10 yrs

License Agreements 2,100 (527) 1,573  2,100 (423) 1,677 15 - 30 yrs

Non-compete agreements 1,637 (928) 709  1,037 (733) 304 4 – 8.5 yrs

Total intangibles $ 26,047 $ (5,549) $ 20,498  $ 20,447 $ (4,296) $ 16,151  

Goodwill represents the acquired goodwill net of the cumulative impairment losses recorded in fiscal year 2011 of $0.6 million. The goodwill recorded on
our financial statements is included in both the Delta Group and Salt Life Group segments. The Delta Group segment includes $13.3 million of goodwill,
and the Salt Life Group segment includes $19.9 million.

On March 9, 2018, we acquired substantially all of the assets of Teeshirt Ink, Inc. d/b/a DTG2Go. See Note 3—Acquisitions. We have identified certain
intangible assets associated with the acquisition, including technology, customer relationships, non-compete agreements and goodwill. During the fourth
quarter, we completed the accounting for the acquisition. We recorded measurement period adjustments to increase the residual value of goodwill by $3.5
million and the fair value of intangible assets by $0.4 million. After recording these measurement period adjustments, the residual value of goodwill
associated with DTG2Go was $13.3 million, and the fair value of technology, customer relationships, and non-compete agreements at $5.6 million.

Depending on the type of intangible assets, amortization is recorded under Cost of Goods Sold or SG&A expenses. Amortization expense for intangible
assets was $1.3 million for the year ended September 29, 2018, and $1.1 million for the year ended September 30, 2017. Amortization expense is estimated
to be approximately $1.5 million for fiscal year 2019, $1.4 million for fiscal year 2020, and approximately $1.3 million for each of fiscal years 2021 and
2022.

NOTE 8—ACCRUED EXPENSES

Accrued expenses consist of the following (in thousands):

 September 29, 2018  September 30, 2017

Accrued employee compensation and benefits $ 11,138  $ 12,683 
Taxes accrued and withheld 882  931 
Accrued insurance 162  126 
Accrued advertising 286  524 
Accrued royalties 16  113 
Accrued commissions 484  327 
Accrued freight 1,023  1,060 
Other 2,751  1,940 
 $ 16,742  $ 17,704 
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NOTE 9—LONG-TERM DEBT

Long-term debt consists of the following (in thousands):

 
September 29, 

 2018  
September 30, 

 2017

Revolving U.S. credit facility, interest at base rate or adjusted LIBOR rate plus an applicable margin (interest at
4.1% on September 29, 2018) due May 2021 $ 85,746  $ 74,608 
Revolving credit facility with Banco Ficohsa, a Honduran bank, interest at 7.4% due August 2020 (denominated in
U.S. dollars) 4,958  4,975 
Term loan with Banco Ficohsa, a Honduran bank, interest at 7%, monthly installments beginning March, 2011
through March 2018 (denominated in U.S. dollars) —  486 
Term loan with Banco Ficohsa, a Honduran bank, interest at 6.0%, monthly installments beginning November 2014
through December 2020 (denominated in U.S. dollars) 1,400  2,000 
Term loan with Banco Ficohsa, a Honduran bank, interest at 6.0%, monthly installments beginning June 2016
through April 2022 (denominated in U.S. dollars) 1,067  1,358 
Term loan with Banco Ficohsa, a Honduran bank, interest at 6.0%, monthly installments beginning October 2017
through September 2021 (denominated in U.S. dollars) 3,018  4,083 
Salt Life acquisition promissory note, imputed interest at 3.62%, quarterly payments beginning September 2016
through June 2019 2,471  5,344 
 98,660  92,854 
Less current installments (6,577)  (7,548)

Long-term debt, excluding current installments $ 92,083  $ 85,306 

On May 10, 2016, we entered into a Fifth Amended and Restated Credit Agreement (the “Amended Credit Agreement”) with Wells Fargo Bank, National
Association (“Wells Fargo”), as Administrative Agent, the Sole Lead Arranger and the Sole Book Runner, and the financial institutions named therein as
Lenders, which are Wells Fargo, PNC Bank, National Association and Regions Bank. Our subsidiaries M.J. Soffe, LLC, Culver City Clothing Company
(f/k/a Junkfood Clothing Company), Salt Life, LLC, and DTG2Go, LLC (f/k/a Art Gun, LLC) (collectively, the "Borrowers"), are co-borrowers under the
Amended Credit Agreement. On November 27, 2017, the Borrowers entered into a First Amendment to the Fifth Amended and Restated Credit Agreement
with Wells Fargo and the other lenders set forth therein (the “First Amendment”).

The First Amendment amends the definition of Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio within the Amended Credit Agreement to permit up to $10 million of the
proceeds received from the March 31, 2017, sale of certain assets of the Junkfood business to be used towards share repurchases for up to one year from the
date of that transaction. In addition, the definition of Permitted Purchase Money Indebtedness is amended to extend the time period within which the
Borrowers may enter into capital leases and to increase the aggregate principal amount of such leases into which the Borrowers may enter to up to $15
million. The definition of Permitted Investments is also amended to permit the Borrowers to make investments in entities that are not a party to the
Amended Credit Agreement in an aggregate amount of up to $2 million. The First Amendment also allows the change in the name of our Junkfood
Clothing Company subsidiary to Culver City Clothing Company. There were no changes to the Amended Credit Agreement related to interest rate,
borrowing capacity, or maturity.

On March 9, 2018, the Borrowers entered into a Consent and Second Amendment to the Fifth Amended and Restated Credit Agreement with Wells Fargo
and the other lenders set forth therein (the “Second Amendment”).

Pursuant to the Second Amendment, Wells Fargo and the other lenders set forth therein consented to Art Gun, LLC’s acquisition of substantially all of the
assets of TeeShirt Ink Inc. d/b/a DTG2Go. The Second Amendment also: (i) revises certain provisions in the Amended Credit Agreement relating to our
ability to pay cash dividends or distributions to shareholders or to repurchase shares of our common stock so that the effects of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of
2017 do not negatively impact our ability to make such dividends or distributions or to repurchase shares of our common stock during our 2018 fiscal year;
(ii) amends the definition of Permitted Investments in the Amended Credit Agreement to allow investments in the Honduras partnership (as defined in the
Amended Credit Agreement) in an aggregate original principal amount not to exceed $6 million; (iii) amends the definition of Permitted Purchase Money
Indebtedness in the Amended Credit Agreement to increase the aggregate principal amount of capital leases into which we may enter to up to $25 million;
(iv) permits the name change of Art Gun, LLC to DTG2Go, LLC; and (v) adds new definitions relating to the DTG2Go acquisition. There were no changes
to the Amended Credit Agreement related to interest rate, borrowing capacity, or maturity.

The Amended Credit Agreement allows us to borrow up to $145 million (subject to borrowing base limitations), including a maximum of $25 million in
letters of credit. Provided that no event of default exists, we have the option to increase the maximum credit to $200 million (subject to borrowing base
limitations), conditioned upon the Administrative Agent's ability to secure additional commitments and customary closing conditions. The credit facility
matures on May 10, 2021.
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Our U.S. revolving credit facility is secured by a first-priority lien on substantially all of the real and personal property of Delta Apparel, Junkfood, Soffe,
Salt Life, and Art Gun. All loans bear interest at rates, at the Company's option, based on either (a) an adjusted LIBOR rate plus an applicable margin or (b)
a base rate plus an applicable margin, with the base rate equal to the greater of (i) the federal funds rate plus 0.5%, (ii) the LIBOR rate plus 1.0%, or (iii) the
prime rate announced by Wells Fargo, National Association. The facility requires monthly installment payments of approximately $0.2 million in
connection with fixed asset amortizations, and these amounts reduce the amount of availability under the facility. Annual facility fees are 0.25% or 0.375%
(subject to average excess availability) of the amount by which $145 million exceeds the average daily principal balance of the outstanding loans and letters
of credit accommodations. The annual facility fees are charged monthly based on the principal balances during the immediately preceding month.

At September 29, 2018, we had $85.7 million outstanding under our U.S. revolving credit facility at an average interest rate of 4.1%, and had the ability to
borrow an additional $25.9 million. This credit facility includes the financial covenant that if the amount of availability falls below the threshold amounts
set forth in the Amended Credit Agreement, our Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio (“FCCR”) (as defined in the Amended Credit Agreement) for the preceding
12-month period must not be less than 1.1 to 1.0. We were not subject to the FCCR covenant as of September 29, 2018, because our availability was above
the minimum required under the Amended Credit Agreement. At September 29, 2018, our FCCR was above the required 1.1 to 1.0 ratio and, therefore, we
would have satisfied our financial covenant had we been subject to it. In addition, the credit facility includes customary conditions to funding,
representations and warranties, covenants, and events of default. The covenants include, among other things, limitations on asset sales, consolidations,
mergers, liens, indebtedness, loans, investments, guaranties, acquisitions, dividends, stock repurchases, and transactions with affiliates.

Proceeds of the loans made pursuant to the Amended Credit Agreement may be used for permitted acquisitions (as defined in the Amended Credit
Agreement), general operating expenses, working capital, other corporate purposes, and to finance credit facility fees and expenses. Pursuant to the terms of
our credit facility, we are allowed to make cash dividends and stock repurchases if (i) as of the date of the payment or repurchase and after giving effect to
the payment or repurchase, we have availability on that date of not less than 15% of the lesser of the borrowing base or the commitment, and average
availability for the 30-day period immediately preceding that date of not less than 15% of the lesser of the borrowing base or the commitment; and (ii) the
aggregate amount of dividends and stock repurchases after May 10, 2016, does not exceed $10 million plus 50% of our cumulative net income (as defined
in the Amended Credit Agreement) from the first day of the third quarter of fiscal year 2016 to the date of determination. At September 29, 2018, and
September 30, 2017, there was $14.7 million and $7.7 million, respectively, of retained earnings free of restrictions to make cash dividends or stock
repurchases.

The Amended Credit Agreement contains a subjective acceleration clause and a “springing” lockbox arrangement (as defined in FASB Codification No.
470, Debt ("ASC 470")), whereby remittances from customers will be forwarded to our general bank account and will not reduce the outstanding debt until
and unless a specified event or an event of default occurs. Pursuant to ASC 470, we classify borrowings under the facility as long-term debt.

In August 2013, we acquired Salt Life and issued two promissory notes in the aggregate principal amount of $22.0 million, which included a one-time
installment of $9.0 million that was paid as required on September 30, 2014, and quarterly installments commencing on March 31, 2015, with the final
installment due on June 30, 2019. The promissory notes are zero-interest notes and state that interest will be imputed as required under Section 1274 of the
Internal Revenue Code. We have imputed interest at 1.92% and 3.62% on the promissory notes that matured on June 30, 2016, and will mature on June 30,
2019, respectively. At September 29, 2018, the discounted value of the promissory note was $2.5 million.

Since March 2011, we have entered into loans and a revolving credit facility with Banco Ficohsa, a Honduran bank, in order to finance both the operations
and capital expansion of our Honduran facilities. Each of these loans is secured by a first-priority lien on the assets of our Honduran operations, and is not
guaranteed by our U.S. entities. These loans are denominated in U.S. dollars and the carrying value of the debt approximates the fair value. The revolving
credit facility requires minimum payments during each six-month period of the 18-month term; however, the loan agreement permits additional drawdowns
to the extent payments are made and certain objective covenants are met. The current revolving Honduran debt, by its nature, is not long-term, as it requires
scheduled payments each six months. However, as the loan permits us to re-borrow funds up to the amount repaid, subject to certain covenants, and we
intend to re-borrow funds, subject to the objective covenants, the amounts have been classified as long-term debt. Information about these loans and the
outstanding balance as of September 29, 2018, is listed as part of the long-term debt schedule above.

The aggregate maturities of debt at September 29, 2018, are as follows (in thousands):

Fiscal Year Amount 
2019 $ 6,577 
2020 9,064 
2021 3,529 
2022 79,490 
2023 — 
Thereafter — 
 $ 98,660 
 

F-18



Table of Contents
 

NOTE 10—INCOME TAXES

On December 22, 2017, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 (the “New Tax Legislation”) was enacted. The New Tax Legislation significantly revised the
U.S. corporate income tax code by, among other things, lowering federal corporate income tax rates, implementing a modified territorial tax system and
imposing a repatriation tax on deemed repatriated cumulative earnings of foreign subsidiaries. The New Tax Legislation creates a new requirement that
certain income earned by controlled foreign corporations (“CFCs”) must be included currently in the gross income of the CFCs’ U.S. shareholder.

Global intangible low-taxed income (“GILTI”) is the excess of the shareholder’s net CFC-tested income over the net deemed tangible income return.  We
are continuing to evaluate the GILTI provision of the New Tax Legislation and the application of ASC 740, as it is not applicable until our 2019 fiscal year.
Therefore, we have not made any adjustments related to potential GILTI tax in our financial statements.

In the quarter ended December 30, 2017, when the New Tax Legislation was enacted, we made reasonable estimates of the effects on our existing deferred
tax balances and the one-time transition tax, recording $10.6 million of tax expense based on an estimate of our total earnings and profits (E&P) from our
foreign subsidiaries which were previously deferred from U.S. taxes. During the quarter ended September 29, 2018, the provisional amount was adjusted by
$0.1 million to record $10.7 million based on our E&P study. The $10.7 million of transition tax remains provisional as we continue to refine our
calculations during the measurement period. We do not expect the changes to the amount recorded to be material. This will be paid over eight years. We
intend to reinvest all of our unremitted earnings of our foreign subsidiaries and therefore, outside of the transition tax mentioned previously, we have
provided no provision for income taxes which may result from withholding taxes and/or other outside basis differences.  We believe that the determination
of such income taxes is impracticable. We anticipate that the benefit resulting from the reduction of the federal tax rate from 34% to 21% will offset the
future payments of the transition tax, resulting in minimal cash flow impact. Excluding the effect of this discrete item, the effective tax rate on operations
for the fiscal year ended September 29, 2018, was a benefit of 1.7%. This compares to an effective income tax rate of 5.9% for the fiscal year ended
September 30, 2017.

The provision for income taxes consists of the following (in thousands):

 Period ended

 September 29, 2018  September 30, 2017

Current:    
Federal $ 4,629  $ 215 
State 16  47 
Foreign 121  127 

Total current $ 4,766  $ 389 
Deferred:    

Federal $ 5,927  $ (112)
State (233)  380 

Total deferred 5,694  268 
Provision for income taxes $ 10,460  $ 657 

For financial reporting purposes our income before provision for income taxes includes the following components (in thousands):

 Period ended

 September 29, 2018  September 30, 2017

United States, net of loss attributable to non-controlling interest $ 156  $ 1,767 
Foreign 11,534  9,401 
 $ 11,690  $ 11,168 
 

The change in the federal statutory rate from 34% to 21% as a result of the New Tax Legislation is effective as of December 22, 2017, in our fiscal year
2018. As such, the blended federal statutory tax rate for the fiscal year was 24%. We remeasured our deferred tax assets and liabilities based on an
estimated scheduling of when we anticipate these amounts will reverse and by applying estimated rates based on the period in which we believe they will
reverse. The amount of expense related to the remeasurement of our deferred tax balance was approximately $0.6 million.

We benefit from having income in foreign jurisdictions that are either exempt from income taxes or have tax rates that are lower than those in the United
States. Our annual income tax rate for the fiscal year ending September 29, 2018, excluding the discrete tax expense associated with the New Tax
Legislation, was a benefit of 1.7%. However, changes in the mix of U.S. taxable income compared to profits
 

F-19



Table of Contents
 

in tax-free or lower-tax jurisdictions can have a significant impact on our overall effective tax rate. In addition, the impact of the New Tax Legislation may
differ from our initial provisional estimates, possibly materially, due to, among other things, changes in interpretations and assumptions made regarding the
New Tax Legislation, guidance that may be issued and actions we may take as a result of the New Tax Legislation.

A reconciliation between actual provision for income taxes and the provision for income taxes computed using the federal statutory income tax rate of
24.25% for fiscal year 2018 and 34.0% for fiscal year 2017 is as follows (in thousands):

 Period ended

 September 29, 2018  September 30, 2017

Income tax expense at the statutory rate of 24.25% and 34.0% $ 2,861  $ 3,797 
State income tax benefit, net of federal income tax effect 16  (80)
Impact of Federal rate change 624  — 
Federal transition tax 10,039  — 
Impact of state rate changes (236)  115 
Rate difference and nondeductible items in foreign jurisdictions —  33 
Impact of foreign earnings in tax-free zone (2,676)  (3,052)
Valuation allowance adjustments —  362 
Nondeductible compensation —  — 
Nondeductible amortization and other permanent differences (163)  (496)
Other (5)  (22)

Provision for income taxes $ 10,460  $ 657 

Significant components of our deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows (in thousands):

 September 29, 2018  September 30, 2017

Deferred tax assets:    
Federal net operating loss carryforwards $ —  $ 2,902 
State net operating loss carryforwards 1,870  1,573 
Derivative — interest rate contracts —  21 
Alternative minimum tax credit carryforward 397  404 
Inventories and reserves 3,277  3,681 
Accrued compensation and benefits 1,881  3,139 
Receivable allowances and reserves 371  543 
Other 67  98 

Gross deferred tax assets 7,863  12,361 
Less valuation allowance — state net operating loss (493)  (493)

Net deferred tax assets 7,370  11,868 
    

Deferred tax liabilities:    
Depreciation (5,459)  (3,501)
Goodwill and intangibles (2,529)  (3,319)
Derivative — interest rate contracts (46)  — 
Other (94)  (46)

Gross deferred tax liabilities (8,128)  (6,866)

Net deferred tax (liability) asset (758)  5,002 

As of September 30, 2017, we had federal net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $8.5 million. The deferred tax assets resulting from federal net
operating losses for September 30, 2017, was $2.9 million. As of September 29, 2018, there were no federal net operating loss carryforwards, as these were
utilized in connection with settling the transition tax.

As of September 29, 2018, and September 30, 2017, we had state net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $42.7 million and $41.6 million,
respectively. These carryforwards expire at various intervals from 2019 through 2036. Our deferred tax asset related to
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state net operating loss carryforwards is reduced by a valuation allowance to result in deferred tax assets we consider more likely than not to be realized.

For both federal and state purposes, the ultimate realization of deferred tax assets depends upon the generation of future taxable income or tax planning
strategies during the periods in which those temporary differences become deductible or when the carryforwards are available.

FASB Codification No. 740, Income Taxes (“ASC 740”) requires that a position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return be recognized in the financial
statements when it is more likely than not (i.e., a likelihood of more than fifty percent) that the position would be sustained upon examination by tax
authorities. A recognized tax position is then measured at the largest amount of benefit that is greater than 50% likely of being realized upon ultimate
settlement. Accrued interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits would also be recorded. We did not have any material unrecognized tax
benefits as of September 29, 2018, or September 30, 2017.

We file income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction and various state, local and foreign jurisdictions. Tax years 2014, 2015 and 2016, according to
statute and with few exceptions, remain open to examination by various federal, state, local and foreign jurisdictions.

NOTE 11—LEASES

We have several non-cancelable leases primarily related to buildings, machinery, office equipment and computer systems. Certain land and building leases
have renewal options generally for periods ranging from 5 to 10 years.

Future minimum lease payments under non-cancelable leases as of September 29, 2018, were as follows (in thousands):

Fiscal Year Amount 
2019 $ 13,209 
2020 11,795 
2021 8,637 
2022 6,264 
2023 4,929 
Thereafter 12,852 
 $ 57,686 

Rent expense for all operating leases was $9.9 million and $8.8 million for fiscal years 2018 and 2017, respectively.

NOTE 12—EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

We sponsor and maintain a 401(k) retirement savings plan (the “401(k) Plan”) for our employees who meet certain requirements. The 401(k) Plan permits
participants to make pre-tax contributions by salary reduction pursuant to Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code, as well as a Roth Plan that allows
for after tax contributions. The 401(k) Plan provides for us to make a guaranteed match of a defined portion of the employee’s contributions. During each of
fiscal years 2018 and 2017 we contributed approximately $0.9 million to the 401(k) Plan.

We provide post-retirement life insurance benefits for certain retired employees. The plan is noncontributory and is unfunded, and therefore, benefits and
expenses are paid from our general assets as they are incurred. All of the employees in the plan are fully vested and the plan was closed to new employees
in 1990. The discount rate used in determining the liability was 6.0% for fiscal years 2018 and 2017. The following table presents the benefit obligation,
which is included in accrued expenses in the accompanying balance sheets (in thousands).

 September 29, 2018  September 30, 2017

Balance at beginning of year $ 343  $ 344 
Interest expense 3  5 
Benefits paid (34)  (6)
Adjustment 1  — 
Balance at end of year $ 313  $ 343 

NOTE 13—STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

On February 4, 2015, our shareholders re-approved the Delta Apparel, Inc. 2010 Stock Plan ("2010 Stock Plan") that was originally approved by our
shareholders on November 11, 2010. The re-approval of the 2010 Stock Plan, including the material terms of the performance goals included in the 2010
Stock Plan, enabled us to continue to grant equity incentive compensation awards that are structured in a manner intended to qualify as tax deductible,
performance-based compensation under Section 162(m) of the Internal
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Revenue Code of 1986, as applicable. The New Tax Legislation changed several conclusions under Section 162(m), including that there will no longer be a
performance-based compensation exemption, and the Chief Financial Officer position is now included in the applicable calculation along with the next
three highest-paid officers. This reform impacts our 2018 tax year.

Since November 2010, no additional awards have been or will be granted under either the Delta Apparel Stock Option Plan ("Option Plan") or the Delta
Apparel Incentive Stock Award Plan ("Award Plan"); instead, all stock awards have been and will continue to be granted under the 2010 Stock Plan.

We account for these plans pursuant to ASC 718, SAB 107 and SAB 110. Shares are generally issued from treasury stock upon exercise of the options or
the vesting of the restricted stock units and performance units. We early adopted ASU 2016-09 in our fiscal year beginning October 2, 2016. See Note 2—
Significant Accounting Policies (r) Stock-Based Compensation for further detail.

Compensation expense is recorded on the selling, general and administrative expense line item in our Consolidated Statements of Operations over the
vesting periods. Total employee stock-based compensation expense for fiscal years 2018 and 2017 was $2.6 million and $2.3 million, respectively.
Associated with the compensation cost are income tax benefits recognized of $0.1 million and $0.9 million in fiscal years 2018 and 2017, respectively.

2010 Stock Plan

Under the 2010 Stock Plan, the Compensation Committee of our Board of Directors has the authority to determine the employees and directors to whom
awards may be granted and the size and type of each award and manner in which such awards will vest. The awards available consist of stock options, stock
appreciation rights, restricted stock, restricted stock units, performance stock, performance units, and other stock and cash awards. The aggregate number of
shares of common stock that may be delivered under the 2010 Stock Plan is 500,000 plus any shares of common stock subject to outstanding awards under
the Option Plan or Award Plan that are subsequently forfeited or terminated for any reason before being exercised. The 2010 Stock Plan limits the number
of shares that may be covered by awards to any participant in a given calendar year and also limits the aggregate awards of restricted stock, restricted stock
units and performance stock granted in any given calendar year. If a participant dies or becomes disabled (as defined in the 2010 Stock Plan) while
employed by or serving as a director, all unvested awards become fully vested. The Compensation Committee is authorized to establish the terms and
conditions of awards granted under the 2010 Stock Plan, to establish, amend and rescind any rules and regulations relating to the 2010 Stock Plan, and to
make any other determinations that it deems necessary.

Stock Options

No stock options were granted during fiscal year 2018. All remaining outstanding options expired during the quarter ended March 31, 2018, and
accordingly were forfeited.

A summary of the stock option activity during the periods ended September 29, 2018, and September 30, 2017, is as follows:

 Fiscal Year Ended

 September 29, 2018  September 30, 2017

 Shares

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price  Shares

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price

Stock options outstanding, beginning of period 10,000 $ 13.07  10,000 $ 13.07 
Stock options granted — —  — — 
Stock options exercised — —  — — 
Stock options forfeited (10,000) 13.07  — — 
Stock options outstanding, end of period — $ —  10,000 $ 13.07 
Stock options outstanding and exercisable, end of period — $ —  10,000 $ 13.07 
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Restricted Stock Units and Performance Units

The following table summarizes the restricted stock unit and performance unit award activity during the periods ended September 29, 2018, and September
30, 2017:

 Fiscal Year Ended

 September 29, 2018  September 30, 2017

 Number of Units

Weighted
average grant

date fair
value  Number of Units

Weighted
average grant

date fair
value

Units outstanding, beginning of fiscal period 512,856 $ 13.09  585,638 $ 11.54 
Units granted 205,500 $ 20.57  126,000 $ 17.97 
Units issued (146,781) $ 12.89  (64,846) $ 11.14 
Units forfeited (39,075) $ 11.88  (133,936) $ 12.02 
Units outstanding, end of fiscal period 532,500 $ 16.12  512,856 $ 13.09 

During fiscal year 2018, restricted stock units and performance units, each consisting of 57,750 shares of our common stock, were granted and are eligible
to vest upon the filing of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ending September 28, 2019. One-half of the restricted stock units and one-half
of the performance units are payable in common stock and one-half are payable in cash.

During fiscal year 2018, restricted stock units representing 90,000 shares of our common stock were granted and are eligible to vest upon the filing of our
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ending October 3, 2020. These restricted stock units are payable in common stock.

During fiscal year 2018, restricted stock units and performance units representing 54,602 and 92,068 shares of our common stock, respectively, vested upon
the filing of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2017, and were issued in accordance with their respective
agreements. One-half of the restricted stock units were paid in common stock and one-half in cash. Of the performance units, 72,138 were paid in common
stock and 19,930 were paid in cash. In addition, restricted stock units and performance units representing 2,000 shares of our common stock vested and
were issued in accordance with their agreement. One-half of the restricted stock units and one-half of the performance units were paid in common stock and
one-half were paid in cash.

During fiscal year 2017, performance stock units representing 126,000 shares of our common stock were granted. Of these units, and subject to satisfaction
of the applicable performance criteria at target levels, 42,000 will vest with the filing of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for our fiscal year ended
September, 29, 2018, 42,000 will vest with the filing of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for our fiscal year ending September, 28, 2019, and 42,000 will
vest with the filing of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for our fiscal year ending October 3, 2020. Based upon the performance achieved for fiscal year
2018, 42,000 shares will vest with the filing of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for our fiscal year ended September 29, 2018.

During fiscal year 2017, restricted stock units and performance units representing 8,438 and 53,248 shares of our common stock, respectively, vested upon
the filing of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 1, 2016, and were issued in accordance with their respective agreements.
One-half of the restricted stock units were payable in common stock and one-half were payable in cash. All of the performance units were payable in
common stock.

During fiscal year 2017, in association with the sale of our Junkfood business (see Note 4—Divestitures), restricted stock units and performance units
representing 45,000 and 5,000 shares of our common stock, respectively, vested on an accelerated basis as a result of the sale of the Junkfood business and
were issued in accordance with their respective agreements. One-half of the performance units were payable in common stock and one-half were payable in
cash. Of the restricted stock units, 42,500 were payable in common stock and 2,500 were payable in cash. The $0.3 million expense related to the
accelerated vesting of equity awards in connection with the sale of the Junkfood business was recorded in the Gain on sale of business line item in our
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations.

As of September 29, 2018, there was $3.3 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested restricted stock units and performance units
under the 2010 Stock Plan. This cost is expected to be recognized over a period of 2.2 years years.
 

F-23



Table of Contents
 

The following table summarizes information about the unvested restricted stock units and performance units as of September 29, 2018.

Restricted Stock Units/Performance Units Number of Units
Average Market Price on

Date of Grant Vesting Date*

Fiscal Year 2015 Restricted Stock Units 95,000  $10.52 November 2018
Fiscal Year 2015 Restricted Stock Units 110,000  $10.73 November 2018

Fiscal Year 2017 Performance Units 42,000  $17.97 November 2018
Fiscal Year 2017 Performance Units 42,000  $17.97 November 2019
Fiscal Year 2017 Performance Units 42,000  $17.97 November 2020

Fiscal Year 2018 Restricted Stock Units 53,750  $21.51 November 2019
Fiscal Year 2018 Performance Units 53,750  $21.51 November 2019

Fiscal Year 2018 Restricted Stock Units 2,000  $17.97 November 2019
Fiscal Year 2018 Performance Units 2,000  $17.97 November 2019

Fiscal Year 2018 Restricted Stock Units 90,000  $19.52 November 2020

 532,500    
* These awards are eligible to vest upon the filing of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the applicable fiscal year, which is anticipated to be during the month and year
indicated in this column.

Option Plan

Prior to expiration of the Option Plan, the Compensation Committee of our Board of Directors had the discretion to grant options for up to 2,000,000 shares
of common stock to officers and key and middle-level executives for the purchase of our stock at prices not less than fifty percent of the fair market value of
the shares on the dates of grant, with an exercise term (as determined by the Compensation Committee) not to exceed 10 years. The Compensation
Committee determined the vesting period for the stock options, which generally became exercisable over three to four years. Certain option awards in the
Option Plan provided for accelerated vesting upon meeting specific retirement, death or disability criteria.

Compensation expense was recorded on the selling, general and administrative expense line item in our Consolidated Statements of Operations on a
straight-line basis over the vesting periods.

A summary of our stock option activity during the periods ended September 29, 2018, and September 30, 2017, is as follows:

 Fiscal Year Ended

 September 29, 2018  September 30, 2017

 Shares

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price  Shares

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price

Stock options outstanding, beginning of period 6,000 $ 8.30  86,000 $ 8.30 
Stock options exercised — $ —  (80,000) $ 8.30 
Stock options forfeited (6,000) $ 8.30  — $ — 
Stock options outstanding, end of period — $ —  6,000 $ 8.30 
Stock options outstanding and exercisable, end of period — $ —  6,000 $ 8.30 

All remaining outstanding options expired during fiscal year 2018, and accordingly were forfeited. The total intrinsic value of options exercised during
fiscal year 2017 was $1.0 million. During fiscal year 2017, stock option exercises resulted in a reduction of deferred excess tax benefits by $0.1 million.

NOTE 14—BUSINESS SEGMENTS

During fiscal year 2018, we made a strategic decision to re-align our business into segments that better reflect our operating model and allow us to better
leverage and more efficiently manage our cost structure as we plan future growth. With this realignment, we changed and renamed our reportable segments
to reflect how our Chief Operating Decision maker and management currently make financial decisions and allocate resources. We are now reporting our
results under the Delta Group, comprising our Delta Activewear, DTG2Go and Soffe business units, and the Salt Life Group, comprising our Salt Life and
Coast business units. Junkfood was included in the Salt Life Group segment until its divestiture in March, 2017. We have recast the segment information for
the fiscal year ended September 30, 2017, to conform to the current presentation.

The Delta Group is comprised of our business units primarily focused on core activewear styles, and includes our Delta Activewear (which includes Delta
Catalog and FunTees), Soffe, and DTG2Go business units. We market, distribute and manufacture unembellished knit apparel under the main brands of
Soffe®, Delta Platinum, Delta Pro Weight®, and Delta Magnum Weight® for sale to a diversified audience ranging from large licensed screen printers to
small independent businesses. We also manufacture private label products for major branded sportswear companies, trendy regional brands, retailers, and
sports licensed apparel marketers. Typically, our private label products are sold with value-added services such as hangtags, ticketing, hangers, and
embellishment so that they are fully ready for retail. Using digital print equipment and its proprietary technology, DTG2Go embellishes garments to create
private label, custom decorated apparel servicing the fast-growing e-retailer channels, as well as the ad specialty, promotional products and retail
marketplaces.

The Salt Life Group is comprised of our lifestyle brands focused on a broad range of apparel garments, headwear and related accessories to meet consumer
preferences and fashion trends, and includes our Salt Life and Coast business units. These products are sold through specialty and boutique shops,
traditional department stores, and outdoor retailers, as well as direct-to-consumer through branded ecommerce sites and branded retail stores. Products in
this segment are marketed under our lifestyle brands of Salt Life® and COAST®, as well as other labels. Junkfood was included in this segment until its
divestiture in March, 2017.



Our Chief Operating Decision Maker and management evaluate performance and allocate resources based on profit or loss from operations before interest,
income taxes and special charges ("segment operating earnings"). Our segment operating earnings may not be comparable to similarly titled measures used
by other companies. The accounting policies of our reportable segments are the same as those described in Note 2. Intercompany transfers between
operating segments are transacted at cost and have been eliminated within the segment amounts shown in the following table (in thousands).

 Fiscal Year Ended

 September 29, 2018  September 30, 2017

Segment net sales:    
Delta Group $ 356,009  $ 326,575 
Salt Life Group 39,441  58,507 
Total net sales 395,450  385,082 
    

Segment operating income:    
Delta Group 26,091  23,251 
Salt Life Group 4,747  4,880 
Total segment operating income 30,838  28,131 
    
Purchases of property, plant and equipment:    
Delta Group 4,341  5,619 
Salt Life Group 917  1,281 
Corporate 511  185 
Total purchases of property, plant and equipment 5,769  7,085 
    
Depreciation and amortization:    
Delta Group 8,090  7,632 
Salt Life Group 1,456  1,568 
Corporate 442  409 
Total depreciation and amortization 9,988  9,609 
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The following reconciles the segment operating income to the consolidated income before provision for income taxes (in thousands):

 Fiscal Year Ended

 September 29, 2018  September 30, 2017

Segment operating income $ 30,838  $ 28,131 
Loss attributable to non-controlling interest 107  — 
Unallocated corporate expenses 13,328  11,952 
Unallocated interest expense 5,713  5,011 
Consolidated income before provision for income taxes $ 11,690  $ 11,168 

Our revenues include sales to domestic and foreign customers. Foreign customers are composed of companies whose headquarters are located outside of the
United States. Supplemental information regarding our revenues by geographic area based on the location of the customer is as follows (in thousands):

 Fiscal Year Ended

 September 29, 2018  September 30, 2017

United States $ 394,252  $ 383,672 
Foreign 1,198  1,410 
Total net sales $ 395,450  $ 385,082 

Our total assets and equity investment by segment are as follows (in thousands):

 As of

 September 29, 2018  September 30, 2017

Total assets by segment:    
Delta Group 283,811  247,910 
Salt Life Group 55,032  61,108 
Corporate 4,766  8,784 
Total assets 343,609  317,802 
    
Equity investment in joint venture:    
Delta Group 8,980  4,140 
Salt Life Group —  — 
Total equity investment in joint venture 8,980  4,140 

Our long-lived assets, excluding goodwill and intangible assets, consist of property, plant and equipment for all locations. We attribute our property, plant
and equipment to a particular country based on the location of the long-lived assets. Summarized financial information by geographic area is as follows (in
thousands):

 As of

 September 29, 2018  September 30, 2017

    

United States $ 30,768  $ 19,587 
    
Honduras 16,823  18,151 
El Salvador 3,476  3,853 
Mexico 1,047  1,115 
All foreign countries 21,346  23,119 
    
Total long-lived assets, excluding goodwill and intangibles $ 52,114  $ 42,706 
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NOTE 15—REPURCHASE OF COMMON STOCK

As of September 29, 2018, our Board of Directors had authorized management to use up to $60.0 million to repurchase stock in open market transactions
under our Stock Repurchase Program. During the September 2018 quarter, our Board of Directors approved management to repurchase an additional $10
million of the Company’s outstanding common stock, bringing the total amount authorized under the program to the above-referenced $60 million.

During fiscal years 2018 and 2017, we purchased 463,974 shares and 413,337 shares, respectively, of our common stock for a total cost of $9.0 million and
$7.8 million, respectively. As of September 29, 2018, we have purchased 3,357,461 shares of common stock for an aggregate of $47.7 million since the
inception of the Stock Repurchase Program. All purchases were made at the discretion of management and pursuant to the safe harbor provisions of SEC
Rule 10b-18. As of September 29, 2018, $12.3 million remained available for future purchases under our Stock Repurchase Program, which does not have
an expiration date. The following table summarizes the purchases of our common stock for the quarter ended September 29, 2018:

 

Period  
Total Number of Shares

Purchased  
Average Price Paid per

Share  

Total Number of Shares
Purchased as Part of
Publicly Announced

Plans  
Dollar Value of Shares that May Yet Be

Purchased Under the Plans

July 1 to August 4, 2018  12,925  $ 18.20  12,925   $5.4 million
August 5 to September 1, 2018  124,232  $ 18.48  124,332   $3.1 million
September 2 to September 29, 2018  43,459  $ 18.31  43,459   $12.3 million

Total  180,616  $ 18.42  180,716   $12.3 million

NOTE 16—COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

(a) Litigation
The Sports Authority Bankruptcy Litigation

Soffe is involved in several related litigation matters stemming from The Sports Authority's ("TSA") March 2, 2016, filing of a voluntary petition(s) for
relief under Chapter 11 of the United States Bankruptcy Code (the "TSA Bankruptcy"). Prior to such filing, Soffe provided TSA with products to be sold on
a consignment basis pursuant to a "pay by scan" agreement and the litigation matters relate to Soffe's interest in the products it provided TSA on a
consignment basis (the "Products") and the proceeds derived from the sale of such products (the "Proceeds").

TSA Stores, Inc. and related entities TSA Ponce, Inc. and TSA Caribe, Inc. filed an action against Soffe on March 16, 2016, in the United States
Bankruptcy Court for the District of Delaware (the "TSA Action") essentially seeking a declaratory judgment that: (i) Soffe does not own the Products but
rather has a security interest that is not perfected or senior and is avoidable; (ii) Soffe only has an unsecured claim against TSA; (iii) TSA and TSA's
secured creditors have valid, unavoidable and senior rights in the Products and the Products are the property of TSA’s estate; (iv) Soffe does not have a
perfected purchase money security interest in the Products; (v) Soffe is not entitled to a return of the Products; and (vi) TSA can continue to sell the
Products and Soffe is not entitled to any proceeds from such sales other than as an unsecured creditor. The TSA Action also contains claims seeking to
avoid Soffe's filing of a financing statement related to the Products as a preference and recover the value of that transfer as well as to disallow Soffe's claims
until it has returned preferential transfers or their associated value. TSA also brings a claim for a permanent injunction barring Soffe from taking certain
actions. We believe that many of the claims in the TSA Action, including TSA’s claim for injunction, are now moot as a result of Soffe’s agreement to
permit TSA to continue selling the Products in TSA’s going-out-of-business sale.

On May 16, 2016, TSA lender Wilmington Savings Fund Society, FSB, as Successor Administrative and Collateral Agent ("WSFS"), intervened in the TSA
Action seeking a declaratory judgment that: (i) WSFS has a perfected interest in the Products and Proceeds that is senior to Soffe's interest; and (ii) the
Proceeds paid to Soffe must be disgorged pursuant to an order previously issued by the court. WSFS's intervening complaint also contains a separate claim
seeking the disgorgement of all Proceeds paid to Soffe along with accrued and unpaid interest.

Soffe has asserted counterclaims against WSFS in the TSA Action essentially seeking a declaratory judgment that: (i) WSFS is not perfected in the
Products; and (ii) WSFS's interest in the Products is subordinate to Soffe's interest.

On May 24, 2016, Soffe joined an appeal filed by a number of TSA consignment vendors in the United States District Court for the District of Delaware
challenging an order issued in the TSA Bankruptcy that, should WSFS or TSA succeed in the TSA Action, granted TSA and/or WSFS a lien on all
Proceeds received by Soffe and requiring the automatic disgorgement of such Proceeds. Soffe and another entity are the remaining consignment vendors
pursuing this appeal.

Although we will continue to vigorously defend against the TSA Action and pursue the above-referenced counterclaims and appeal, should TSA and/or
WSFS ultimately prevail on their claims, we could be forced to disgorge all Proceeds received and forfeit our ownership
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rights in any Products that remain in TSA's possession. We believe the range of possible loss in this matter is currently$0 to $3.3 million; however, it is too
early to determine the probable outcome and, therefore, no amount has been accrued related to this matter.

In addition, at times we are party to various legal claims, actions and complaints. We believe that, as a result of legal defenses, insurance arrangements, and
indemnification provisions with parties believed to be financially capable, such actions should not have a material effect on our operations, financial
condition, or liquidity.

(b) Purchase Contracts

We have entered into agreements, and have fixed prices, to purchase yarn, finished fabric, and finished apparel and headwear products. At September 29,
2018, minimum payments under these contracts were as follows (in thousands):

Yarn $ 43,273 
Finished fabric 4,577 
Finished products 25,770 
 $ 73,620 

(c) Letters of Credit

As of September 29, 2018, we had outstanding standby letters of credit totaling $0.4 million.

(d) Derivatives and Contingent Consideration

From time to time we may use interest rate swaps or other instruments to manage our interest rate exposure and reduce the impact of future interest rate
changes. These financial instruments are not used for trading or speculative purposes. The following financial instruments were outstanding as of
September 29, 2018:

 Effective Date  
Notational
Amount  LIBOR Rate  Maturity Date

Interest Rate Swap July 19, 2017  $10 million  1.74%  July 19, 2019
Interest Rate Swap July 19, 2017  $10 million  1.99%  May 10, 2021
Interest Rate Swap July 25, 2018  $20 million  3.18%  July 25, 2023

From time to time, we may purchase cotton option contracts to economically hedge the risk related to market fluctuations in the cost of cotton used in our
operations. We do not receive hedge accounting treatment for these derivatives. As such, the realized and unrealized gains and losses associated with them
are recorded within cost of goods sold on the Consolidated Statement of Operations.

FASB Codification No. 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures (“ASC 820”), defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value
and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. Assets and liabilities measured at fair value are grouped in three levels. The levels prioritize the
inputs used to measure the fair value of the assets or liabilities. These levels are:

◦ Level 1 – Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

◦ Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for assets and liabilities, either directly or indirectly. These inputs include quoted

prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets and quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in market that are less active.

◦ Level 3 – Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity for assets or liabilities and includes certain pricing models,

discounted cash flow methodologies and similar techniques.
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The following financial liabilities are measured at fair value on a recurring basis (in thousands):

 Fair Value Measurements Using

Period Ended Total  

Quoted Prices in
Active Markets for

Identical Assets
(Level 1)  

Significant Other
Observable Inputs

(Level 2)  

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs
(Level 3)

Interest Rate Swap        
September 29, 2018 $ 183  —  $ 183  — 
September 30, 2017 $ (56)  —  $ (56)  — 
        

Cotton Options        
September 29, 2018 $ (110)  (110)  —  $ — 
September 30, 2017 $ (125)  (125)  —  $ — 
        

Contingent Consideration        
September 29, 2018 $ (10,542)  —  —  $ (10,542)
September 30, 2017 $ (1,600)  —  —  $ (1,600)

The fair value of the interest rate swap agreements were derived from discounted cash flow analysis based on the terms of the contract and the forward
interest rate curves adjusted for our credit risk, which fall in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. Fair values for debt are based on quoted market prices for
the same or similar issues or on the current rates offered to us for debt of the same remaining maturities (a Level 2 fair value measurement).

In August 2013, we acquired Salt Life and issued contingent consideration payable in cash after the end of calendar year 2019 if financial performance
targets involving the sale of Salt Life-branded products are met during the 2019 calendar year.  We used a Monte Carlo model which used the historical
results and projected cash flows based on the contractually defined terms, discounted as necessary, to estimate the fair value of the contingent consideration
for Salt Life at acquisition, as well as to remeasure the contingent consideration related to the acquisition of Salt Life at each reporting period.  Accordingly,
the fair value measurement for contingent consideration falls in Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. 

At September 29, 2018, we had $1.3 million accrued in contingent consideration related to the acquisition of Salt Life, a $0.3 million reduction from the
accrual at September 30, 2017. The reduction in the fair value of contingent consideration is based on the inputs into the Monte Carlo model, including the
time remaining in the measurement period. The sales expectations for calendar year 2019 have been reduced from the sales expectations used in the
valuation of contingent consideration at acquisition due to overall softness in the retail environment.

The DTG2Go acquisition (See Note 3—Acquisitions for further detail) purchase price consisted of additional payments contingent on the combined
business’s achievement of certain performance targets related to sales and earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization ("EBITDA") for the
period from April 1, 2018, through September 29, 2018, as well as for our fiscal years 2019, 2020, 2021 and 2022. The valuation of the fair value of the
contingent consideration is based upon inputs into the Monte Carlo model, including projected results, which then are discounted to a present value to
derive the fair value. The fair value of the contingent consideration is sensitive to changes in our projected results. At September 29, 2018, we had $9.2
million accrued as contingent consideration.

The following table summarizes the fair value and presentation in the Consolidated Balance Sheets for derivatives as of September 29, 2018, and
September 30, 2017.

 September 29, 2018  September 30, 2017

Other assets $ 182  $ — 
Deferred tax liabilities (46)  21 
Other liabilities —  (56)

Accumulated other comprehensive loss $ 136  $ (35)

NOTE 17—SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On October 8, 2018, DTG2Go acquired substantially all of the assets of Silk Screen Ink, Ltd. d/b/a SSI Digital Print Services, a leading provider of digital
print services, for $12.0 million. The acquisition of Silk Screen Ink, Ltd. further increases DTG2Go's digital capacity as well as enhancing DTG2Go's
strategic footprint. It is not practicable to estimate the financial impact of the acquisition and the initial accounting for the business combination is
incomplete as of the date the financial statements were issued.
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In conjunction with the acquisition of the Silk Screen Ink, Ltd. assets, Delta Apparel, Inc. and its wholly owned subsidiaries entered into a Consent and
Third Amendment to Fifth Amended and Restated Credit Agreement with Wells Fargo Bank, National Association (the "Third Amendment"). Pursuant to
the Third Amendment, the Lenders consented to DTG2Go's acquisition of substantially all of the assets of Silk Screen Ink, Ltd. The Third Amendment
also: (i) amends the existing loan agreement, including various definitions therein, to add a first-in last-out "FILO" borrowing component; and (ii) amends
the existing loan agreement, including various definitions therein, to address the potential unavailability or discontinuance of the use of LIBOR rates and
update certain provisions regarding compliance with denied party, sanctioned entity, anti-corruption and anti-money laundering and related laws and
regulations and other items.
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EMPLOYMENT AND NON-SOLICITATION AGREEMENT

 
THIS EMPLOYMENT AND NON-SOLICITATION AGREEMENT ("Agreement"), dated as of December 31, 2015, is by and between SALT LIFE, LLC, a

Georgia limited liability company ("Company"), and Jeffery N. Stillwell, a Georgia resident ("Executive").
 

WHEREAS, Executive and the Company want to enter into a written agreement providing for the terms of Executive's employment by the Company, such
agreement to replace and supersede that certain Employment and Non-Solicitation Agreement between Executive and the Company dated December 31, 2012
("Prior Agreement").

 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants set forth herein, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of

which are hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as follows:
 

1. Employment. Executive agrees to continue Executive's employment with the Company, and the Company agrees to employ Executive, on the terms and
conditions set forth in this Agreement. This Agreement shall replace and supersede the Prior Agreement, the term of which shall end upon the full execution of
this Agreement. Executive agrees during the term of this Agreement to devote substantially all of Executive's business time, efforts, skills and abilities to the
performance of Executive's duties to the Company and to the furtherance of the Company's business.

 
Executive's initial job title will be President and Executive's duties will be those as are determined by the Chief Executive Officer of the Company's parent

company or such other individual designated by the Company's Board of Managers.
 

2. Compensation.

 
(a)    Base Salary. During the term of Executive's employment with the Company pursuant to this Agreement, the Company shall pay to Executive as

compensation for Executive's services an annual base salary of not less than $250,000.00 ("Base Salary"). Executive's Base Salary will be payable in arrears in

accordance with the Company's normal payroll procedures and will be reviewed annually and subject to upward adjustment at the discretion of the Chief

Executive Officer of the Company's parent company or such other individual designated by the Company's Board of Managers. Nothing in this Agreement entitles

Executive to an annual base salary of more than the above  referenced Base Salary amount.

 
(b)    Incentive Bonus. During the term of Executive's employment with the Company pursuant to this Agreement, Executive shall be entitled to participate

in the Company's Short-Term Incentive Compensation Plan as in effect from time to time. Any cash compensation payable under this paragraph shall be referred

to as "Incentive Compensation" in this Agreement. The Company reserves the right to amend and/or terminate its Short-Term Incentive Compensation Plan and

nothing in this Agreement entitles Executive to any particular level of participation in the Company's Short-Term Incentive Compensation Plan.

 
(c)    Executive Fringe Benefits. During the term of Executive's employment with the Company pursuant to this Agreement, Executive shall be entitled to

receive such executive fringe benefits as are provided to the executives in comparable positions under any of the Company's plans and/or programs in effect from

time to time for which Executive is eligible to participate and to receive such other benefits as are customarily available to executives of the Company, including,

without limitation, vacations and life, medical and disability insurance.
 

(d)    Tax Withholding. The Company shall have the right to deduct from any compensation payable to Executive under this Agreement social
security (FICA) taxes and all federal, state, municipal, foreign or other taxes or charges as may now be in effect or that may hereafter be enacted or
required.

 
(e) Expense Reimbursements. The Company shall pay or reimburse Executive for all reasonable business expenses incurred or paid by Executive in

the course of performing Executive's duties hereunder, including, but not limited to, reasonable travel expenses for Executive. Such reimbursements will be
made no later than the last day of the year immediately following the year in which Executive incurs the reimbursable expense. The amount of reimbursable
expenses incurred in one taxable year shall not affect the expenses eligible for reimbursement in any other taxable year. No right to reimbursement is
subject to liquidation or exchange for other benefits. As a condition to such payment or reimbursement, however, Executive shall maintain and provide to
the Company reasonable documentation and receipts for such expenses.
 

3. Term. Unless sooner terminated pursuant to Section 4 of this Agreement, and subject to the provisions of Section 5 and 6 hereof, the term of this
Agreement (the "Term") shall commence as of the date hereof and shall continue until December 31, 2018.

 
4. Termination. Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 3 hereof, but subject to the provisions of Section 5 hereof, Executive's employment shall

terminate as follows:
 



(a)    Death. Executive's employment shall terminate upon the death of Executive; provided, however, that the Company shall continue to pay (in
accordance with its normal payroll procedures) the Base Salary to Executive's estate for a period of six (6) months after the date of Executive's death if
Executive is employed by the Company on date of Executive's death.

 
(b)    Termination for Cause. The Company may terminate Executive's employment at any time for "Cause" (as hereinafter defined) by delivering a

written termination notice to Executive. For purposes of this Agreement, "Cause" shall mean any of the following:
 

(i) fraud; (ii) embezzlement; (iii) Executive's commission of a felony; (iv) the willful or continued failure or refusal by Executive to perform and
discharge Executive's duties, responsibilities and obligations under this Agreement; (v) any act of moral turpitude or willful misconduct by Executive
intended to result in personal enrichment of Executive at the expense of the Company, or any of its affiliates or which has a material adverse impact on the
business or reputation of the Company or any of its affiliates (such determination to be made by the Chief Executive Officer of the Company's parent
company in his or her reasonable judgment); (vi) gross negligence or intentional misconduct resulting in damage to the property, reputation or business of
the Company; (vii) the ineligibility of Executive to perform Executive's duties because of a ruling, directive or other action by any agency of the United
States or any state of the United States having regulatory authority over the Company; or (viii) Executive's failure to correct or cure any material breach of
or default under this Agreement within ten (10) days after receiving written notice of such breach or default from the Company.

 
(c)    Termination Without Cause. The Company may terminate Executive's employment at any time for any or no reason by delivering a written

termination notice to Executive.
 

(d)    Termination by Executive. Executive may terminate Executive's employment at any time by delivering sixty (60) days prior written notice to
the Company; provided, however, that the terms, conditions and benefits specified in Section 5 hereof shall apply or be payable to Executive only if such
termination occurs as a result of a

 

material breach by the Company of any provision of this Agreement for which the Executive provides written notice to the Company within ninety (90)
days of the initial existence of the alleged material breach and which is not cured by the Company within thirty (30) days of Executive's notice to the
Company.

 
(e)    Termination Following Disability. In the event Executive becomes "disabled" (as defined below), the Company may terminate Executive's

employment by delivering a written termination notice to Executive. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Executive shall continue to receive Executive's full
Base Salary and benefits to which Executive is entitled under this Agreement for a period of six (6) months after the effective date of such termination.
For purposes of this section, the Executive shall be considered disabled if the Executive (i) is unable to engage in any substantial gainful activity by reason
of any medically determinable physical or mental impairment which can be expected to result in death or can be expected to last for a continuous period
of not less than 12 months, or (ii) is, by reason of any medically determinable physical or mental impairment which can be expected to result in death or
can be expected to last for a continuous period of not less than 12 months, receiving income replacement benefits for a period of not less than three (3)
months under the Company's disability insurance policy and/or salary continuation policy as in effect on the date of such disability.

 
(f) Reserved.

 
(g) Non-Disparagement. Executive agrees that during and following the termination of Executive's employment Executive will not publicly (or in a

manner Executive reasonably should have expected to be made public) disparage or otherwise make negative comments regarding the Company, its
employees or its affiliates, provided, however, that the foregoing hall in no way restrict the Executive from in good faith reporting any concerns that
Executive may have to (i) any authority within the Company designated to receive complaints or concerns from employees, including, without limitation,
the Company's Board of Directors or the equivalent thereto or a committee thereof, or (ii) any regulator or other governmental authority with supervisory
responsibility for the Company (including, without limitation, the Securities and Exchange Commission) or the Company's independent auditors.

 
5. Certain Termination Benefits. In the event that:

 
(i) the provisions of Section 6 do not apply;

 
(ii) either the Company terminates Executive's employment without Cause pursuant to Section 4(c) or Executive terminates Executive's

employment pursuant to Section 4(d) as a result of an uncured material breach by the Company of any provision of this Agreement; and
 

(iii) the Executive executes and delivers the release contemplated in Section (e) below, and any revocation period therein expires, on or before
the 30th day after the day after the date of Executive’s termination from employment, then in such case the Company will provide Executive the benefits
described in subsection (a) below and, if and to the extent that Executive is eligible to participate in such plans, subsections (b) through (c) below.

 



(a)    Base Salary and Incentive Compensation. The Company shall pay to Executive (i) Executive's Base Salary (as in effect as of the date of
Executive's termination) and (ii) Incentive Compensation (in an aggregate amount equal to the applicable portion of the cash Incentive Compensation
received by the Executive for the most recent fiscal year prior to Executive's termination) as follows:

 
 

Years of

Service with    Base    Payout

The Company    Salary    Incentive Compensation    Period
25% of the Short Term Incentive Plan award for the most

Less than one    3 months    recent full fiscal year prior to termination    3 months

 
One    but    less    50% of the Short Term Incentive Plan award for the most
than two    6 months    recent full fiscal year prior to termination    6 months

 
Two but    less    75% of the Short Term Incentive Plan award for the most
than three    9 months    recent full fiscal year prior to termination    9 months

 
 
 

Three or More

 
100% of the Short Term Incentive Plan award for the most

12 months    recent full fiscal year prior to termination    12 months
 

 

To the extent permitted under Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended ("Code"), and related Treasury Regulations, the sum of applicable
Base Salary and Incentive Compensation shall be divided into equal monthly payments and paid to the Executive over the applicable Payout Period shown in the
table above, depending on the Executive's years of service at the time of termination.

 
(b)    Life and Group Disability Insurance. If and to the extent that the Company's plans in effect from time to time permit such coverage and to the extent

permitted under Code Section 409A, the Company shall continue to provide Executive with group life and disability insurance coverage for applicable Payout

Period described above in

(a) following termination at coverage levels and rates equal to those applicable to Executive immediately prior to such termination or, if different, as provided
to other executive level employees during such applicable period.

 
(c)    Medical Insurance. Upon termination of employment, the Executive shall be entitled to all COBRA continuation benefits available under the

Company's group health plans to similarly situated employees. To the extent permitted under Code Section 409A, during the applicable Payout Period, the
Company shall provide such COBRA continuation benefits to the Executive at the active employee rates similarly situated employees must pay for such benefits.
Upon the expiration of such Payout Period, the Executive will be responsible for paying the full COBRA premiums for the remaining COBRA continuation
period.

 
(d)    Offset. To the extent permitted by COBRA and the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, as amended ("HIPAA"), any fringe

benefits received by Executive in connection with any other employment accepted by Executive that are reasonably comparable, even if not necessarily as
beneficial to Executive, to the fringe benefits then being provided by the Company pursuant to paragraphs (b) and (c) of this Section 5, shall be deemed to be the
equivalent of such benefits, and shall terminate the Company's responsibility to continue providing the fringe benefits package, taken as a whole, then being
provided by the Company pursuant to paragraphs (b) and
(c) of this Section 5. The Company agrees that if Executive's employment with the Company is terminated, Executive shall have no duty to mitigate damages.

 
(e)    General Release. Acceptance by Executive of any amounts pursuant to this Section 5 shall constitute a full and complete release by Executive of any

and all claims Executive may have against the Company, its officers, directors, employees or affiliates or its affiliates' officers, directors, or employees, including,
but not limited to,

 

claims Executive might have relating to Executive's employment with the Company and cessation thereof; provided, however, that there may properly be
excluded from the scope of such general release the following:

 
(i)    claims that Executive may have against the Company for reimbursement of ordinary and necessary business expenses incurred by Executive during

the course of Executive's employment;
 



(ii)    claims that may be made by the Executive for payment of Base Salary, bonuses, fringe benefits, stock upon vesting of incentive stock awards, stock
upon exercise of stock options properly due to Executive, or other amounts or benefits due to Executive under this Agreement;

 
(iii)    claims respecting any matters for which the Executive is entitled to be indemnified under the Company's Articles of Incorporation or By-laws or

applicable law, respecting third party claims asserted or third party litigation pending or threatened against the Executive; and
 

(iv) any claims prohibited by applicable law from being included in the release.

 
A condition to Executive's receipt of any amounts pursuant to this Section 5 shall be Executive's execution and delivery of a general release drafted by the
Company as described above, and the expiration of any revocation period therein, on or before the 3ou, day after the date of Executive's termination from
employment. In exchange for such release, the Company shall, if Executive's employment is terminated without Cause, provide a release to Executive, but only
with respect to claims against Executive that Executive identifies in writing to the Company at the time of such termination and as otherwise reasonably
acceptable to the Company.

 
6. Effect of Change of Control.

 
(a)    If within one (1) year following a "Change of Control" (as hereinafter defined), Executive terminates Executive's employment with the Company for

"Good Reason" (as hereinafter defined) or the Company terminates Executive's employment for any reason other than Cause, death or disability (as defined in

Section 4(e)), the Company shall pay to Executive in a lump sum within thirty (30) days following Executive's termination of employment: (i) an amount equal to

one times the Executive's Base Salary as of the date of termination; and (ii) an amount equal to the cash Incentive Compensation received by the Executive for the

most recent fiscal year prior to Executive's termination. In addition, the Company shall provide the Executive with out-placement assistance. In addition, to the

extent permitted under the terms of the various plans, the Company shall continue to provide the Executive with coverage under the Company's various welfare

and benefit plans, including retirement and group healthcare, dental and life in which Executive participates at the time of termination, for the period equal to

twelve (l2) months from the date of termination at coverage levels and rates substantially equal to those applicable to Executive immediately prior to such

termination. A condition to Executive's receipt of any amounts pursuant to this Section 6(a) shall be Executive's execution and delivery of a general release as

described in Section 5(e) above, and the expiration of any revocation period therein, on or before the 30,1o day after the date of Executive's termination from

employment.

 
(b)    "Change of Control" means, with respect to the Executive, a "change in ownership," a "change in effective control," or a "change in the ownership of

substantial assets" of a corporation as described in Treasury Regulations Section 1.409A-3(g)(5) (which events are collectively referred to herein as "Change of

Control events") after the date of this Agreement. To constitute a Change of Control with respect to the Executive, the Change of Control event must relate to a

change in control of Delta Apparel, Inc.
 

(i)    A "change in ownership" of a corporation occurs on the date that any one person, or more than one person acting as a group, acquires ownership of

stock of the corporation that, together with stock held by such person or group, constitutes more than 50 percent of the total fair market value or total voting power

of the stock of such corporation. However, if any one person, or more than one person acting as a group, is considered to own more than 50 percent of the total fair

market value or total voting power of the stock of a corporation, the acquisition of additional stock by the same person or persons is not considered to cause a

change in ownership of the corporation (or to cause a change in the effective control of the corporation (within the meaning of paragraph (ii) below)).

 
(ii)    Notwithstanding that a corporation has not undergone a change in ownership under paragraph (i) above, a "change in effective control" of a

corporation occurs on the date that either:

 
(a)    Any one person, or more than one person acting as a group, acquires (or has acquired during the 12- month period ending on the date of the most

recent acquisition by such person or persons) ownership of stock of the corporation possessing 35 percent or more of the total voting power of the stock of such
corporation; or

 
(b)    A majority of members of the corporation's board of directors is replaced during any 12-month period by directors whose appointment or election is

not endorsed by a majority of the members of the corporation's board of directors prior to the date of the appointment or election.

 
For purposes of this paragraph (ii), the term corporation refers solely to the relevant corporation identified in the opening paragraph of this Section 6(b) for which
no other corporation is a majority shareholder.

 
(c)    "Good Reason" shall mean any of the following actions taken by the Company without the Executive's written consent after a Change of Control:

 



(i)    the assignment to the Executive by the Company of duties inconsistent with, or the reduction of the powers and functions associated with, the

Executive's position, duties, and responsibilities immediately prior to a Change of Control or Potential Change of Control (as defined below), or an adverse change

in Executive's titles or offices as in effect immediately prior to a Change of Control or Potential Change of Control, or any removal of the Executive from or any

failure to re-elect Executive to any of such positions, except in connection with the termination of Executive's employment for disability (as provided in Section

4(e)) or Cause or as a result of Executive's death, except to the extent that a change in duties relates to the elimination of responsibilities attendant to the Company

or its parent company, as applicable, no longer being a publicly traded company;

 
(ii)    a reduction by the Company in the Executive's Base Salary as in effect on the date of a Change of Control or Potential Change of Control, or as the

same may be increased from time to time during the term of this Agreement;

 
(iii)    the Company shall require the Executive to be based anywhere other than at or within a 25-mile radius of the Company's principal executive

offices or the location where the Executive is based on the date of a Change of Control or Potential Change of Control, or if Executive agrees to such relocation,

the Company fails to reimburse the Executive for moving and all other expenses reasonably incurred in connection with such move;

 
(iv) a significant increase in Executive's required travel on behalf of the Company;

 
(v)    the Company shall fail to continue in effect any Company-sponsored plan or benefit that is in effect on the date of a Change of Control or Potential

Change of Control (other than the Company's Incentive Stock Award
 

Plan or the Company's stock option plan) and pursuant to which Executive has received awards or benefits and that provides (A) incentive or bonus
compensation, (B) fringe benefits such as vacation, medical benefits, life insurance and accident insurance, (C) reimbursement for reasonable expenses
incurred by the Executive in connection with the performance of duties with the Company, or (D) retirement benefits such as an Internal Revenue Code
Section 401(k) plan, except to the extent that such plans taken as a whole are replaced with substantially comparable plans;

 
(vi)    any material breach by the Company of any provision of this Agreement for which the Executive provides written notice to the Company

within ninety (90) days of the initial existence of the alleged material breach and which is not cured by the Company within thirty (30) days of Executive's
notice to the Company; and

 
(vii)    any failure by the Company to obtain the assumption of this Agreement by any successor or assign of the Company effected in accordance

with the provisions of Section 13.
 

(d)    "Potential Change of Control" shall mean the date, which must be within twelve (12) months preceding a Change of Control, as of which (i)
the Company enters into an agreement the consummation of which, or the approval by shareholders of which, would constitute a Change of Control; (ii)
proxies for the election of directors of the Board of Directors of the Company or the equivalent thereto are solicited by anyone other than the Company
which solicitation, if successful, would result in a Change of Control; (iii) any person (including, but not limited to, any individual, partnership, joint
venture, corporation, association or trust) publicly announces an intention to take or to consider taking actions which, if consummated, would constitute a
Change of Control; or (iv) any other event occurs which is deemed to be a Potential Change of Control by the Board of Directors of the Company or the
equivalent thereto and the Board adopts a resolution to the effect that a Potential Change of Control has occurred.

 
(e)    In the event that (i) Executive would otherwise be entitled to the compensation and benefits described in Section 5 or 6(a) hereof

("Compensation Payments"), and (ii) the Company determines, based upon the advice of tax counsel, that, as a result of such Compensation Payments and
any other benefits or payments required to be taken into account under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"), Section 2800(b)(2)
(collectively, "Parachute Payments"), any of such Parachute Payments would be reportable by the Company as an "excess parachute payment" under Code
Section 2800, such Compensation Payments shall be reduced to the extent necessary to cause the aggregate present value (determined in accordance with
Code Section 2800 and applicable regulations promulgated thereunder) of the Executive's Parachute Payments to equal 2.99 times the "base amount" as
defined in Code Section 2800(b)(3) with respect to such Executive. However, such reduction in the Compensation Payments shall be made only if, in the
opinion of such tax counsel, it would result in a larger Parachute Payment to the Executive than payment of the unreduced Parachute Payments after
deduction in each case of tax imposed on and payable by the Executive under Section 4999 of the Code ("Excise Tax"). The value of any non-cash benefits
or any deferred payment or benefit for purposes of this paragraph shall be determined by a firm of independent auditors selected by the Company.

 
(f) The parties hereto agree that the payments provided under Section 6(a) above are reasonable compensation in light of Executive's services

rendered to the Company and that neither party shall assert that the payment of such benefits constitutes an "excess parachute payment" within the
meaning of Section 2800(b)(l) of the Code.

 



(g) Unless the Company determines that any Parachute Payments made hereunder must be reported as "excess parachute payments" in accordance
with Section 6(e) above, neither party shall file any return taking the position that the payment of such benefits constitutes an "excess parachute payment"
within the meaning of Section 2800(b)(l) of the Code.

 

7. Non-Competition. During the Term and for a period of four months from the earlier of the expiration of the Term or the termination of Executive's
employment with the Company pursuant to Sections 4(b), 4(c), 4(d), 4(e) or 6 herein or for any other reason that results in the Executive being entitled to
the benefits described in Section 5, Executive will not, directly or indirectly, compete with the Company by providing to any company that is in a
"Competing Business" services substantially similar to the services provided by Executive at the time of termination. Competing Business shall be defined
as any business that engages, in whole or in part, in the manufacturing or marketing of activewear apparel in the United States of America (the "Restricted
Territory"), and Executive's employment function or affiliation is directly or indirectly in such business of activewear apparel manufacturing or marketing.

 
8. Non-Solicitation. During the Term and for a period of one year from the earlier of the expiration of the Term or the termination of Executive's

employment with the Company for any reason whatsoever, Executive shall not, on Executive's own behalf or on behalf of any other person, partnership,
association, corporation, or other entity,
(a) solicit or in any manner attempt to influence or induce any employee of the Company or its subsidiaries or affiliates (known by the Executive to be
such) to leave the employment of the Company or its subsidiaries or affiliates (other than through general advertisements not directed at any particular
employee or group of employees), nor shall Executive use or disclose to any person, partnership, association, corporation or other entity any information
obtained while an employee of the Company concerning the names and addresses of the Company's employees, or (b) solicit, entice or induce any
customer or supplier of the Company at the time of such expiration or termination with whom Executive had direct or indirect contact during Executive's
employment with the Company (or any actively sought customer or supplier of the Company at the time of such expiration or termination with whom
Executive had direct or indirect contact during Executive's employment with the Company) for or on behalf of any Competing Business in the Restricted
Territory.

 
9. Non-Disclosure of Trade Secrets. During and prior to the Term of this Agreement, Executive has had access to and became familiar with and will

have access to and become familiar with various trade secrets and proprietary and confidential information of the Company and its affiliates, including,
but not limited to, processes, computer programs, compilations of information, records, sales procedures, customer requirements, pricing techniques,
customer lists, methods of doing business and other confidential information (collectively, referred to as "Trade Secrets") which are owned by the
Company and/or its affiliates and regularly used in the operation of its or their business, and as to which the Company and/or its affiliates take precautions
to prevent dissemination to persons other than certain directors, officers and employees. Executive acknowledges and agrees that the Trade Secrets
(1)    are secret and not known in the industry; (2) give the Company and/or its affiliates an advantage over competitors who do not know or use the Trade
Secrets; (3) are of such value and nature as to make it reasonable and necessary to protect and preserve the confidentiality and secrecy of the Trade
Secrets; and (4) are valuable, special and unique assets of the Company and/or its affiliates, the disclosure of which could cause substantial injury and loss
of profits and goodwill to the Company and/or its affiliates. Executive may not use in any way or disclose any of the Trade Secrets, directly or indirectly,
either during the Term or at any time after the expiration of the Term or the termination of Executive's employment with the Company for any reason
whatsoever, except as required in the course of Executive's employment under this Agreement, as required in connection with a judicial or administrative
proceeding, or if the information becomes public knowledge other than as a result of an unauthorized disclosure by the Executive. All files, records,
documents, information, data and similar items relating to the business of the Company and/or its affiliates, whether prepared by Executive or otherwise
coming into Executive's possession, will remain the exclusive property of the Company and/or its affiliates (as the case may be) and may not be removed
from the premises of the Company under any circumstances without the prior written consent of the Board of Directors of the Company or the equivalent
thereto and/or its affiliates (as the case may be) (except in the ordinary course of business during Executive's period of active employment under this
Agreement), and in any event must be

 

promptly delivered to the Chief Executive Officer of the Company's parent company upon termination of Executive's employment with the Company. Executive
agrees that upon Executive's receipt of any subpoena, process or other request to produce or divulge, directly or indirectly, any Trade Secrets to any entity, agency,
tribunal or person, Executive shall timely notify and promptly hand deliver a copy of the subpoena, process or other request to the Board of Directors of the
Company or the equivalent thereto. For this purpose, Executive irrevocably nominates and appoints the Company (including any attorney retained by the
Company), as Executive's true and lawful attorney-in-fact, to act in Executive's name, place and stead to perform any act that Executive might perform to defend
and protect against any disclosure of any Trade Secrets. The rights granted to the Company and/or its affiliates in this Section 9 are intended to be in addition to
and not in replacement of any protection of trade secrets provided by equity, any statute, judicially created law or other agreement. Executive agrees that the
foregoing shall in no way restrict the Executive from communicating with or providing information to any regulator or other governmental authority with
supervisory responsibility for the Company (including, without limitation, the Securities and Exchange Commission) pursuant to a valid subpoena, process or
other request.

 
10. Remedies. In the event that Executive violates any of the provisions of Sections 7, 8 or 9 hereof (the "Protective Covenants") or fails to provide the notice

required by Section 4(d) hereof, in addition to any other remedy that may be available at law, in equity or hereunder, the Company shall be entitled to receive from
Executive the profits, if any, received by Executive upon exercise of any Company granted stock options or incentive stock awards or upon lapse of the
restrictions on any grant of restricted stock to the extent such options or rights were exercised, or such restrictions lapsed, subsequent to the commencement of the
six-month period prior to the termination of Executive's employment. In addition, Executive acknowledges and agrees that any breach of a Protective Covenant by



Executive will cause irreparable damage to the Company and/or its affiliates, the exact amount of which will be difficult to determine, and that the remedies at law
for any such breach will be inadequate. Accordingly, Executive agrees that, in addition to any other remedy that may be available at law, in equity or hereunder,
the Company, and/or its affiliates shall be entitled to specific performance and injunctive relief, without posting bond or other security, to enforce or prevent any
violation of any of the Protective Covenants by Executive.

 
11. Severability. The parties hereto intend all provisions of this Agreement to be enforced to the fullest extent permitted by law. The provisions of this

Agreement are severable. The covenants on the part of the Executive contained in the Protective Covenants shall be construed as independent covenants and
agreements of the Executive, independently supported by good and adequate consideration, shall be construed independently of the other provisions in this
Agreement and shall survive this Agreement. The existence of any claim or cause of action of Executive against the Company or any of its affiliates, whether
predicated on this Agreement or otherwise, shall not constitute a defense to the enforcement by the Company or its affiliates of the covenants of Executive
contained in this Agreement. The parties in no way intend to include a provision that contravenes public policy. Therefore, if any of the provisions, clauses,
sentences, or paragraphs, or portions ("provisions") of this Agreement is unlawful, against public policy, or otherwise declared void or unenforceable by a court of
competent jurisdiction ("Court"), such provision shall be deemed excluded from this Agreement, which shall in all other respects remain in effect. Furthermore, in
lieu of such illegal, invalid or unenforceable provision, there shall be added as part of this Agreement a provision as similar in its terms to such illegal, invalid or
unenforceable provision as may be possible and be legal, valid and enforceable. If any Court should construe any portion of this Agreement to be too broad to
prevent enforcement to its fullest extent then such portion shall be enforced to the maximum extent that the Court finds reasonable and enforceable.

 
12. Compliance With Section 409A. To the extent a payment hereunder is, or shall become, subject to the application of Section 409A of the Code and

related Treasury Regulations, the following shall apply:
 

(a)    This Agreement is intended to comply with the requirements of Section 409A and the Treasury Regulations and other guidance issued
thereunder, as in effect from time to time, and to avoid any additional tax thereunder. To the extent a provision of this Agreement is contrary to or fails to
address the requirements of Code Section 409A and related Treasury Regulations, this Agreement shall be construed and administered as necessary to
comply with such requirements to the extent allowed under applicable Jaw and this Agreement is appropriately amended to comply with such
requirements.

 
(b)    The time or schedule of payment hereunder may be accelerated or delayed only upon such events and conditions as the IRS may permit in

generally applicable published regulatory or other guidance under Code Section 409A.
 

(c)     For purposes of this Agreement, all references to "termination of employment" or similar phrases shall be construed to require a "separation
from service" (as defined in Treasury Regulation Section l .409A-l (h)).

 
(d)     To the extent compliance with the requirements of Treasury Regulation Section l.409A-3(i)(2) (or any successor provision) is necessary to

avoid the application of an additional tax under Code Section 409A to payments due to Executive upon Executive's separation from service at a time when
Executive is determined to be a "specified employee" under Treasury Regulation Section l.409A-l(i) and any stock of the Company or any of its affiliates
or related entities is publicly traded on an established securities market or otherwise, then notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, any such
payments that are otherwise due within six (6) months following Executive's separation from service will be deferred without interest and paid to
Executive in a lump sum immediately following that six (6) month period.

 
(e)    Neither the Company nor its affiliates, subsidiaries or related entities, nor any of the Company's or such entities' directors, officers or agents will

be liable to Executive or anyone else if the Internal Revenue Service or any court or other authority determines that any payments or benefits to be
provided under this Agreement are subject to taxes, penalties or interest as a result of failing to comply with or be exempt from Section 409A.

 
13.Miscellaneous.

 
(a)    Notices. Any notices, consents, demands, requests, approvals and other communications to be given under this Agreement by either party to the

other must be in writing and must be either (i) personally delivered, (ii) mailed by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid with return receipt
requested, (iii) delivered by reputable overnight express delivery service or reputable same-day local courier service, or (iv) delivered by telex or facsimile
transmission, with confirmed receipt, to the address set forth below, or to such other address as may be designated by the parties from time to time in
accordance with this Section 13(a):

 
If to the Company: Delta Apparel, Inc. 322 South Main Street Greenville, SC 2960 I
Attention: General Counsel Fax No.: 864 232 5199

 
If to Executive:
5785 Exeter Court



Columbus, GA 31904
 
 

Notices delivered personally or by overnight express delivery service or by local courier service are deemed given as of actual receipt. Mailed
notices are deemed given three (3) business days after mailing. Notices delivered by telex or facsimile transmission are deemed given upon receipt by the
sender of the answer back (in the case of a telex) or transmission confirmation (in the case of a facsimile transmission).

 
(b)    Entire Agreement. This Agreement supersedes any and all other agreements, either oral or written, between the parties with respect to the

subject matter of this Agreement and contains all of the covenants and agreements between the parties with respect to the subject matter of this
Agreement.

 
(c)    Modification. No change or modification of this Agreement is valid or binding upon the parties, nor will any waiver, termination or discharge

of any term or condition of this Agreement be so binding, unless confirmed in writing and signed by the parties to this Agreement.
 

(d)    Governing Law and Venue. The parties acknowledge and agree that this Agreement and the obligations and undertakings of the parties under
this Agreement will be performable in Georgia. This Agreement is governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of Georgia
without giving consideration to the conflict of laws provisions thereof. Subject to the terms of Section 14, below, if any action is brought to enforce or
interpret this Agreement, the parties consent to the jurisdiction and venue of the Federal District Court for the Northern District of Georgia and any state
or superior court located in Fulton or Gwinnett Counties, Georgia.

 
(e)    Enforcement. Executive agrees that upon Executive's violation or threatened violation of any of the provisions of this Agreement, the

Company shall, in addition to any other rights and remedies available to it, at law, in equity, or otherwise, be entitled to specific performance and

injunctive relief including, without limitation, an injunction to be issued by any court of competent jurisdiction enjoining and restraining Executive from
committing any violation or threatened violation of the provisions of this Agreement and Executive consents to the issuance of such injunction without the
necessity of bond or other security in the event of a breach or threatened breach by Executive of this Agreement. Furthermore and notwithstanding
anything to the contrary in this Agreement, the Company shall, in addition to any other rights or remedies available to it, at law, in equity, or otherwise, be
entitled to reimbursement of court costs, reasonable attorneys' fees, and any other expenses reasonably incurred by it or its affiliates as a result of a breach
or threatened breach of this agreement by Executive.

 
(f)    Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which will be deemed to be an original copy of this

Agreement, and all of which, when taken together, shall be deemed to constitute one and the same agreement. The exchange of copies of this Agreement
and of signature pages by facsimile transmission shall constitute effective execution and delivery of this Agreement as to the parties and may be used in
lieu of the original agreement for all purposes. Signatures of the parties transmitted by facsimile shall be deemed to be their original signatures for any
purpose whatsoever.

 
(g)    Costs. Except as provided in Section 13(e) above or except as provided below, if any action at law or in equity is necessary to enforce or

interpret the terms of this Agreement, each party shall bear its own costs and expenses (including, without limitation, attorneys' fees); provided, however,
that in the event Executive incurs costs or expenses in connection with successfully enforcing this Agreement following a Change of Control, the
Company shall reimburse the Executive for all such reasonable costs and expenses (including, without limitation, attorneys' fees).

 

(h)    Estate. If Executive dies prior to the expiration of the term of employment or during a period when monies are owing to Executive, any monies that

may be due Executive from the Company under this Agreement as of the date of Executive's death shall be paid to Executive's estate as and when otherwise

payable.

 
(i)    Assignment. The rights, duties and benefits to Executive hereunder are personal to Executive, and no such right, duty or benefit may be assigned by

Executive without the prior written consent of the Company. The rights and obligations of the Company shall inure to the benefit and be binding upon it and its

successors and assigns, which assignment shall not require the consent of Executive.
 

(j) Binding Effect. This Agreement is binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of the parties hereto, their respective executors, administrators, successors,

personal representatives, heirs and assigns permitted under subsection 13(i) above.

 
(k) Third-Party Beneficiaries. Nothing in this Agreement, express or implied, is intended to or shall confer upon any other person or entity (other than

affiliates of the Company as provided herein) any rights, benefits or remedies of any nature whatsoever under or by reason of this Agreement.

 



(l) Waiver of Breach. The waiver by the Company or Executive of a breach of any provision of this Agreement by Executive or the Company may not
operate or be construed as a waiver of any subsequent breach.

 
(m) Construction. The parties agree that this Agreement was freely negotiated among the parties and that Executive has had the opportunity to consult

with an attorney in negotiating its terms. Accordingly, the parties agree that this Agreement shall not be construed in favor of any party or against any party. The
parties further agree that the headings and subheadings are for convenience of the parties only and shall not be given effect in the construction of this Agreement.

 
14. Arbitration. Any claim, dispute or controversy arising under this Agreement will be subject to arbitration, and before commencing any court action, the

parties agree that they will arbitrate all such claims, disputes and controversies and such arbitration will occur in Atlanta, Georgia according to the National Rules
for the Resolution of Employment Disputes of the American Arbitration Association and the Federal Arbitration Act, 9 U.S.C. §1, et seq. The arbitrators will be
authorized to award both liquidated and actual damages as well as injunctive relief, but no punitive damages. The arbitrator's award will be binding and conclusive
upon the parties, subject to 9 U.S.C. §10. Each party has the right to have the award made the judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction.

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement as of the date first above written.

 
 
By:    /s/ Robert W. Humphreys
Name:    Robert W. Humphreys
Title:    Manager
 
 
 
“Executive”
By:    /s/ Jeffery N. Stillwell
Name:    Jeffery N. Stillwell
Title:    President

 



 
 

EXHIBIT 21
 

SUBSIDIARIES OF DELTA APPAREL, INC.
                

Listed below are the subsidiaries of Delta Apparel, Inc.:
 
(1) M. J. Soffe, LLC, a North Carolina limited liability company.
 
(2) Culver City Clothing Company, a Georgia corporation.
 
(3) Salt Life, LLC, a Georgia limited liability company.

 
(4) Salt Life Beverage Management, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company.

 
(5) Salt Life Beverage, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company
 
(6) DTG2Go, LLC, a Georgia limited liability company.
 
(7) Delta Apparel Honduras, S.A., a Honduran sociedad anónima.
 
(6) Delta Campeche, S.A. de C.V., a Mexican sociedad anónima de capital variable.

    
(7) Delta Cortes, S.A., a Honduran sociedad anónima.
 
(8) Campeche Sportswear, S. de R.L. de C.V., a Mexican sociedad de responsabilidad limitada de capital variable.

    
(9) Textiles La Paz, LLC, a North Carolina limited liability company.
 
(10)    Ceiba Textiles, S. de R.L., a Honduran sociedad de responsabilidad limitada.
 
(11)     Atled Holding Company Honduras, S. de R.L., a Honduran sociedad de responsabilidad limitada.
 
(12)    La Paz Honduras, S. de R.L., a Honduran sociedad de responsabilidad limitada.
 
 
 

 



 
Exhibit 23.1

 
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

 
 
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the following Registration Statements:
 
(1) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-61190) pertaining to the Delta Apparel, Inc. 2000 Stock Option Plan and Delta Apparel, Inc.
Incentive Stock Award Plan, and
 
(2) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-172018) pertaining to the Delta Apparel, Inc. 2010 Stock Plan
 
(3) Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-214783) of Delta Apparel, Inc.
 
of our reports dated November 19, 2018, with respect to the consolidated financial statements of Delta Apparel, Inc. and subsidiaries and the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting of Delta Apparel, Inc. and subsidiaries, included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K)
of Delta Apparel, Inc. and subsidiaries for the year ended September 29, 2018.
 

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
 
Atlanta, Georgia
November 19, 2018
 
 
 
 



 
 

EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a) OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS AMENDED, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE

SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Robert W. Humphreys, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Delta Apparel, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control
over financial reporting.

 

Date: November 19, 2018 /s/ Robert W. Humphreys  
  Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 
 

 



 
 

EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a) OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS AMENDED, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE

SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Deborah H. Merrill, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Delta Apparel, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control
over financial reporting.

 

Date: November 19, 2018
/s/ Deborah H. Merrill
 

  Chief Financial Officer and President, Delta Group

 

 
 

 



 
 

EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

For purposes of 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, Robert W. Humphreys, the Chief
Executive Officer of Delta Apparel, Inc. (the “Company”), hereby certifies that to the best of his knowledge:

1. The Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended September 29, 2018, of the Company, as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
 

Date: November 19, 2018  
   

  /s/ Robert W. Humphreys  
  Robert W. Humphreys 
  Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 

 
A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to Delta Apparel, Inc. and will be retained by Delta Apparel, Inc. and
furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.
 

 



 
 

EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

For purposes of 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, Deborah H. Merrill, the Chief Financial
Officer of Delta Apparel, Inc. (the “Company”), hereby certifies that to the best of her knowledge:

1. The Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended September 29, 2018, of the Company, as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
 

Date: November 19, 2018  
   

  
/s/ Deborah H. Merrill
 

  Deborah H. Merrill
  Chief Financial Officer and President, Delta Group

 
A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to Delta Apparel, Inc. and will be retained by Delta Apparel, Inc. and
furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.
 
 

 


